
 

763.479.0527                                                  1920 County Road 90                                          Fax: 763.479.0528 
                                                                       Independence, MN 55359 
                                                                    www.ci.independence.mn.us 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA          
TUESDAY SEPTEMBER 19, 2023 
 
6:30 PM REGULAR MEETING 
 
1. Call to Order 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 

 
3. Roll Call 

 
4. ****Consent Agenda**** 
All items listed under Consent Agenda are considered to be routine by Council and will be acted 
on by one motion.  There will be no separate discussion of these items. If discussion is desired, 
that item will be removed from the Consent Agenda and will be considered separately.  
 

a. Approval of City Council Minutes from the August 29, 2023, Regular City Council 
Meeting. 

b. Approval of Accounts Payable (Batch # 1; Checks Numbered 22283-22295, Batch # 
2; Checks Numbered 22296-22315). 

c. Approve Annual Contribution to Delano Senior Center for Services Provided to 
Independence Residents.  
 

5. Set Agenda – Anyone Not on the Agenda can be Placed Under Open/Misc.  
 

6. Reports of Boards and Committees by Council and Staff. 
 

7. West Hennepin Public Safety Monthly Report for August 2023 – Chief Gary Kroells. 
 
8. Consider Approval of the 2024 Preliminary Budget and Tax Levy: 
 

a. RESOLUTION NO. 23-0919-01 – Establishing the General and Debt Service 
Preliminary Tax Levy and Setting a Date for the 2023 Truth in Taxation Meeting for 
December 5, 2023, at 6:00 PM. 

 
b. RESOLUTION NO. 23-0919-02 – Establishing the Pioneer Sarah Creek Watershed 

Management Commission Preliminary Tax Levy. 
 

9. Jon Dailing/Windsong Farm Golf Club (Applicant) and David Meyer (Owner) are 
requesting the following action for the properties generally located at 18 Golf Walk and 
550 CSAH 92 N. (PID No.s 32-118- 24-13-0001, 32-118-24-42-0001, 32-118-24-24-
0001, 32-118-24-31-0002, 32-118-24-42-0030, 32-118-24-43-0002, 32-118-24-42-0031, 
32-118-24-42-0029, 32-118-24-42-0025, 32-118-24-42-0036, 32-118-24-34-0001 and 
32-118-24-31-0001) in the City of Independence, MN: 
 

a. RESOLUTION NO. 23-0919-05 – Considering approval of a conditional use 
permit amendment to allow the modification and expansion of the main club 
house building associated with the golf course. 



 

 
10. Consider Final Adoption of the 2040 Comprehensive Plan Following Approval by the 

Metropolitan Council: 
 

a. RESOLUTION NO. 23-0919-03 – Adopting the 2040 Comprehensive Plan.  
 

11. Approve Change in Fire Department Service Area Boundaries. 
 

a. Approve Letter to the City of Delano Notifying of City’s Intent to Not Renew the 
Contract for Fire Service. 

 
12. Consider Nomination of Minnehaha Creek Watershed District Representative, Sherry White. 

 
a. RESOLUTION NO. 23-0919-04 – Considering Appointment to the Board of 

Managers of the Minnehaha Creek Watershed District.  
 
13. Set Date and Time for New Neighborhood Ribbon Cutting; BridgeVine and Koch Farm 

Sanctuary. 
 

14. Open/Misc. 
 

15. Adjourn. 



 

763.479.0527                                                  1920 County Road 90                                          Fax: 763.479.0528 
                                                                       Independence, MN 55359 
                                                                    www.ci.independence.mn.us 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA          
TUESDAY AUGUST 29, 2023 
 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING TIME: 6:30 PM 
 

1. Call to Order 
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 

3. Roll Call 
 

PRESENT: Mayor Johnson and Councilors Betts, Grotting and McCoy 
ABSENT: Councilor Spencer 
STAFF:  City Administrator Kaltsas and City Administrative Director Simon 
VISITORS: WHPS Chief Kroells, Andrew Grice  
see attendance sign-in sheet  

 
 

4. ****Consent Agenda**** 
All items listed under Consent Agenda are considered to be routine by Council and will be acted 
on by one motion.  There will be no separate discussion of these items. If discussion is desired, 
that item will be removed from the Consent Agenda and will be considered separately. 
 

a. Approval of City Council Minutes from the August 1, 2023, Regular City Council 
Meeting. 

b. Approval of Accounts Payable (Batch # 1; Checks Numbered 22215-22229, Batch # 
2; Checks Numbered 22230-22241, Batch # 3; Checks Numbered 22242-22254 and 
Batch # 4; Checks Numbered 22255-22269). 

c. Large Assembly Permits: 
i. 7888 County Road 6 - September 7-9, 2023. 

ii. 4505 County Road 92 N. – September 30, 2023 
iii. 2752 Copeland Road – September 2, 2023 and September 9, 2023 

d. Temporary Liquor License: Horseman Stables (4505 County Road 92 N.) 
e. Agriculture Preserve Application: 

i. PID No. 36-118-24-34-0001 
ii. PID No. 36-118-24-13-0001 

 
Motion by Grotting, seconded by McCoy to approve the Consent Agenda. Ayes: 
Johnson, McCoy, Grotting and Betts. Nays: None. Absent: Spencer. Abstain. None.  
MOTION DECLARED CARRIED. 4-0 

 
 

5. Set Agenda – Anyone Not on the Agenda can be Placed Under Open/Misc.  
 



 

6. Reports of Boards and Committees by Council and Staff. 
 
Betts attended the following meetings: 
• Night to Unite – 3 Parties 
 
Grotting attended the following meetings: 
• Night to Unite – 1 Party 

 
Spencer attended the following meetings: 
• Night to Unite – 4 Parties 
• Lake Minnetonka Cable Commission Exec Committee Meeting 
• Copeland Rd Open House 
• Lake Minnetonka Cable Commission Committee Meeting 

 
McCoy attended the following meetings: 
• Budget Workshop 
• Bob Steffl Funeral 
• Upcoming Sept 7th upcoming event WHPS vs MP Fire Dept softball game 

 
Johnson attended the following meetings:  
• Night to Unite – 4 Parties 
• Hwy 55 Exec Committee Zoom Meeting 
• MP Historical Library Fundraiser 
• Met with Matt Crawford – Haven Homes 
• Orono School Board Meeting 
• LMC Policy Committee Meeting 
• Interview for potential police officer 
• MP Fire Dept Meeting 
• Bob Steffl Funeral	

 
Copeland Road Meeting.  Approx 50 people attended.  Full length of the room map of the 
road so everyone could gather around. Everyone could state their concerns and issues. 
Brad Spencer did a nice job at presenting on behalf of the city on what the process would 
look like. Bode explains why we do things the way we do to maintain the road. City 
engineer went over issues they found. We presented high level numbers associated with 
paving, updated gravel. Long Q&A session after. We heard a lot about speed, 
maintenance, and snow. When we did the last overlay project, we paved entrance ramps 
coming on the road. We heard that the asphalt was slick. Bode said we don’t put salt 
down on gravel. We are looking at paving an additional area of that road that doesn’t 
impact gravel piece and so people can get out on Hwy 12 more safely. To consider 
paving, we need a high level of support. It was clear there were many that were not 
interested in paving – increased speed and traffic and cost.  
Grotting – what about Nelson Rd? 
Kaltsas – it still is not a through paved road. Then you have riskier gravel the rest of the 
way. We did put out road counters. The golf course traffic is all going south. Not much 
going North. 2500 trips per day. On the north end 700/750. That is about the traffic of the 



 

residents alone. The golf course traffic is not coming north to 12. We have an email list 
on keeping the residents updated. Our target is 2024-2025 city wide gravel road update.  
Grotting – laying more ¾” to help the overall base 
Kaltsas – as years go by we are losing more gravel. We haven’t replaced as well as we 
have. We have closed hwy 12 twice which puts a lot of traffic on other roads. Two driest 
years make it hard to maintain. We lost a guy with 40 years of experience on a road 
grader. That is not an easy replacement. That is an art. Our guys are trying to get better. It 
is a major loss for us.  
Grotting – it’s a good time and opportunity to look at an overall city gravel update.  

 
 

7. West Hennepin Public Safety Monthly Report for July 2023 – Chief Gary Kroells. 
• July 2023-2024 complaints for Maple Plain and 325 Independence and 135 Maple 

Plain. 
	
	

8. Presentation of the 2022 Financial Audit – Andrew Grice 
 
a. 2022 Financial Audit – Report for year-end December 31st 2022 
State Statute that city undergo an annual audit financial statements each year.  It is the 
auditors to provide assurance that the financial statements are fairly stated.   

 
We are giving a clean or unmodified opinion on the financial statements.  That is the best 
you can get from the auditor.  Congratulations on receiving that again this year. 

 
b. 2022 Audit Presentation - 2 finding to reports this year. 

 
Materials weakness level – most severe internal control deficiency.  Prior period 
adjustment proposed.  Equity interest and joint ventures related to the WHPS commission 
was not presented in the prior year's financial statement.  Did recommend this 
adjustment. 

 
Significant deficiency – mid-level finding.  Related to the reconciliation to escrow 
balances.  Complexities as it relates to how these are reconciled so we recommend some 
improvements to this process to ensure they continue to be fairly stated. 
 
MN Legal Compliance – Deposits, investments, statutes related to contracts, bidding etc., 
there were no findings to report. 

 
      General Fund – Monitoring Budget vs Actual  
      Adopting and monitoring budget – Final Budget $3.4m in revenue, Balance budget 

• Actual revenues $3.7m.  Almost all of that was in licenses and building permits. 
• Expenditures $3.4m – vacancies and contracted services and capital outlay for roofing 

project not budgeted for Public Works garage. Surplus of $14k for the year. 
• General fund Revenue Comparison chart – decrease .5% or 24k from 2021 to 2022 

o Misc Revenue Decrease– 179k to 19k.  
o Large donation related to Spirrow Acadamy Charter School that did not re-

occur in 2022. 



 

o Decrease in inter-governmental revenues related to small cities assistance 
grant. 

o Offset by increased taxes, increase in levy, also increase in licenses and 
permits. 

o Taxes and assessments are the majority of general fund revenue at 85% 
followed by licenses and permits which increased 12% 

• Expenditures – Public safety services at 53% followed by general govt at 23% and 
public works at 21% 

• General Fund – Fund balance.  Increased in 2022 by 14k.  Measures financial health. 
What is available for cash flow if unexpected items that may come up. Goal is no less 
than 40-50% of the year’s budget expenditures.  2022 was at 48% and city complied. 

• Sewer utility fund  
o $269k operating revenues  
o Operating expense– up to 341k 
o Equity position is at $794k which is highest in the last 5 years.  

 
Johnson – staff and I met to go over more details on the audit. Good staff to do work 
behind the scenes to get a good audit.  
Grotting – the loss in sewer utility fund - is that an ongoing concern? 
Kaltsas – it is just a depreciating factor. We have been doing studies on our sewer fund. 
We have tried to increase the cost reasonably to have this fund independent of the tax 
based. Sometimes taxpayers have had to cover some of the expenses of this, but we try to 
keep it independence. When Bridgevine comes online, it will be a huge deal for our 
sewer fund. We are adding 10% more customers with zero additional infrastructure. I 
think it will help our fund substantially.  
Betts – your presentation was very easy to read and clear so thank you. 
Grice – thank you, I appreciate that.  
Johnson - thanked Grice for coming out to report.  
Kaltsas – we will publish the audit results online so public can see.  

 
 
Motion by Betts, seconded by McCoy to approve the 2022 financial audit report for 
the city. Ayes: Johnson, Betts, McCoy, Grotting. Nays: None. Absent: Spencer. 
Abstain. None.  MOTION DECLARED CARRIED. 4-0 

 
 
9. Open/Misc. 

September 5th City Council Meeting 
Kaltsas – Waiting to see what workload was but we do not have anything on the agenda.  
We could hold a special the next morning for AP at the workshop meeting on September 
6th. 

 
Motion by McCoy, seconded by Betts to cancel the September 5th meeting and hold a 
special meeting September 6th for AP Invoices. Ayes: Johnson, Betts, McCoy, 
Grotting. Nays: None. Absent: Spencer. Abstain. None.  MOTION DECLARED 
CARRIED. 4-0 

 
 
10. Adjourn. 

 
Motion by Grotting, seconded by McCoy to adjourn the City Council Meeting at 
7:20pm. Ayes: Johnson, Betts, McCoy, Grotting. Nays: None. Absent: Spencer. 
Abstain. None.  MOTION DECLARED CARRIED. 4-0 



 Page 1 

 

City of Independence 
Consideration of a Payment to the Delano Area Senior Center for 2023 

 
To: City Council  

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 

Meeting Date: September 19, 2023 

 
 
Discussion: 
The City of Independence is being asked to consider making a payment to the Delano Area 
Senior Center and WeCAN for services provided to residents in 2017. 
 

• Delano Area Senior Center is asking for a payment of $1,900.00 for services provided to 
residents in 2023.  The City has historically contributed to the Delano Senior Center.  The 
Senior Center provides congregate meals, meals on wheels, education, wellness clinics, 
assistance with taxes and health insurance, legal aid, day tours, socialization and 
recreation to area senior citizens.  The Senior Center served approximately 2,500 
individuals in the past year.  It is estimated that 250 of the individuals served were from 
Independence.   
 

• The City has budgeted an annual contribution that will cover the requested amount and 
typically waits for a request in order to approve and make payment.   

 
 
Recommendation: 
The City Council is being asked to consider granting approval for the 2023 payment in the 
amount of $1,900.00 to the Delano Area Senior Center. 

   
    
 







 
 
Date:  September 8th, 2023 
 
To:  Public Safety Commissioners 
  City of Independence Council Members 
  City of Maple Plain Council Members 
 
From:  Director Gary Kroells 
 
SUBJECT: AUGUST 2023 ACTIVITY REPORT 
   
The purpose of this report is to give the reader a quick overview of the activities of the Public 
Safety Department each month.  It also compares monthly and year-to-date information to the 
reader. 
 
The report is broken down into five categories, as defined by the Criminal Justice Reporting 
System. 
 

CRIMINAL-- Criminal is broken down into Part I and Part II crimes. 
 

Part I includes crimes against persons versus crimes against property; 
criminal homicide, forcible rape, robbery assault, aggravated assault, 
burglary -breaking or entering, larceny-theft, larceny analysis, motor 
vehicle theft and arson. 
 
Part II includes other assaults, forgery and counterfeiting, fraud, 
embezzlement, stolen property, buying, receiving, possession; vandalism, 
weapons, carrying, possessing, etc.; prostitution and commercialized vice, 
sex offenses; drug abuse violations, gambling, offenses against the family 
and children, driving under the influence, liquor laws, drunkenness, 
disorderly conduct, vagrancy, all other offenses, suspicion, curfew and 
loitering laws - persons under 18; and runaways - persons under 18. 
 

TRAFFIC-- Includes violations of the road and driving laws.  
 
PART III-- Lost and Found: Includes lost and found persons, animals, and property, 

and stalled and abandoned vehicles. 
 
PART IV-- Casualties: Includes all motor vehicle crashes, boating, and snowmobile; 

public home occupational accidents, fires, suicides, sudden deaths, 
burning permits, and burning violations. 

 
PART V-- Miscellaneous Public: Includes open doors, gun permit applications, 

suspicious activities, animal complaints, motorist assists, alarm calls, 
parking complaints, house checks, driving complaints, civil matters, family 
disputes, department assists. 

 
The balance of the report shows the total number of incidents handled, miles driven and how 
the Public Safety Department received calls.  If anyone should desire more detailed statistical 
data, please contact my office. 



 This Same Month This Year Last Year
Offense Month Last Year To Date To Date

City Of Independence  

Criminal 5 7 28 46
Traffic 78 65 679 730
Part III 1 0 17 33
Part IV 36 30 210 247
Part V 113 143 754 953

Total City of Independence 233 245 1,688 2,009

City Of Maple Plain

Criminal 4 2 25 37
Traffic 38 16 241 190
Part III 2 3 12 14
Part IV 35 20 184 165
Part V 44 60 205 422

Total City Of Maple Plain 123 101 667 828

Grand Total Both Cities 356 346 2,355 2,837

TZD 40 8 207 116
Agency Assists 39 29 175 197
Total ICR Reports 435 383 2,737 3,150

How Received
Fax 8 3 62 52
In Person 13 20 80 112
Mail 1 1 3 9
Other 2 1 8 12
Phone 23 27 175 261
Radio 182 175 1,009 1,259
Visual 167 115 1,143 1,070
Email 15 17 114 168
Lobby Walk In 24 24 165 198

Total 435 383 2,759 3,141

August 2023
Monthly Activity Report



August 2023 Part I & II                                        City of Maple Plain #’s 1 & 2 

 

AGN ICR Title 
Create 
Date 

Grid 
# 

Committed 
Date 

MOC 
range 

UCR Part 

WHPS 23002886 DWI 
2023-08-
04 

01 2023-08-04 JFF08 2 

WHPS 23003089 Court Orders 
2023-08-
17 

01 2023-08-17 N2370 2 

WHPS 23002940 
Citation – Minor 
Consumption 

2023-08-
09 

02 2023-08-09 M3001 2 

WHPS 23003124 Threat 
2023-08-
20 

02 2023-08-20 A9b02 2 

 

 

August 2023 Part I & II                                            City of Independence Grid #’s 3-5  

                 

AGN ICR Title Create Date Grid # Committed Date MOC range UCR Part 

WHPS 23002912 

Accd 
Unk/Injury – 
Recovered 
Stolen 

2023-08-06 03 2023-08-06 Q1005 2 

WHPS 23003026 DWI 4th Deg 2023-08-12 03 2023-08-12 JG501 2 

WHPS 23003048 
Theft/Stolen 
Mail 

2023-08-14 04 2023-08-14 U1770 2 

WHPS 23003103 PI Crash DWI 2023-08-19 05 2023-08-19 JE5J1 2 

WHPS 23003157 Fraud 2023-08-22 05 2023-08-22 U1051 2 

 



 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Jan Feb Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec

THREE YEAR COMPARISON OF POLICE CALLS FOR 
SERVICE & ACTIVITY

21
Total

22
Total

23
Total



DIRECTOR’S NEWS & NOTES 
WEST HENNEPIN PUBLIC SAFETY  

August 2023 Activity Report 
 

Year to Date Activity Report 
 

At the end of August 2023, West Hennepin Public Safety (WHPS) handled year-to-date 
a total of 2,759 incident complaints. For the month of August; 233 incidents occurred in 
the City of Independence and 123 in the City of Maple Plain.  
 
The Criminal Part I and Part II cases for both cities have been highlighted for your 
review on the attached documents.  

 
Vehicle Fire 
August 1 

5600 block of Highway 12, Maple Plain. Officer was dispatched to a 
vehicle fire. Officer arrived on scene and found the vehicle pulled off the 
highway. Driver stated his driver’s side rear brake must be hanging up. It 
had gotten hot and started smoking. Driver thought there was some 
flames. MPFD arrived and put water on it and cooled it down. Driver 
contacted a ride and a tow truck.  

 
Welfare Check 
August 2 

2000 block of Budd Street, Independence. Officer was dispatched to a call 
from a child saying his dad took the Xbox away and they want him in jail. 
Officer responded and spoke to dad who advised his son has autism and 
he did take the Xbox away but there were no other problems. Officer 
cleared. 

 
Arrest 
August 4 

Intersection of Highway 12 and Baker Park Road, Maple Plain. Officer was 
on routine patrol when a vehicle ran a red light. Officer initiated as traffic 
stop on the vehicle and detected signs of impairment. Driver admitted to 
drinking and was ultimately arrest for DWI where he provided a breath test 
that indicated .12. Eliodoro Lagunas-Rodriguez (44) was booked and 
transported to Hennepin County Jail without incident.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Found Property 
August 6 

4800 block of Gateway Boulevard, Maple Plain. Officer was dispatched to 
found property with possible drugs in the bag. The bag was found on the 
sidewalk with a note signed by “Jerry”. Officer looked through the bag and 
found 13 meth pipes and other paraphernalia. Officer was familiar with the 
property owner, who was contacted via phone. Officer assisted the 
individual with destroying the drug paraphernalia.  

 
Stolen Vehicle 
August 6 

6500 block of Highway 12, Independence. Officer was dispatched to a 
crash with injuries. Reporting party stated the driver was out of the vehicle 
walking with a limp and left the scene. Officer arrived on scene and found 
the vehicle to be stolen. Officers attempted to locate the suspect. 
Ultimately, it was found the suspect asked for help from a nearby resident 
who provided him an Uber ride by to Minneapolis.  Suspect was identified 
a few days later driving another stolen vehicle in which he was arrested in 
Minneapolis.  Charges were filed against the 17-year-old male for 
possession of a stolen vehicle.  

 
Medical 
August 7 

4800 block of Gateway Blvd, Maple Plain. Officer was dispatched to an 
elderly female with dementia having an episode and being combative. 
Officer arrived on scene and spoke to staff and who advised she was 
refusing to leave with her friend. Female was pushing people and being 
demanding. Officer spoke to the female’s son via phone and was advised 
care was needed in assisting his mother. Female ultimately decided to 
leave voluntarily with her friend.  

 
Welfare Check 
August 8 

1800 block of Budd Avenue, Maple Plain. Officer was dispatched to a 
welfare check regarding a male who called 911 about having cancer after 
handling a broken lava lamp. Officers arrived on scene and spoke with the 
individual who was suffering from paranoia and is currently being treated 
for other mental health issues. He advised he was in metro area from 
North Dakota to get a second opinion regarding his mental health. 
Individual requested to go to the hospital. North Memorial Paramedics 
arrived on scene and transported the male to the hospital.  

 
 
 
 
 



Medical 
August 9 

2800 block of Lindgren Lane, Independence. Officer was dispatched to a 
2-year-old who fell off the gymnastics bars and hit his head, causing his 
head to bleed. Patient was talkative but his mother said he is lethargic. 
Patient never lost consciousness. North Memorial Paramedics arrived on 
scene and transported the patient to the hospital.  

 
Property Damage 
August 10 

8000 block of County Road 6, Independence. Officer was dispatched to a 
report of a possible break-in. Reporting party stated someone came to the 
front door overnight and tried to pry the front door open. No access was 
gained to the building. Report forwarded to investigations for follow-up.  

 
Arrest 
August 12 

Intersection of County Road 92 and 3rd Avenue, Independence. Officer 
was on routine patrol and observed a vehicle driving well over the posted 
speed limit with a top speed of 54 miles-per-hour in a 30 miles-per-hour. 
Officer stopped the vehicle and spoke to the driver who displayed 
indications of impairment. Ultimately, Ann Marie Bogren (56) was arrest 
for 4th Degree DWI. She was booked and released to a sober party. 

 
Trespassing 
August 13 

5800 block of Kochs Xing, Independence. Officer was dispatched to a 
report of ATV’s driving on soon-to-be developed property. Officer arrived 
on scene and spoke to a passerby who advised the ATV was operating in 
a safe manner. Officer located the ATV and noted it was not destroying 
property or diving aggressively. Officer spoke to the driver and advised 
him of the complaint.  

 
Abandoned Vehicle 
August 14 

5700 block of County Road 11, Independence. Officer was dispatched to a 
report of an abandoned vehicle. Report party stated people were sleeping 
in their vehicles in the parking lot for a few days. Eventually, they packed 
up and left but didn’t take one of their vehicles with them. Officer made 
contact with a relative of the registered owner and advised the vehicle 
needs to be moved. On the same day, officer reported the vehicle had 
been moved.  

 
 
 
 



Juvenile Issue 
August 16 

1300 block of County Road 83, Independence. Officer was dispatched to a 
juvenile issue. Upon arrival, Officer was asked to mediate an argument 
between the reporting party and her 15-year-old daughter. Officer was 
able to talk through some issues with the juvenile party. Report party was 
concerned about the juvenile running away overnight. Juvenile advised 
she would not run away.  

 
Court Order 
August 17 

4900 block of Highway 12, Maple Plain. Officer was dispatched to a report 
of a court order violation via text. Officer met with the reporting party who 
advised she has a court order not allowing communication against the 
individual texting her. The individual sent the reporting party a video of him 
shooting a handgun. Officer provided the reporting party with resources 
and found her a place to stay for the night. Case forwarded to 
investigations for charges.  

 
Arrest 
August 19 

Intersection of County Road 6 and Nelson Road, Independence. Officer 
was dispatched to a personal injury crash where a vehicle crashed into a 
tree. Officers arrived on scene and found the passenger with a possible 
broken forearm. Officer spoke to the driver who was ultimately arrested for 
DWI. Passenger was transported to the hospital.  

 
Medical 
August 19 

Intersection of Townline Road and County Road 6, Independence. Officer 
was dispatched to a patient who had fallen off their bicycle. Officer arrived 
and found the patient who had multiple lacerations to his arm and near his 
eye. Patient was unstable while standing and smelled of alcohol. Patient 
submitted to a preliminary breath test which indicated 0.16. Patient was 
transported to the hospital by North Memorial Paramedics.  

 
Electrical Fire 
August 20 

5100 block of Fern Drive, Independence. Officer was dispatched to an 
electrical fire. Officer arrived on scene with West Suburban Fire 
Department and found the lights flickering and the light switch was hot to 
the touch. West Suburban Fire was able to locate the problem and 
neutralize the issue.  

 
 
 



Property Damage 
August 21 

1700 block of Budd Avenue, Maple Plain. Officer was dispatched to 
property damage at a nearby park. Reporting party stated someone broke 
the lock off the electrical box causing damage. Upon inspection of the box, 
it’s believed someone broke the lock to the electrical box to turn on the 
outlets to charge cars. Extra patrol will be conducted.  

 
Welfare Check 
August 24 

6000 block of Highway 12, Independence. Officer was dispatched to a 
welfare check on a male observed walking down the reporting party’s 
driveway. The subject asked the reporting party for a glass of water and 
stated he was on a walk. Officer arrived and spoke to the subject who 
appeared to be in good health and denied any assistance. Officer advised 
he was not allowed to walk on the railroad tracks.  
 

Property Damage 
August 24 

4900 block of County Road 19, Independence. Officer was dispatched to 
property damage where a hay wagon crashed through a fence and into a 
barn. It appeared the hay wagon rolled down the steep embankment 
traveling throughout the yard through the two sections of fence, then 
struck a parked vehicle before veering towards the barn and embedding 
the tongue of the trailer into the barn. 

 
Medical 
August 25 

3400 block of Ihduhapi Trail, Independence. Officer was dispatched to a 6-
year-old with a broken leg. Officer arrived on scene with West Suburban 
Fire and tended to the patient. The child had an obvious deformity on the 
left thigh consistent with a femur fracture. The child was resting 
comfortably and both parents were on scene. The child was transported to 
the hospital by North Memorial Paramedics.  

 
Utility Problem 
August 26 

Intersection of Meadow Lane and Henry Street, Maple Plain. Officer was 
dispatched to a call of wires arcing and possible blown transformer. Officer 
arrived and did not locate the power outage or wires arcing. Reporting 
party stated she saw a flash and heard a loud boom. Officer located 
people walking in the area. They advised it was fireworks and there was 
an event going on. Officer spoke to the homeowners who were warned 
about fireworks.  

 
 



Damage to Property 
August 27 

2000 block of County Road 90, Independence. Officer was dispatched to 
two cars in Pioneer Creek Park doing spinouts and donuts. Officer arrived 
on scene and did not locate the vehicles. There was tire marks in the park 
and on top of the sliding hill causing damage. Public Works was advised 
about the damage and will be repairing the grass that was torn up. Case 
under investigation.  

 
Medical 
August 29 

5600 block of Providence Curve, Independence. Officer was dispatched to 
a patient who fell down the stairs and hit her head, causing it to bleed. The 
report party stated the patient is intoxicated. The patient agreed to a 
breath test, which indicated .160. North Memorial Paramedics arrived on 
scene and transported the patient to the hospital.  

 
Property Damage 
August 30 

2000 block of County Road 90, Independence. Officer was dispatched to 
an ongoing issue of people driving on the grass and doing donuts in 
Pioneer Creek Park. Officer located three vehicles leaving, two vehicles 
pulled over for the officer, one vehicle continued to drive away. Officer 
identified both drivers, who were juveniles. Parents were contacted and 
kids were warning about damaging park property.  

 
 
   
 
 
 



 Page 1 

 

City of Independence 
2024 Preliminary Budget and Levy Discussion 

 
To: City Council  

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 

Meeting Date: September 19, 2023 

 
Discussion: 
Staff and Council have had several meetings to discuss and revise the preliminary budget and 
corresponding tax levy for 2024.  For the past seven years, Council has directed staff to prepare a 
budget using a flat tax rate of ~40% with no increase in applicable City tax rate.  As a result of 
long-range planning, efficient and responsible budgeting, as well as the significant market value 
increases realized by most properties in the metropolitan area, Independence is going to be able 
to again reduce the City’s tax rate by ~2% (from ~33% to 31%).  The total operating levy is 
increasing by approximately 5 ½% which will help to mitigate the approximately 10% increase 
in inflation indexes experienced over the last two years. The City’s financial consultant and staff 
have prepared a preliminary budget which reflects an overall increase of or $209,823.  Staff has 
worked to adjust the budget to accommodate increases in insurance, emergency services and 
other similar increased costs of doing business.  

 

Several highlights of the draft preliminary budget are as follows: 

o The budget includes initial public safety increases prepared by all public safety 
entities.  The revised budget assumes that the City will end the contract for fire 
services from Delano and adjust the fire boundaries to increase both the West 



 Page 2 

 

Suburban and Maple Plain fire services areas (see attached map).  It is anticipated that 
the City will see an approximate $15,000-$20,000 increase relating to the expanded 
WSFD and MPFD areas. West Suburban Fire District, Maple Plain Fire and West 
Hennepin Public Safety have provided preliminary budgets. The preliminary 
proposed 2024 public safety and fire contract amounts are as follows: 
 

2024  2023  2022  2021   
Maple Plain Fire: $278,809  $243,444 $230,000 $250,684   
Delano Fire:  $0 $69,000 $67,045 $64,806  
WSFD Fire:  $119,247 $105,783 $93,605 $93,759  
WHPS:   $1,550,160 $1,491,688 $1,314,399 $1,182,630  

 
o The City’s recycling contract will end in 2023 and the City has issued an RFP for 

recycling services.  The City has been told that the cost of recycling will increase 
approximately 40% for 2024.  The draft budget includes an approximate 40% 
increase for 2024.  This number will be likely adjusted in the final budget based on 
actual proposal and award of new recycling contract. 
 

o The City is proposing to increase the PW capital equipment contribution for 2024 
from $75,000 to $113,055.  This will allow the City to maintain a positive balance on 
all future PW capital expenditures.  The annual amount will be reduced back to 
$75,000 in subsequent years.  The current PW capital equipment plan is still in 
progress and staff is working on additional updates.  It is anticipated that the City will 
utilize a standard annual percentage increase (i.e. 3%) to reflect anticipated increase 
in equipment costs.   This plan will be fully updated prior to adoption of the final 
budget. 

 
o Once again, the capital improvement plan for City Hall shows no significant 

expenditures as a result of the current improvement projects.  The City is going to 
work on a building capital improvements plan in 2024.  This would provide a better 
road map for future improvements/replacements/upgrades relating to HVAC 
equipment, roof, parking lot, paint (interior and exterior), carpet, furniture, A/V 
equipment, etc. 

 
o The budget reflects a 3% cost of living increase.  It should be noted that health 

insurance costs are estimated to be increasing by ~8%.  The City is looking at how 
the current benefits stipend relates to the increased insurance costs and may 
recommend an additional adjustment. 

 
o The draft budget includes a placeholder of $25,000 for soft costs associated with the 

pioneer park project. 
 

o The draft budget includes a placeholder of an additional ~$15,000 for legal fees to 
initiate code/nuisance enforcement. 

 



 Page 3 

 

o The draft budget includes an increased elections number for 2024 to accommodate 
the national and local elections. 

 
o The City has a capital road improvement plan that includes seal coating and gravel 

road tiling.  The proposed numbers for 2024 have been increased from $52,500 to 
$60,000 for each item (total of $120,000). 
 

The City Council will have the opportunity to further refine the budget prior to the requisite 
December 2023 adoption.  At this time, the City is considering the adoption of the preliminary 
budget and tax levy which establishes the maximum tax levy for taxes payable in 2024.  The 
preliminary levy is required to be set prior to September 30, 2023.  The City can adopt a final 
levy that is less than the preliminary but cannot increase the final levy set in December from the 
adopted preliminary levy.     
 
 
Council Direction: 
The City Council is being asked to consider approval of RESOLUTION 23-0919-01 and 
RESOLUTION 23-0919-02 approving the preliminary levies and budget for 2024. 
 
 
Attachments:   RESOLUTION 23-0919-01 
   RESOLUTION 23-0919-02 
   ABDO Memorandum with Preliminary Budget and Levies 



 

763.479.0527                                                  1920 County Road 90                                          Fax: 763.479.0528 
                                                                       Independence, MN 55359 
                                                                    www.ci.independence.mn.us 

RESOLUTION OF THE  
CITY OF INDEPENDENCE 

HENNEPIN COUNTY, MINNESOTA 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 23-0919-01 

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING 2024 PRELIMINARY PROPERTY TAX LEVY AND 
SETTING THE PUBLIC HEARING DATE FOR THE 2023 TRUTH IN TAXATION 

MEETING 
 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Independence is required by State law to approve a resolution 
setting forth an annual tax levy to the Hennepin County Auditor; and 

 
WHEREAS, Minnesota Statues require approval of a preliminary property tax levy on 

or before September 30th of each year; and 
 

BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Independence, Hennepin 
County, Minnesota, that the following sums of money be levied for collection in 2024 upon 
the table property in said City of Independence for the following purposes: 

 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Truth in Taxation meeting will be held 
on December 5th, 2023, at 6:00 PM; and 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Administrator is hereby authorized 

and directed to transmit this information to the County Auditor of Hennepin County, 
Minnesota and the Minnesota Department of Revenue, if applicable, in the format requested 
as required by law. 

 



 

This resolution was adopted by the City Council of the City of Independence on 
this 19th day of September 2023, by a vote of  ayes and  nays. 

 
 
 

Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 

      

Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 



 

763.479.0527                                                  1920 County Road 90                                          Fax: 763.479.0528 
                                                                       Independence, MN 55359 
                                                                    www.ci.independence.mn.us 

RESOLUTION OF THE  
CITY OF INDEPENDENCE 

HENNEPIN COUNTY, MINNESOTA 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 23-0919-02 

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PRELIMINARY PIONEER SARAH  
CREEK WATERSHED MANAGEMENT COMMISSION  

TAX LEVY FOR THE 2024 BUDGET  
 

WHEREAS, the City of Independence is required by State law to approve a resolution 
setting forth an annual tax levy to the Hennepin County Auditor; and 
 

WHEREAS, Minnesota Statues require approval of a preliminary property tax levy on or 
before September 30th of each year; and 
 

BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Independence, Hennepin 
County, Minnesota, that the following sums of money be levied for collection in 2024 upon the 
table property in said City of Independence for the following purposes: 

 
Pioneer/Sarah Watershed Commission   $ 71,123.00 

   

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the City Administrator is hereby authorized and 
directed to transmit this information to the County Auditor of Hennepin County, Minnesota and 
the Minnesota Department of Revenue, if applicable, in the format requested as required by law. 
 

 
This resolution was adopted by the City Council of the City of Independence on 

this 19th day of September 2023, by a vote of  ayes and  nays. 
 
 
 
  

Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 

 



BUDGET MEMO 

TO: CITY ADMINISTRATOR 

FROM: ABDO FINANCIAL SOLUTIONS, LLC 

SUBJECT: 2024 BUDGET POINTS MEMO 

DATE: 9/13/2023 

Introduction 

Upon your request, we have summarized the 2024 Budget highlights below. 

Budget Format 

The 2024 Budget included the Council approved priorities for each department. These will continue to be reviewed and 
updated as needed.  

Key Items in this Year’s Budget 

• The general fund tax levy increases $209,823 or 6.33% over prior year. The tax rate calculates to 31.47%. Prior 
year’s tax rate was 33.01%. Some factors in the change are described below.

• Intergovernmental revenue projection decreased by 76.13% to reflect prior year actuals.  Agricultural Credit grant 
is projected to be $16,900 and no Small City Assistance aid will be received in 2024.

• Financial administration increased $63,291 of 10.61% due to an increase in audit fees and new park design.

• Police protection increased $70,538 or 4.76% from the 2023 budget. A transfer in was established from the COVID 
funds received in 2021 and 2022 to offset $30,000 annually until 2026.

• Fire services were decreased by $21,570 or 5.14% from the 2023 budget.

• Streets increased by $41,994 or 6.22%, due to a transfer of $75,000 to the Public Works Equipment Fund, increase 
in costs of wages, supplies and seal coating and road tiling.

• LMCIT Insurance  was budgeted with a 5% increase and Worker’s Comp Insurance was budgeted with 10%
increase over prior year. 



 

 

Taxation Notification Summary Chart for Taxes Payable 2022 

 
Due Date EDA and City Levy Process 

9/30/2023 The EDA must pass a resolution authorizing the proposed 2024 EDA levy 

 

9/30/2023 

The City must pass a resolution and file with the County the exact amount of the 
proposed 2024 City levy. The due date of the City property tax levy is September 30, 
2023. 

 
 

9/30/2023 

At one meeting, the City Council adopts the proposed property tax levy and announces the 
time and place of a future City Council meeting at which the budget and levy will be 
discussed and public input allowed, prior to final budget and levy determination. This public 
input meeting must occur after November 27, 2023 and must start at or after 6:00 PM. The 
time and place of the public input meeting must be included in the minutes but newspaper 
publication of the minutes is not required. This information must be filed with the County 
Auditor. 

11/27/23 - 12/27/23 EDA must pass a resolution approving the 2024 EDA levy 

11/27/23 - 12/27/23 City must pass a resolution approving the 2024 City levy 

11/27/23 - 12/27/23 
City Council must hold a meeting to discuss the budget and property tax levy and, before a 
final determination, all public input. 

12/27/23 
City must file the certificate of compliance (form TNT-2014) with the Department of 
Revenue by December 27, 2023. 

 
Tax Levy Summary 
 
Overall, the tax levy includes levies for general operations, city infrastructure and debt services. The 2024 and 2023 
budgeted tax levies are listed below. 
 

2023 Budget

2024 

Proposed 

Budget

Increase 

(Decrease) % Change

General 3,313,823$     3,523,646$     209,823$        6.33%

Debt Service

2010 GO Improvement Bonds 13,351             16,382             3,031               22.71%

2015 GO Tax Abatement Bonds 179,458          175,678          (3,780)             -2.11%

2020A GO Bonds 120,690          124,837          4,147               3.44%

   Total City Operating Levy 3,627,322$     3,840,544$     213,222$        5.88%

Pioneer/Sarah Watershed Taxing District 67,736$          71,123$          3,388$             5.00%

 

2



 

 

Levy Summary 2018 to 2024 Projected 
 

 $-

 $500,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,500,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,500,000

 $3,000,000

 $3,500,000

 $4,000,000

 $4,500,000

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Proposed
2024

General Levy Debt Service Pioneer/Sarah Watershed

 
 

 

Summary of the City’s Tax Capacity 
 
The estimated tax capacity increased 11.69% for 2024.  
 
 

A comparison of the current year tax capacity compared to the prior three years and the overall percentage change for the 
county is listed below: 
 

2020 Pay 2021 2021 Pay 2022 2022 Pay 2023

Estimated 2023 

Pay 2024 % Change

% Change 

(County-wide)

Commercial/Industrial 340,260$        354,991$        392,516$          534,614$            36.20% 7.23%

Residential 6,752,557       7,249,137       8,936,700         9,854,583           10.27% 6.36%

Farm 970,554          992,826          1,226,914         1,401,030           14.19% 0.21%

   Total 8,063,371$     8,596,954$     10,556,130$    11,790,227$       11.69% 6.71%

 
 
 

The current tax capacity and historical tax capacity rates are summarized below for Independence and three relatively 
comparable Hennepin County Cities. The major difference between Independence and the three comparable cites is the 
large commercial tax base.  
 

 
 
 

3



 

 

Tax Capacity by Property Type - Estimated 2023 Pay 2024 
 

City of Independence Tax Rate History Compared to other similar sized Hennepin County Cities: 
 

Independence Corcoran Greenfield Dayton

Commercial/Industrial 534,614$          1,692,071$         680,753$        5,379,937$        

Apartment -                         35,263                 -                        61,488                

Residential 9,854,583         15,943,939         6,561,936       17,002,705        

Farm 1,401,030         1,426,059           611,765          761,817              

   Total 11,790,227$    19,097,332$       7,854,454$     23,205,947$      

 
 

Tax Capacity Rates 
 

Independence Corcoran Greenfield Dayton

2018 39.34% 45.99% 34.88% 55.47%

2019 39.31% 45.41% 36.00% 57.49%

2020 38.93% 45.01% 36.69% 54.14%

2021 39.40% 43.52% 35.15% 51.38%

2022 38.27% 43.19% 34.40% 48.44%

2023 33.01% 42.12% 32.99% 35.11%

2024 Projected 31.47%

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

Independence Corcoran Greenfield Dayton

31.47%

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Projected

4



 

 

Staffing 
 
Data related to the number of full-time equivalent positions is noted below: 
 

Summary of FTES by Department 2021 2022 2023 2024

City Council 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00

Adminstration 1.69 2.19 2.19 2.19

Streets 2.26 1.79 1.79 1.79

Building Inspection 0.88 0.93 0.93 0.93

Subtotal General Fund 9.83 9.91 9.91 9.91

Sewer 1.13 1.42 1.42 1.42

Total 10.96 11.33 11.33 11.33

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5



 

 

General Fund Summary 
 

Actual Budget Budget Increase/ Percent

2022 2023 2024 (Decrease) Change

Revenues

Taxes 3,108,482$     3,313,823$     3,523,646$     209,823$        6.33%

Licenses and permits 425,366          205,923          265,000          59,077             28.69%

Intergovernmental 26,118             117,700          28,100             (89,600)           -76.13%

Charges for services 39,065             43,208             43,790             582                  1.35%

Fines and forfeitures 42,090             35,127             36,900             1,773               5.05%

Interest on investments 14,051             3,149               25,000             21,851             693.90%

Miscellaneous 4,873               5,250               22,880             17,630             335.81%

Transfers in 92,162             37,500             30,000             (7,500)             -20.00%

Total Revenues 3,752,206$     3,761,680$     3,975,316$     213,636$        5.68%

Actual Budget Budget Increase/ Percent

2022 2023 2024 (Decrease) Change

Expenditures

Mayor and City Council 18,199$          26,738$          27,918$          1,180$             4.41%

Financial administration 639,599          596,456          678,289          81,833             13.72%

Election 5,382               5,224               8,532               3,308               63.32%

Planning and zoning 42,771             43,841             45,736             1,895               4.32%

Water resource 1,100               3,000               3,000               -                        0.00%

General government buildings 50,460             46,927             48,715             1,788               3.81%

Legal services 37,544             40,515             55,654             15,139             37.37%

Police 1,319,261       1,482,699       1,553,237       70,538             4.76%

Fire 377,388          419,625          398,055          (21,570)           -5.14%

Building inspection 132,295          140,209          151,403          11,194             7.98%

Streets 619,247          675,528          717,522          41,994             6.22%

Street lighting 6,422               3,245               6,500               3,255               100.31%

Recycling 83,369             84,793             115,000          30,207             35.62%

Parks 5,957               23,025             32,700             9,675               42.02%

Capital outlay - general government -                        15,000             20,000             5,000               33.33%

Capital outlay - public safety -                        -                        -                        -                   0.00%

Capital outlay - public works 104,518          55,000             -                        (55,000)           -100.00%

Transfer out 326,669          99,855             113,055          13,200             13.22%

Total Expenditures 3,770,183       3,761,680       3,975,316       213,636          5.68%

Net Change (17,977)$         -$                     -$                     -$                     

2024 General Fund Summary Budget

 

6



 

 

General Fund Balance 
 
The City has built a healthy fund balance which can contribute to a positive bond rating and mitigates the potential for 
needing short-term borrowing.  It will be important to continue to maintain reserve levels at 40 to 50 percent.  A summary 
of the general fund balance history and 2023 budget is as follows. It should be noted that the future projections assume a 
3% increase in expenses and a breakeven budget which results in the City eroding reserves levels when viewed as a 
present of expenditures. 
 

Year

Fund Balance 

December 31

General Fund 

Budget

Percent of 

Fund Balance 

to Budget

2018 Actual 1,279,825$     2,934,508$     43.6%

2019 Actual 1,378,021       2,961,463       46.5%

2020 Actual 1,630,768       2,871,447       56.8%

2021 Actual 1,982,099       3,326,128       59.6%

2022 Actual 1,964,122       3,761,680       52.2%

2023 Projected 1,964,122       3,975,316       49.4%

 
 

 $-

 $500,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,500,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,500,000

 $3,000,000

 $3,500,000

 $4,000,000

 $4,500,000

Fund Balance Budget

7



 

 

General Fund Balance as a Percentage of Expenditures 
 
 
 
 

Pioneer/Sarah Watershed Summary 
 
 

Actual Actual YTD Budget Budget

Account Description 2021 2022 2023 2023 2024

200-31010 Ad Valorem Taxes 61,111$          61,085$          -$                     64,418$          67,639$          

200-31040 Fiscal Disparities 2,652               2,743               -                        3,318               3,484               

200-36210 Interest Earnings 52                    431                  336                  -                        -                        

200-39200 Transfer In (General Fund) -                        5,548               -                        -                        -                        

   Total Revenues 63,815             69,807             336                  67,736             71,123             

200-41920-309 Pioneer-Sarah Watershed Comm. 47,477             47,517             47,967             51,975             54,574             

200-41920-310 Other Consulting Fees -                        -                        -                        1,145               1,202               

200-41920-320 Water Resource Staff 19,184             13,288             3,813               2,289               2,403               

200-41920-350 Printing&Publications-(Legals) -                        -                        -                        851                  893                  

200-41920-433 Misc. Dues/Ffes 530                  530                  560                  -                        -                        

200-41920-570 Capital Outlay (Project Cost) -                        -                        -                        11,477             12,051             

   Total Expenses 67,191             61,335             52,340             67,736             71,123             

   Change in Fund Balance (3,376)$           8,472$             (52,004)$         -$                     -$                     

8



 

 

Capital Planning 
 
Public Works Equipment Fund (403) 
 
City Staff has reviewed the existing capital needs of the department and determined the following represent anticipated 
expenditures through 2029. 
 

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029

Department

Year to 

Replace Item Cost

Cost 

History

Estimated 

Amounts

Estimated 

Amounts

Estimated 

Amounts

Estimated 

Amounts

Estimated 

Amounts

Estimated 

Amounts

Estimated 

Amounts

Public works 2023 Road Grader Overhaul 40,000$        -$               40,000$      -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 

Public works 2024 Road Side Mower (Replacement) 57,000           20,000       -                    57,000         -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Public works 2024 Tractor & Loader 130,000        130,000    -                    130,000      -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Public works 2025 New Truck Tandem Axel 250,000        -                  -                    -                    250,000      -                    -                    -                    -                    

Public works 2027 Lawn Mower 30,000           -                  -                    -                    -                    -                    30,000         -                    -                    

Public works 2029 Single Axel 200,000        -                  -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    200,000      

Public works 2030 (5) 800 MHz Radios 15,000           -                  -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Public works 2030 Pickup - 3/4 Ton 65,000           -                  -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Public works 2031 Generator 50,000           -                  -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Public works 2031 Grader 260,000        -                  -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Public works 2033 Crack Sealer 70,000           -                  -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Public works 2034 Pay Loader 150,000        -                  -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Public works 2035 Tandem 300,000        210,000    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Public works NA Road Packer -                      20,000       -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Public works NA Trailer -                      -                  -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

40,000$      187,000$    250,000$    -$                 30,000$      -$                 200,000$    

City of Independence, Minnesota
Capital Improvement Plan - Public Works Equipment Fund 403

Schedule of Planned Capital Outlay 2022 to 2035

 
 
 

City Staff created a cash flow analysis for the Public Works Equipment Fund through 2029. 
 

9



 

 

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029

Beginning Balance 156,499$    178,299$    104,354$    (70,646)$     4,354$         49,354$      124,354$    

Transfers in 61,800         113,055      75,000         75,000         75,000         75,000         75,000         

Expenditures 40,000         187,000      250,000      -                    30,000         -                    200,000      

Ending Balance 178,299$    104,354$    (70,646)$     4,354$         49,354$      124,354$    (646)$          

Transfers in are from:

100-43100-720 61,800$      113,055$    75,000$      75,000$      75,000$      75,000$      75,000$      

100-49300-720 -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  

 $     99,855  $   113,055  $     75,000  $     75,000  $     75,000  $     75,000  $     75,000 

Cash Flow - Public Works Equipment Fund 403

 
 

10



 

 

Capital Planning (Continued) 
 
Administrative Fund 
 
City Staff has reviewed the existing capital needs for improvements to City Hall and determined the following represent 
the anticipated expenditures. The next scheduled capital outlay item will be in 2031. 
 
 

City of Independence, Minnesota
Capital Improvement Plan - Administrative Fund 404

Schedule of Planned Capital Outlay 2022 to 2024

2023 2024

Department Year Item Cost

Estimated 

Amounts

Estimated 

Amounts

General government 2031 Office Equipment - Furnishing 5,000$        -$                 -$                 

General government 2031 Mechanical Electric 32,500        -                   -                   

General government 2031 City Hall Parking Lot (original paid by 2015 bond) 67,000        -                   -                   

General government 2031 City Hall Carpet 20,000        -                   -                   

General government 2032 Paint Exterior 27,500        -                   -                   

-$                 -$                 

The cash flow in the fund is anticipated to be the following through 2027. 
 

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027

Beginning Balance 84,436$      85,280$      86,133$      86,994$      87,864$      

Transfers in -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Other receipts 844              853              861              870              879              

Expenditures -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   

Ending Balance 85,280$      86,133$      86,994$      87,864$      88,743$      

City of Independence, Minnesota
Cash Flow - Administrative Fund 404

 

11



 

 

Debt Schedule   
 
City of Independence 
Bond Payment Schedule 
 

Fund Maturity Date

Total 

Remaining 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029

602 2010A GO Improvement 2/1/2026 Principal 205,000$   65,000$         70,000$         70,000$         

602 2010A GO Improvement 2/1/2026 Interest 10,576$     5,816             3,570             1,190             

Total 430,195     70,816           73,570           71,190           

314 2015A  GO Tax Abatement Bond 2/1/2026 Principal 485,000     160,000         160,000         165,000         

314 2015A  GO Tax Abatement Bond 2/1/2026 Interest 16,481       9,113             5,513             1,856             

Total 1,002,969  169,113         165,513         166,856         

315 2020A GO Bond 2/1/2041 Principal 3,690,000  35,000           40,000           40,000           40,000           220,000       225,000       

315 2020A GO Bond 2/1/2041 Interest 834,744     79,418           78,293           77,093           75,893           71,993         65,318         

Total 4,850,166  114,418         118,293         117,093         115,893         291,993       290,318       

 $-

 $50,000.00

 $100,000.00

 $150,000.00

 $200,000.00

 $250,000.00

 $300,000.00

 $350,000.00

 $400,000.00

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029

2010A GO Improvement 2015A  GO Tax Abatement Bond

2020A GO Bond

 
 

  
 
 
 
 

12



09/13/23 12:02 PM

AEM 2024 Budget Report

CITY OF INDEPENDENCE
Page 1

Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

100 GENERAL FUND

R 100-31010  AD VALOREM TAXES $2,903,838.64 $2,964,944.09 $1,645,987.18 $3,200,332.00 $3,404,480.00 6.38%

R 100-31020  DELINQUENT TAXES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 100-31040  FISCAL DISPARITIES $118,782.05 $143,537.73 $65,219.59 $113,491.00 $119,166.00 5.00%

R 100-32100  BUSINESS LICENSES $18,210.00 $18,340.00 $18,040.00 $15,000.00 $18,000.00 20.00%

R 100-32210  BUILDING PERMIT $187,890.88 $303,483.55 $208,990.18 $153,573.00 $201,232.00 31.03%

R 100-32211  PLAN REVIEW FEES $35,695.55 $100,328.38 $57,098.51 $31,500.00 $40,018.00 27.04%

R 100-32240  ANIMAL LICENSES $200.00 $82.00 $60.00 $600.00 $500.00 -16.67%

R 100-32250  MISC. LICENSES & PERMITS $5,349.31 $3,132.00 $2,250.00 $5,250.00 $5,250.00 0.00%

R 100-33400  STATE GRANT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 100-33401  LOCAL GOVERNMENT AIDS $106,535.02 $16,895.49 $0.00 $106,500.00 $16,900.00 -84.13%

R 100-33610  CTY. GRANTS & AID (STREETS) $34,515.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 100-33620  COUNTY GRANTS & AID (OTHER) $10,563.24 $9,222.74 $4,609.80 $11,200.00 $11,200.00 0.00%

R 100-33630  C.D.B.G./MISC. CREDIT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 100-34103  ZONING/SUBDIVISION FEE $23,350.00 $28,050.00 $6,550.00 $12,600.00 $12,915.00 2.50%

R 100-34104  WATER/RESOURCE FEES $500.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 100-34105  SALE-MAPS,PUBLICATION,COPIE $75.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 100-34107  ASSESSMENT SEARCH FEES $325.00 $375.00 $100.00 $158.00 $375.00 137.34%

R 100-34108  ADMINISTRATIVE CHARGES/REI $22,770.00 $10,640.00 $11,335.00 $29,400.00 $29,400.00 0.00%

R 100-34305  PUBLIC WORKS REIMBURSEMEN $130.76 $0.00 $0.00 $630.00 $0.00 -100.00%

R 100-34306  BUILDING INSPECTIONS REIMBU $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $420.00 $0.00 -100.00%

R 100-34307  PLANNING/ZONING REIMB. DEVL $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 100-34308  LEGAL FEE/REIMB. DEV $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 100-34309  ENG. FEE/REIMB. DEV $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 100-34310  MINNEHAHA WATERSHED REIMB $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 100-35000  COURT FINES/DOG IMPOUNDING $35,450.93 $42,089.64 $16,137.40 $35,127.00 $36,900.00 5.05%

R 100-36100  SPECIAL ASSESS/INT (CTY. PYMT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 100-36210  INTEREST EARNINGS $2,846.43 $14,050.88 $23,443.79 $3,149.00 $25,000.00 693.90%

R 100-36220  INSURANCE PREMIUM REFUND $5,428.00 $0.00 $3,387.00 $3,675.00 $3,860.00 5.03%

R 100-36230  MISC REVENUE/REFUNDS $173,374.65 $3,572.57 $2,750.87 $525.00 $525.00 0.00%

R 100-36231  DONATIONS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 100-36240  COMMUNITY CENTER REVENUES $200.00 $1,300.00 $500.00 $1,050.00 $1,100.00 4.76%

R 100-36242  PARK RENTAL FEE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 100-36250  SALES TAX  (COLLECTED) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 100-36262  Lease Revenue $0.00 $0.00 $10,500.00 $0.00 $18,495.00 0.00%

R 100-39100  SALE OF EQUIPMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

13



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 2

09/13/23 12:02 PM

R 100-39101  SALE OF LAND $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 100-39102  COMPENSATION FOR LOSS OF G $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 100-39200  TRANSFERS IN (GENERAL FUND) $0.00 $92,161.60 $30,000.00 $37,500.00 $30,000.00 -20.00%

R 100-39900  PROCEEDS FROM LEASE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$3,686,030.46 $3,752,205.67 $2,106,959.32 $3,761,680.00 $3,975,316.00

BUILDING INSPECTOR ADMIN

E 100-42400-101  WAGES (FULL-TIME) $86,221.71 $92,798.95 $64,398.01 $97,933.00 $103,893.00 6.09%

E 100-42400-104  WAGES - TEMP HELP $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 100-42400-121  PERA $6,485.21 $6,989.03 $5,178.30 $7,345.00 $7,792.00 6.09%

E 100-42400-122  FICA(6.2) MEDICARE (1.45) $6,488.46 $7,039.84 $5,281.86 $7,492.00 $7,948.00 6.09%

E 100-42400-131  CITY PAID BENEFIT ALLOWA $15,070.17 $17,785.08 $13,319.16 $16,500.00 $17,573.00 6.50%

E 100-42400-200  OFFICE SUPPLIES $3,702.81 $327.49 $625.71 $756.00 $756.00 0.00%

E 100-42400-212  VEHICLE OPER.SUPPLIES(FU $858.49 $204.48 $0.00 $861.00 $861.00 0.00%

E 100-42400-310  OTHER CONSULTING EXPEN $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $546.00 $546.00 0.00%

E 100-42400-321  COMMUNICATIONS (TELEPH $1,799.69 $645.01 $328.45 $480.00 $480.00 0.00%

E 100-42400-331  CONFERENCE & TRAVEL $444.98 $851.39 $141.63 $2,709.00 $2,709.00 0.00%

E 100-42400-360  WORKERS COMP INSURANC $3,007.75 $2,825.44 $5,384.34 $3,459.00 $5,923.00 71.23%

E 100-42400-361  INSURANCE $1,538.86 $1,729.67 $2,372.70 $1,697.00 $2,491.00 46.79%

E 100-42400-433  DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS $405.00 $1,098.85 $145.00 $431.00 $431.00 0.00%

E 100-42400-570  CAPITAL OUTLAY (EQUIPME $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$126,023.13 $132,295.23 $97,175.16 $140,209.00 $151,403.00BUILDING INSPECTOR ADMIN

CITY CLERK/FINANCE

E 100-41500-101  WAGES (FULL-TIME) $88,951.50 $175,495.69 $118,561.08 $86,611.00 $91,894.00 6.10%

E 100-41500-102  WAGES (PART-TIME) $20,403.01 $0.00 $0.00 $71,333.00 $75,676.00 6.09%

E 100-41500-121  PERA $7,759.74 $12,160.77 $9,384.31 $11,846.00 $12,568.00 6.09%

E 100-41500-122  FICA(6.2) MEDICARE (1.45) $8,093.78 $12,798.91 $8,993.15 $12,083.00 $12,819.00 6.09%

E 100-41500-131  CITY PAID BENEFIT ALLOWA $22,880.12 $38,960.51 $36,199.54 $27,720.00 $47,094.00 69.89%

E 100-41500-200  OFFICE SUPPLIES $14,871.44 $14,035.38 $2,351.36 $1,627.00 $1,627.00 0.00%

E 100-41500-301  AUDITING FEES $8,400.00 $16,432.50 $30,779.79 $14,175.00 $24,850.00 75.31%

E 100-41500-302  ADMINISTRATION CONSULT $95,534.07 $127,095.00 $82,320.00 $141,120.00 $148,176.00 5.00%

E 100-41500-305  CPA FEES $84,271.80 $86,322.25 $57,756.50 $81,000.00 $85,000.00 4.94%

E 100-41500-310  OTHER CONSULTING EXPEN $0.00 $0.00 $39,108.55 $10,000.00 $25,000.00 150.00%

E 100-41500-313  UNCOLLECTED PROJECT EXP $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 100-41500-315  ASSESSOR'S FEE $69,140.00 $72,000.00 $76,000.00 $72,450.00 $81,000.00 11.80%

E 100-41500-321  COMMUNICATIONS (TELEPH $37,743.09 $25,237.75 $17,204.03 $4,431.00 $8,000.00 80.55%

E 100-41500-322  POSTAGE $1,269.64 $2,399.27 $2,493.21 $1,838.00 $1,838.00 0.00%

E 100-41500-325  IT CONSULTING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $13,928.00 $13,928.00 0.00%

E 100-41500-331  CONFERENCE & TRAVEL $261.14 $410.20 $3,076.25 $2,625.00 $4,500.00 71.43%

E 100-41500-350  PRINTING & PUBLICATIONS $22,365.60 $23,751.10 $12,356.51 $18,000.00 $18,000.00 0.00%

14



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 3

09/13/23 12:02 PM

E 100-41500-360  WORKERS COMP INSURANC $6,989.28 $7,063.60 $11,965.20 $8,072.00 $8,072.00 0.00%

E 100-41500-361  INSURANCE $1,894.82 $1,876.30 $2,372.70 $1,841.00 $2,491.00 35.31%

E 100-41500-404  MAINT.&REPAIR EQUIP.(CO $837.00 $215.00 $265.00 $2,100.00 $2,100.00 0.00%

E 100-41500-405  MISCELLANEOUS $3,783.56 $3,593.45 $1,070.52 $1,670.00 $1,670.00 0.00%

E 100-41500-408  DUST CONTROL $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 100-41500-433  DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS $13,415.95 $15,455.75 $11,325.59 $5,140.00 $5,140.00 0.00%

E 100-41500-480  COVID 19 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 100-41500-560  CAPITAL OUTLAY (OFFICE E $7,391.22 $1,817.18 $0.00 $15,000.00 $20,000.00 33.33%

E 100-41500-570  CAPITAL OUTLAY (EQUIPME $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 100-41500-602  LEASE/PURCHASE (COPIER) $3,074.05 $2,479.00 $2,323.61 $4,000.00 $4,000.00 0.00%

E 100-41500-720  TRANSFERS OUT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$519,330.81 $639,599.61 $525,906.90 $608,610.00 $695,443.00CITY CLERK/FINANCE

COMMUNITY SERVICE

E 100-45200-409  YOUTH GROUPS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $680.00 $680.00 0.00%

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $680.00 $680.00COMMUNITY SERVICE

ELECTIONS

E 100-41410-102  WAGES (PART-TIME) $780.00 $2,751.00 $0.00 $2,785.00 $5,000.00 79.53%

E 100-41410-210  OPERATING SUPPLIES/MTN $3,272.96 $1,267.10 $0.00 $1,082.00 $1,082.00 0.00%

E 100-41410-350  PRINTING & PUBLICATIONS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $809.00 $1,200.00 48.33%

E 100-41410-351  BALLOT PRINTING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 100-41410-405  MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $1,363.71 $0.00 $548.00 $1,250.00 128.10%

$4,052.96 $5,381.81 $0.00 $5,224.00 $8,532.00ELECTIONS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

E 100-41920-311  WATER RESOURCE STAFF FE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0.00%

E 100-41920-320  WATER RESOURCE STAFF $0.00 $1,100.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$0.00 $1,100.00 $0.00 $3,000.00 $3,000.00ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

GENERAL GOVERNMENT BUILDING

E 100-41940-321  COMMUNICATIONS (TELEPH $16,781.97 $9,410.32 $34.00 $10,500.00 $10,500.00 0.00%

E 100-41940-360  WORKERS COMP INSURANC $2,084.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 100-41940-361  INSURANCE $4,027.22 $4,526.47 $5,931.75 $4,440.00 $6,228.00 40.27%

E 100-41940-380  ELECTRIC & GAS UTILITIES $11,043.93 $18,257.89 $14,789.23 $12,978.00 $12,978.00 0.00%

E 100-41940-384  GARBAGE PICK-UP $1,593.67 $1,415.18 $1,219.92 $1,376.00 $1,376.00 0.00%

E 100-41940-401  MAINT.&REPAIR BLD CONTR $30,686.56 $9,433.65 $6,656.49 $14,280.00 $14,280.00 0.00%

E 100-41940-402  MUSEUM $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $158.00 $158.00 0.00%

E 100-41940-403  GROUND MAINTENANCE CO $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $588.00 $588.00 0.00%

E 100-41940-405  MISCELLANEOUS $14,454.59 $7,416.79 $2,738.30 $2,607.00 $2,607.00 0.00%

E 100-41940-510  C.O.(LAND & BLD. - 804) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

15



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 4

09/13/23 12:02 PM

$80,671.94 $50,460.30 $31,369.69 $46,927.00 $48,715.00GENERAL GOVERNMENT BUILDING

LEGAL SERVICES

E 100-41600-304  CIVIL, LEGAL (K&G) $14,697.10 $13,237.88 $5,153.77 $18,806.00 $30,000.00 59.52%

E 100-41600-306  PROSECUTION (C&C) $20,378.99 $17,630.93 $9,651.20 $19,000.00 $22,945.00 20.76%

E 100-41600-312  CODIFICATION OF ORDINAN $2,080.96 $6,050.48 $4,269.89 $2,709.00 $2,709.00 0.00%

E 100-41600-405  MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $625.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$37,157.05 $37,544.29 $19,074.86 $40,515.00 $55,654.00LEGAL SERVICES

LEGISLATIVE

E 100-41000-100  MAYOR'S SALARY $165.90 $0.00 $0.00 $3,623.00 $3,731.00 2.98%

E 100-41000-103  COUNCIL SALARIES $10,200.00 $11,730.00 $5,865.00 $8,694.00 $8,955.00 3.00%

E 100-41000-122  FICA(6.2) MEDICARE (1.45) $780.32 $897.36 $448.71 $942.00 $970.00 2.97%

E 100-41000-331  CONFERENCE & TRAVEL $2,917.24 $2,405.09 $3,277.45 $9,734.00 $9,734.00 0.00%

E 100-41000-360  WORKERS COMP INSURANC $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 100-41000-361  INSURANCE $1,549.77 $1,741.44 $2,372.70 $1,708.00 $2,491.00 45.84%

E 100-41000-405  MISCELLANEOUS $67.05 $289.98 $24.00 $252.00 $252.00 0.00%

E 100-41000-433  DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS $477.63 $1,134.65 $542.35 $1,785.00 $1,785.00 0.00%

$16,157.91 $18,198.52 $12,530.21 $26,738.00 $27,918.00LEGISLATIVE

PARK MAINTENANCE

E 100-45300-210  OPERATING SUPPLIES/MTN $65.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,176.00 $1,176.00 0.00%

E 100-45300-220  MAINT.&REPAIR SUPPLIES ( $618.55 $1,223.24 $0.00 $6,909.00 $12,500.00 80.92%

E 100-45300-230  EQUIPMENT PURCHASES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $609.00 $3,109.00 410.51%

E 100-45300-310  OTHER CONSULTING EXPEN $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $609.00 $609.00 0.00%

E 100-45300-361  INSURANCE $4,212.76 $4,734.11 $5,931.75 $4,644.00 $6,228.00 34.11%

E 100-45300-380  ELECTRIC & GAS UTILITIES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $680.00 $680.00 0.00%

E 100-45300-405  MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $252.00 $252.00 0.00%

$4,896.31 $5,957.35 $5,931.75 $14,879.00 $24,554.00PARK MAINTENANCE

PLANNING AND ZONING

E 100-41900-307  PLANNER CONTRACT $39,644.00 $36,356.00 $27,328.80 $37,908.00 $39,803.00 5.00%

E 100-41900-311  WATER RESOURCE STAFF FE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 100-41900-360  WORKERS COMP INSURANC $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 100-41900-361  INSURANCE $5,380.55 $6,047.42 $7,513.55 $5,933.00 $5,933.00 0.00%

E 100-41900-405  MISCELLANEOUS $532.36 $368.00 $6.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$45,556.91 $42,771.42 $34,848.35 $43,841.00 $45,736.00PLANNING AND ZONING

PUBLIC SAFETY

E 100-42000-405  MISCELLANEOUS $12,945.67 $3,706.31 $950.00 $1,292.00 $1,292.00 0.00%

E 100-42000-440  POLICE CONTRACT $1,173,007.00 $1,314,399.00 $1,190,754.04 $1,479,622.00 $1,550,160.00 4.77%

E 100-42000-442  PRISONER BOOKING $318.78 $1,156.06 $673.22 $1,785.00 $1,785.00 0.00%

16



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 5

09/13/23 12:02 PM

E 100-42000-450  FIRE PROTECTION $396,871.60 $377,388.37 $293,381.30 $419,625.00 $398,055.00 -5.14%

E 100-42000-461  BUILDING CODE SURCHARG $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$1,583,143.05 $1,696,649.74 $1,485,758.56 $1,902,324.00 $1,951,292.00PUBLIC SAFETY

PUBLIC WORKS

E 100-43100-101  WAGES (FULL-TIME) $179,650.04 $181,454.29 $140,607.62 $130,798.00 $138,760.00 6.09%

E 100-43100-102  WAGES (PART-TIME) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-121  PERA $13,193.86 $13,914.49 $11,100.41 $9,810.00 $10,407.00 6.09%

E 100-43100-122  FICA(6.2) MEDICARE (1.45) $13,577.40 $14,727.26 $11,664.07 $10,006.00 $10,615.00 6.09%

E 100-43100-131  CITY PAID BENEFIT ALLOWA $27,136.46 $36,112.25 $22,931.43 $28,875.00 $30,752.00 6.50%

E 100-43100-210  OPERATING SUPPLIES/MTN $14,689.16 $1,413.35 $1,030.76 $714.00 $1,000.00 40.06%

E 100-43100-212  VEHICLE OPER.SUPPLIES(FU $12,701.78 $36,903.28 $14,465.69 $25,820.00 $25,820.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-217  SIGNS $3,756.37 $5,428.21 $1,331.08 $7,035.00 $7,035.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-218  UNIFORMS $4,245.26 $1,570.81 $3,784.37 $4,200.00 $4,200.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-219  CULVERTS $0.00 $5,139.50 $7,483.00 $5,565.00 $5,565.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-220  MAINT.&REPAIR SUPPLIES ( $19,530.77 $20,542.76 $32,635.79 $25,620.00 $30,000.00 17.10%

E 100-43100-223  MAINT.& REPAIR SUPPLIES( $5,513.48 $8,853.84 $5,669.89 $5,324.00 $5,324.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-224  ROAD MAINT.MATERIALS(O $48,249.18 $40,442.50 $53,893.88 $77,994.00 $77,994.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-226  BLACKTOP MAINTENANCE $60,290.00 $19,100.90 $8,256.33 $48,699.00 $50,000.00 2.67%

E 100-43100-227  EQUIPMENT RENTAL CONTR $0.00 $590.29 $0.00 $1,145.00 $2,500.00 118.34%

E 100-43100-240  SMALL TOOLS & MINOR EQU $522.20 $151.43 $131.97 $368.00 $368.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-303  ENGINEERING $6,021.00 $46,128.50 $11,323.43 $10,416.00 $10,416.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-321  COMMUNICATIONS (TELEPH $7,631.18 $6,544.40 $3,397.06 $7,600.00 $7,600.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-331  CONFERENCE & TRAVEL $570.98 $0.00 $525.00 $1,176.00 $1,176.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-350  PRINTING & PUBLICATIONS $287.80 $0.00 $0.00 $3,896.00 $0.00 -100.00%

E 100-43100-360  WORKERS COMP INSURANC $6,416.80 $7,063.60 $11,366.94 $7,411.00 $12,504.00 68.72%

E 100-43100-361  INSURANCE $8,414.61 $9,456.45 $11,863.50 $9,277.00 $12,457.00 34.28%

E 100-43100-380  ELECTRIC & GAS UTILITIES $6,043.10 $5,721.98 $5,230.84 $11,288.00 $11,288.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-381  STREET LIGHTING $5,337.77 $6,422.47 $2,911.89 $3,245.00 $6,500.00 100.31%

E 100-43100-384  GARBAGE PICK-UP $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $536.00 $536.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-405  MISCELLANEOUS $832.15 $560.56 $43.00 $294.00 $294.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-407  SNOW REMOVAL-MATERIALS $27,853.16 $21,856.57 $4,758.96 $31,343.00 $31,343.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-408  DUST CONTROL $67,839.50 $69,854.30 $84,235.06 $79,118.00 $82,000.00 3.64%

E 100-43100-412  BRUSH & TREE REMOVAL $17,623.75 $14,025.00 $5,600.00 $16,706.00 $16,706.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-413  SALES/FUEL TAX & LICENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $578.00 $578.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-415  SAC CHARGES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $620.00 $620.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-418  WEED CONTROL $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $3,339.00 $3,339.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-420  GOPHER STATE ONE-CALL $1,577.05 $1,324.60 $678.70 $2,132.00 $2,132.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-421  SEAL COATING $43,015.00 $50,000.00 $0.00 $52,500.00 $60,000.00 14.29%

E 100-43100-422  ROAD TILING $37,901.20 $0.00 $0.00 $52,500.00 $60,000.00 14.29%

17



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 6

09/13/23 12:02 PM

E 100-43100-430  SAFETY PROGRAM (AWAIR, $0.00 $365.00 $0.00 $2,132.00 $3,500.00 64.17%

E 100-43100-433  DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $693.00 $693.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-500  Capital Outlay $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-550  C.O. (ROAD IMPROV. - 802) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $55,000.00 $0.00 -100.00%

E 100-43100-570  CAPITAL OUTLAY (EQUIPME $58,455.21 $104,518.00 $84,514.84 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 100-43100-720  TRANSFERS OUT $60,000.00 $60,000.00 $41,200.00 $61,800.00 $113,055.00 82.94%

$758,876.22 $790,186.59 $582,635.51 $795,573.00 $837,077.00PUBLIC WORKS

RECREATION

E 100-45100-120  COMMUNITY EVENT CONTRI $4,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $7,466.00 $7,466.00 0.00%

$4,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $7,466.00 $7,466.00RECREATION

SOLID WASTE (LAND & RECYCLING)

E 100-43200-383  RECYCLING EXPENSES $74,099.28 $71,369.18 $42,890.21 $72,293.00 $100,000.00 38.33%

E 100-43200-405  MISCELLANEOUS $119.25 $600.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 100-43200-410  EQUIPMENT RENTAL $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 100-43200-411  CLEAN-UP DAY $11,843.43 $11,400.00 $12,972.50 $12,500.00 $15,000.00 20.00%

$86,061.96 $83,369.18 $55,862.71 $84,793.00 $115,000.00SOLID WASTE (LAND & RECYCLING)

TRANSFER OUT

E 100-49300-720  TRANSFERS OUT $68,770.00 $266,669.00 $25,370.00 $38,055.00 $0.00 -100.00%

$68,770.00 $266,669.00 $25,370.00 $38,055.00 $0.00TRANSFER OUT

UNALLOCATED INSURANCE

E 100-49240-375  CLAIM DEDUCTIBLE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $620.00 $620.00 0.00%

E 100-49240-620  AGENCY FEES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $2,226.00 $2,226.00 0.00%

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $2,846.00 $2,846.00UNALLOCATED INSURANCE

$7,020,728.71 $7,522,388.71 $4,983,423.02 $7,523,360.00 $7,950,632.00100 GENERAL FUND

18



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 7

09/13/23 12:02 PM

200 WATER RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT

R 200-31010  AD VALOREM TAXES $61,111.01 $61,085.25 $33,771.80 $64,418.00 $67,639.00 5.00%

R 200-31020  DELINQUENT TAXES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 200-31040  FISCAL DISPARITIES $2,651.96 $2,742.89 $1,205.78 $3,318.00 $3,484.00 5.00%

R 200-34103  ZONING/SUBDIVISION FEE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 200-34108  ADMINISTRATIVE CHARGES/REI $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 200-36210  INTEREST EARNINGS $52.46 $430.99 $627.28 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 200-36230  MISC REVENUE/REFUNDS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 200-36261  EVENT REVENUES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 200-39200  TRANSFERS IN (GENERAL FUND) $0.00 $5,548.29 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$63,815.43 $69,807.42 $35,604.86 $67,736.00 $71,123.00

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

E 200-41920-303  ENGINEERING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 200-41920-309  PIONEER-SARAH WATERSHE $47,477.00 $47,516.96 $47,966.67 $51,975.00 $54,574.00 5.00%

E 200-41920-310  OTHER CONSULTING EXPEN $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,145.00 $1,202.00 4.98%

E 200-41920-320  WATER RESOURCE STAFF $19,184.37 $13,288.30 $4,803.00 $2,289.00 $2,403.00 4.98%

E 200-41920-350  PRINTING & PUBLICATIONS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $850.00 $893.00 5.06%

E 200-41920-433  DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS $530.00 $530.00 $560.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 200-41920-570  CAPITAL OUTLAY (EQUIPME $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $11,477.00 $12,051.00 5.00%

$67,191.37 $61,335.26 $53,329.67 $67,736.00 $71,123.00ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

$131,006.80 $131,142.68 $88,934.53 $135,472.00 $142,246.00200 WATER RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT

19



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 8

09/13/23 12:02 PM

201 COVID RELIEF FUND

R 201-33100  FEDERAL GRANT $0.00 $97,899.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 201-33400  STATE GRANT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 201-33620  COUNTY GRANTS & AID (OTHER) $53,179.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 201-39200  TRANSFERS IN (GENERAL FUND) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$53,179.00 $97,899.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

CITY CLERK/FINANCE

E 201-41500-102  WAGES (PART-TIME) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 201-41500-121  PERA $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 201-41500-122  FICA(6.2) MEDICARE (1.45) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 201-41500-131  CITY PAID BENEFIT ALLOWA $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 201-41500-200  OFFICE SUPPLIES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 201-41500-210  OPERATING SUPPLIES/MTN $2,772.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 201-41500-321  COMMUNICATIONS (TELEPH $1,355.90 $1,149.31 $606.08 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 201-41500-350  PRINTING & PUBLICATIONS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 201-41500-405  MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 201-41500-480  COVID 19 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 201-41500-560  CAPITAL OUTLAY (OFFICE E $46,824.63 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$50,952.53 $1,149.31 $606.08 $0.00 $0.00CITY CLERK/FINANCE

GENERAL GOVERNMENT BUILDING

E 201-41940-321  COMMUNICATIONS (TELEPH $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 201-41940-401  MAINT.&REPAIR BLD CONTR $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 201-41940-405  MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 201-41940-510  C.O.(LAND & BLD. - 804) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00GENERAL GOVERNMENT BUILDING

LEGISLATIVE

E 201-41000-131  CITY PAID BENEFIT ALLOWA $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 201-41000-405  MISCELLANEOUS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 201-41000-480  COVID 19 $426.35 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 201-41000-810  REFUND & REIMBURSEMENT -$224.20 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$202.15 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00LEGISLATIVE

PUBLIC SAFETY

E 201-42000-440  POLICE CONTRACT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 201-42000-720  TRANSFERS OUT $0.00 $67,899.00 $30,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$0.00 $67,899.00 $30,000.00 $0.00 $0.00PUBLIC SAFETY

20



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 9

09/13/23 12:02 PM

PUBLIC WORKS

E 201-43100-223  MAINT.& REPAIR SUPPLIES( $2,025.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$2,025.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00PUBLIC WORKS

SEWER

E 201-49450-102  WAGES (PART-TIME) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 201-49450-121  PERA $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 201-49450-122  FICA(6.2) MEDICARE (1.45) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00SEWER

$106,358.68 $166,947.31 $30,606.08 $0.00 $0.00201 COVID RELIEF FUND

21



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 10

09/13/23 12:02 PM

202 LAWFUL GAMBLING FUND

R 202-36210  INTEREST EARNINGS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 202-36231  DONATIONS $953.19 $1,596.85 $1,936.82 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 202-39201  TRANSFERS IN $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$953.19 $1,596.85 $1,936.82 $0.00 $0.00

PARK MAINTENANCE

E 202-45300-490  CONTRIBUTIONS/DONATION $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00PARK MAINTENANCE

$953.19 $1,596.85 $1,936.82 $0.00 $0.00202 LAWFUL GAMBLING FUND

22



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 11

09/13/23 12:02 PM

309 DEBT SERV PUB SAF BLD 01

R 309-31010  AD VALOREM TAXES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 309-36210  INTEREST EARNINGS $76.03 $765.44 $525.46 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$76.03 $765.44 $525.46 $0.00 $0.00

DEBT SERVICE

E 309-47000-601  BOND PRINCIPAL $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 309-47000-611  INTEREST EXPENSE (Loan) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 309-47000-620  AGENCY FEES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 309-47000-720  TRANSFERS OUT $0.00 $71,791.08 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$0.00 $71,791.08 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00DEBT SERVICE

$76.03 $72,556.52 $525.46 $0.00 $0.00309 DEBT SERV PUB SAF BLD 01

23



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 12

09/13/23 12:02 PM

311 DRAKE DR. ROAD IMPROVEMENT

R 311-36210  INTEREST EARNINGS $12.54 $10.89 $7.48 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$12.54 $10.89 $7.48 $0.00 $0.00

DEBT SERVICE

E 311-47000-720  TRANSFERS OUT $10,708.87 $1,020.98 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$10,708.87 $1,020.98 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00DEBT SERVICE

$10,721.41 $1,031.87 $7.48 $0.00 $0.00311 DRAKE DR. ROAD IMPROVEMENT

24



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 13

09/13/23 12:02 PM

312 GEO CERT. 2007 A.

R 312-36210  INTEREST EARNINGS $40.43 $0.34 $0.24 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$40.43 $0.34 $0.24 $0.00 $0.00

DEBT SERVICE

E 312-47000-720  TRANSFERS OUT $37,748.97 $32.90 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$37,748.97 $32.90 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00DEBT SERVICE

$37,789.40 $33.24 $0.24 $0.00 $0.00312 GEO CERT. 2007 A.

25



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 14

09/13/23 12:02 PM

314 2015A- GO BOND

R 314-31010  AD VALOREM TAXES $175,363.00 $177,463.00 $89,729.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 314-36210  INTEREST EARNINGS $120.06 $1,019.07 $1,404.44 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$175,483.06 $178,482.07 $91,133.44 $0.00 $0.00

DEBT SERVICE

E 314-47000-304  CIVIL, LEGAL (K&G) $0.00 $0.00 $475.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 314-47000-601  BOND PRINCIPAL $150,000.00 $150,000.00 $155,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 314-47000-611  INTEREST EXPENSE (Loan) $18,512.50 $15,512.50 $12,462.50 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 314-47000-620  AGENCY FEES $475.00 $475.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$168,987.50 $165,987.50 $167,937.50 $0.00 $0.00DEBT SERVICE

STREETS AND HIGHWAYS

E 314-43121-620  AGENCY FEES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00STREETS AND HIGHWAYS

$344,470.56 $344,469.57 $259,070.94 $0.00 $0.00314 2015A- GO BOND

26



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 15

09/13/23 12:02 PM

315 2020A-GO Bond

R 315-31010  AD VALOREM TAXES $122,895.00 $121,792.00 $60,345.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 315-36210  INTEREST EARNINGS $27.29 $668.76 $332.43 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 315-39310  BOND PROCEEDS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$122,922.29 $122,460.76 $60,677.43 $0.00 $0.00

DEBT SERVICE

E 315-47000-304  CIVIL, LEGAL (K&G) $0.00 $0.00 $495.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 315-47000-601  BOND PRINCIPAL $0.00 $35,000.00 $35,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 315-47000-611  INTEREST EXPENSE (Loan) $93,437.30 $81,517.50 $80,467.50 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 315-47000-621  ISSUANCE COSTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$93,437.30 $116,517.50 $115,962.50 $0.00 $0.00DEBT SERVICE

$216,359.59 $238,978.26 $176,639.93 $0.00 $0.00315 2020A-GO Bond

27



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 16

09/13/23 12:02 PM

401 BUILDINGS CAPITAL IMPRMT FUND

R 401-36210  INTEREST EARNINGS $111.81 $1,109.87 $2,213.92 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$111.81 $1,109.87 $2,213.92 $0.00 $0.00

GENERAL GOVERNMENT BUILDING

E 401-41940-103  COUNCIL SALARIES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 401-41940-530  CAPITAL OUTLAY (CONST.) $1,290.32 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 401-41940-580  CAPITAL OUTLAY (BUILDING $1,513.95 $219.95 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$2,804.27 $219.95 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00GENERAL GOVERNMENT BUILDING

$2,916.08 $1,329.82 $2,213.92 $0.00 $0.00401 BUILDINGS CAPITAL IMPRMT FUND

28



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 17

09/13/23 12:02 PM

402 ROAD CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS FUND

R 402-36210  INTEREST EARNINGS $13.98 $662.95 $3,197.02 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 402-39203  TRANSFER IN $48,457.84 $26,422.48 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$48,471.82 $27,085.43 $3,197.02 $0.00 $0.00

SEWER

E 402-49450-303  ENGINEERING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 402-49450-304  CIVIL, LEGAL (K&G) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 402-49450-350  PRINTING & PUBLICATIONS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 402-49450-530  CAPITAL OUTLAY (CONST.) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 402-49450-620  AGENCY FEES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00SEWER

$48,471.82 $27,085.43 $3,197.02 $0.00 $0.00402 ROAD CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS FUND

29



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 18

09/13/23 12:02 PM

403 EQUIPMENT CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS

R 403-36210  INTEREST EARNINGS $74.16 $2,697.81 $7,065.56 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 403-39200  TRANSFERS IN (GENERAL FUND) $128,770.00 $155,192.48 $66,570.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$128,844.16 $157,890.29 $73,635.56 $0.00 $0.00

PUBLIC WORKS

E 403-43100-590  CAPITAL OUTLAY (COMPUTE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00PUBLIC WORKS

$128,844.16 $157,890.29 $73,635.56 $0.00 $0.00403 EQUIPMENT CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS

30



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 19

09/13/23 12:02 PM

404 ADMIN. CAPITAL FUND

R 404-36210  INTEREST EARNINGS $89.49 $900.93 $1,799.39 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 404-39200  TRANSFERS IN (GENERAL FUND) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$89.49 $900.93 $1,799.39 $0.00 $0.00

STREETS AND HIGHWAYS

E 404-43121-303  ENGINEERING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 404-43121-304  CIVIL, LEGAL (K&G) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 404-43121-310  OTHER CONSULTING EXPEN $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 404-43121-530  CAPITAL OUTLAY (CONST.) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 404-43121-720  TRANSFERS OUT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00STREETS AND HIGHWAYS

$89.49 $900.93 $1,799.39 $0.00 $0.00404 ADMIN. CAPITAL FUND

31



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 20

09/13/23 12:02 PM

405 PARK FUND

R 405-34780  PARK DEDICATION FEES $47,930.50 $48,725.00 $193,288.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 405-36210  INTEREST EARNINGS $132.92 $2,127.96 $5,839.04 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 405-36230  MISC REVENUE/REFUNDS $401.75 -$401.75 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$48,465.17 $50,451.21 $199,127.04 $0.00 $0.00

RECREATION

E 405-45100-720  TRANSFERS OUT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00RECREATION

$48,465.17 $50,451.21 $199,127.04 $0.00 $0.00405 PARK FUND

32



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 21

09/13/23 12:02 PM

414 2015 STREET IMPROVEMENT

R 414-36210  INTEREST EARNINGS $39.59 $398.40 $795.75 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$39.59 $398.40 $795.75 $0.00 $0.00

$39.59 $398.40 $795.75 $0.00 $0.00414 2015 STREET IMPROVEMENT

33



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 22

09/13/23 12:02 PM

415 2020 STREET IMPROVEMENT

R 415-34103  ZONING/SUBDIVISION FEE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 415-36210  INTEREST EARNINGS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 415-39200  TRANSFERS IN (GENERAL FUND) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 415-39300  Bond proceeds $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 415-39310  BOND PROCEEDS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 415-39320  PREMIUM ON BONDS SOLD $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

DEBT SERVICE

E 415-47000-621  ISSUANCE COSTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00DEBT SERVICE

GENERAL GOVERNMENT BUILDING

E 415-41940-304  CIVIL, LEGAL (K&G) $495.00 $495.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 415-41940-308  ARCHITECTURE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 415-41940-601  BOND PRINCIPAL $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 415-41940-611  INTEREST EXPENSE (Loan) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$495.00 $495.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00GENERAL GOVERNMENT BUILDING

PUBLIC WORKS

E 415-43100-303  ENGINEERING $86.00 $3,475.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 415-43100-530  CAPITAL OUTLAY (CONST.) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 415-43100-720  TRANSFERS OUT $0.00 $100,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$86.00 $103,475.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00PUBLIC WORKS

$581.00 $103,970.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00415 2020 STREET IMPROVEMENT

34



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 23

09/13/23 12:02 PM

416 CITY HALL REMODEL

R 416-36210  INTEREST EARNINGS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 416-37200  TRANSFERS IN (GENERAL FUND) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 416-39200  TRANSFERS IN (GENERAL FUND) $0.00 $295,798.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 416-39310  BOND PROCEEDS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 416-39320  PREMIUM ON BONDS SOLD $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$0.00 $295,798.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

DEBT SERVICE

E 416-47000-621  ISSUANCE COSTS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00DEBT SERVICE

GENERAL GOVERNMENT BUILDING

E 416-41940-303  ENGINEERING $9,691.80 $26,484.51 $10,388.57 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 416-41940-308  ARCHITECTURE $1,387,431.76 $723,375.17 $337.50 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$1,397,123.56 $749,859.68 $10,726.07 $0.00 $0.00GENERAL GOVERNMENT BUILDING

PUBLIC WORKS

E 416-43100-530  CAPITAL OUTLAY (CONST.) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 416-43100-580  CAPITAL OUTLAY (BUILDING $570,084.27 $625.91 $52,908.08 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$570,084.27 $625.91 $52,908.08 $0.00 $0.00PUBLIC WORKS

$1,967,207.83 $1,046,283.59 $63,634.15 $0.00 $0.00416 CITY HALL REMODEL

35



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 24

09/13/23 12:02 PM

430 CITY PROJECTS AGENCY FUND

R 430-34116  NON REFUNDABLE DEPOSIT $29,500.00 $43,100.00 $168,157.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 430-39201  TRANSFERS IN $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 430-39999  Prior Period Adjustment $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$29,500.00 $43,100.00 $168,157.00 $0.00 $0.00

PLANNING AND ZONING

E 430-41900-303  ENGINEERING $0.00 $31,961.50 $122,208.52 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 430-41900-304  CIVIL, LEGAL (K&G) $0.00 $5,122.22 $10,639.34 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 430-41900-307  PLANNER CONTRACT $36,146.25 $42,616.00 $32,040.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 430-41900-310  OTHER CONSULTING EXPEN $0.00 $14,132.64 $21,680.25 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 430-41900-311  WATER RESOURCE STAFF FE $174.50 $10,767.23 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 430-41900-720  TRANSFERS OUT $0.00 $7,709.89 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 430-41900-810  REFUND & REIMBURSEMENT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 430-41900-999  PRIOR PERIOD ADJ. $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$36,320.75 $112,309.48 $186,568.11 $0.00 $0.00PLANNING AND ZONING

$65,820.75 $155,409.48 $354,725.11 $0.00 $0.00430 CITY PROJECTS AGENCY FUND

36



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 25

09/13/23 12:02 PM

602 SEWER FUND

R 602-31010  AD VALOREM TAXES $12,272.00 $15,569.00 $6,675.50 $12,886.00 $16,382.00 27.13%

R 602-31040  FISCAL DISPARITIES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 602-34108  ADMINISTRATIVE CHARGES/REI $0.00 $275.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 602-34401  SEWER CONNECTION CHARGE $28,650.00 $16,850.56 $3,860.00 $13,860.00 $14,553.00 5.00%

R 602-34408  USER AVAIL. CHG. $47,590.54 $21,209.16 $15,377.24 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 602-34410  SEWER COMPLIANCE CHARGE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 602-36100  SPECIAL ASSESS/INT (CTY. PYMT $29,768.42 $26,316.64 $33,626.44 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 602-36101  PRINCIPLE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 602-36210  INTEREST EARNINGS $246.07 $4,073.86 $9,031.46 $0.00 $10,000.00 0.00%

R 602-36230  MISC REVENUE/REFUNDS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 602-37200  TRANSFERS IN (GENERAL FUND) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 602-37210  COLLECTION & GRAVITY LINE $223,063.30 $229,574.80 $102,669.37 $218,400.00 $229,320.00 5.00%

R 602-37220  RESIDENTIAL CLUSTER $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 602-37230  ON-SITE SYSTEMS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 602-37240  CLUSTER MOUND $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 602-37250  COMMERCIAL $17,687.53 $17,131.61 $9,268.86 $17,850.00 $18,743.00 5.00%

R 602-37260  SALE OF FIXED ASSETS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 602-37270  DEL UTILITIES - CITY PYMT $477.39 $998.81 $118.78 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 602-37600  STREET TO HOUSE CONNECT $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 602-39203  TRANSFER IN $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 602-39999  Prior Period Adjustment $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$359,755.25 $331,999.44 $180,627.65 $262,996.00 $288,998.00

SEWER

E 602-49450-101  WAGES (FULL-TIME) $50,613.86 $48,619.91 $23,333.37 $99,677.00 $105,745.00 6.09%

E 602-49450-121  PERA $206.18 $3,194.62 $2,142.50 $7,476.00 $7,931.00 6.09%

E 602-49450-122  FICA(6.2) MEDICARE (1.45) $3,939.40 $3,258.47 $2,185.37 $7,625.00 $8,090.00 6.10%

E 602-49450-131  CITY PAID BENEFIT ALLOWA $15,525.11 $23,608.34 $16,774.95 $22,605.00 $24,074.00 6.50%

E 602-49450-210  OPERATING SUPPLIES/MTN $0.00 $6,126.13 $1,400.00 $19,243.00 $19,243.00 0.00%

E 602-49450-301  AUDITING FEES $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $1,113.00 $1,113.00 0.00%

E 602-49450-303  ENGINEERING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 602-49450-304  CIVIL, LEGAL (K&G) $0.00 $0.00 $475.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 602-49450-310  OTHER CONSULTING EXPEN $748.38 $2,350.92 $1,070.01 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 0.00%

E 602-49450-331  CONFERENCE & TRAVEL $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 602-49450-360  WORKERS COMP INSURANC $641.68 $706.36 $1,196.52 $706.00 $1,316.00 86.40%

E 602-49450-361  INSURANCE $936.41 $1,052.14 $1,186.35 $983.00 $1,246.00 26.75%

E 602-49450-375  CLAIM DEDUCTIBLE $0.00 $500.00 $0.00 $2,264.00 $2,264.00 0.00%

37



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 26

09/13/23 12:02 PM

E 602-49450-380  ELECTRIC & GAS UTILITIES $21,326.37 $37,823.60 $17,307.31 $26,500.00 $26,500.00 0.00%

E 602-49450-401  MAINT.&REPAIR BLD CONTR $210.00 $1,209.85 $0.00 $23,100.00 $23,100.00 0.00%

E 602-49450-404  MAINT.&REPAIR EQUIP.(CO $2,120.71 $16,162.50 $14,382.00 $22,953.00 $22,953.00 0.00%

E 602-49450-405  MISCELLANEOUS $530.00 $3,016.40 $2,465.64 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 602-49450-414  METRO COUNCIL-ENVIRON.( $40,851.36 $56,501.78 $39,175.60 $49,741.00 $49,741.00 0.00%

E 602-49450-415  SAC CHARGES $2,485.00 $14,934.85 $2,485.00 $44,100.00 $44,100.00 0.00%

E 602-49450-416  DEPRECIATION $131,933.17 $124,522.37 $87,955.36 $131,932.00 $131,932.00 0.00%

E 602-49450-417  LICENSES & PERMITS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 602-49450-433  DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS $1,690.00 $0.00 $840.00 $100.00 $100.00 0.00%

E 602-49450-560  CAPITAL OUTLAY (OFFICE E $270.00 $0.00 $0.00 $835.00 $835.00 0.00%

E 602-49450-570  CAPITAL OUTLAY (EQUIPME $15,820.99 $7,145.00 $22,360.00 $588.00 $588.00 0.00%

E 602-49450-601  BOND PRINCIPAL $0.00 $0.00 $65,000.00 $65,000.00 $65,000.00 0.00%

E 602-49450-611  INTEREST EXPENSE (Loan) $11,775.00 $8,365.00 $7,928.75 $7,929.00 $5,816.00 -26.65%

E 602-49450-620  AGENCY FEES $575.00 $575.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 602-49450-999  PRIOR PERIOD ADJ. $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$302,198.62 $359,673.24 $309,663.73 $537,470.00 $544,687.00SEWER

$661,953.87 $691,672.68 $490,291.38 $800,466.00 $833,685.00602 SEWER FUND

38



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 27

09/13/23 12:02 PM

999 CONVERSION FUND

R 999-31010  AD VALOREM TAXES -$5,856.50 -$1,926.43 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

R 999-39310  BOND PROCEEDS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

-$5,856.50 -$1,926.43 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

CITY CLERK/FINANCE

E 999-41500-101  WAGES (FULL-TIME) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 999-41500-102  WAGES (PART-TIME) $2,022.00 -$4,772.25 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 999-41500-500  Capital Outlay -$43,166.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

-$41,144.00 -$4,772.25 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00CITY CLERK/FINANCE

COMMUNITY SERVICE

E 999-45200-416  DEPRECIATION $2,911.64 $1,832.87 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$2,911.64 $1,832.87 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00COMMUNITY SERVICE

DEBT SERVICE

E 999-47000-601  BOND PRINCIPAL -$150,000.00 -$187,479.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 999-47000-602  LEASE/PURCHASE (COPIER) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 999-47000-611  INTEREST EXPENSE (Loan) $0.00 -$1,688.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 999-47000-625  AMORITIZATION EXPENSE -$10,431.24 -$10,431.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

-$160,431.24 -$199,598.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00DEBT SERVICE

GENERAL GOVERNMENT BUILDING

E 999-41940-510  C.O.(LAND & BLD. - 804) $0.00 -$746,843.75 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$0.00 -$746,843.75 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00GENERAL GOVERNMENT BUILDING

LEGISLATIVE

E 999-41000-416  DEPRECIATION $29,844.52 $30,208.32 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$29,844.52 $30,208.32 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00LEGISLATIVE

PUBLIC SAFETY

E 999-42000-101  WAGES (FULL-TIME) $244.00 $2,605.65 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 999-42000-416  DEPRECIATION $37,232.74 $36,869.59 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 999-42000-626  CHANGE IN JOINT VENTURE $19,554.90 -$17,538.90 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$57,031.64 $21,936.34 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00PUBLIC SAFETY

PUBLIC WORKS

E 999-43100-101  WAGES (FULL-TIME) $82.00 -$157.42 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 999-43100-416  DEPRECIATION $217,394.98 $209,288.01 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 999-43100-500  Capital Outlay -$2,018,198.83 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 999-43100-530  CAPITAL OUTLAY (CONST.) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

39



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 28

09/13/23 12:02 PM

-$1,800,721.85 $209,130.59 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00PUBLIC WORKS

SEWER

E 999-49450-101  WAGES (FULL-TIME) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

E 999-49450-500  Capital Outlay $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 0.00%

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00SEWER

-$1,918,365.79 -$690,032.31 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00999 CONVERSION FUND

40



Account Descr 2021 Amt 2022 Amt
2023

YTD Amt
2023

Budget
2024

Budget Comment

%Diff

from Cur
Yr 2023

Page 29

09/13/23 12:02 PM

$8,874,488.34 $10,024,504.53 $6,730,563.82 $8,459,298.00 $8,926,563.00

41



Windsong	Farm	Golf	Club	CUP	Amendment	Clubhouse	–	City	Council		 2023
	 	
	 Page	1	
 

City of Independence 
Request for an Amendement to the Conditional Use Permit for the  

Windsong Farm Golf Club Located at 18 Golf Walk 
 

To: City Council  

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 

Meeting Date: September 19, 2023 

Applicant: Windsong Farm Golf Club 

Owner: David Meyer 

Location: 18 Golf Walk 

 

Request: 
Jon Dailing/Windsong Farm Golf Club (Applicant) and David Meyer (Owner) are requesting 
the following action for the properties generally located at 18 Golf Walk and 550 CSAH 92 
N. (PID No.s 32-118- 24-13-0001, 32-118-24-42-0001, 32-118-24-24-0001, 32-118-24-31-
0002, 32-118-24-42-0030, 32-118-24-43-0002, 32-118-24-42-0031, 32-118-24-42-0029, 32-
118-24-42-0025, 32-118-24-42-0036, 32-118-24-34-0001 and 32-118-24-31-0001) in the 
City of Independence, MN: 
 

a. A conditional use permit amendment to allow the modification and expansion 
of the main club house building associated with the golf course. 

 
 
Property/Site Information: 
The subject property is located on the south side of County Road 6, just west of County Road 92.  The 
property is a golf course.  The properties have the following characteristics: 
 

Property Information18 Golf Walk   
 Zoning: Agriculture     
 Comprehensive Plan: Public/Semi-Public   

 
  

 

   



Windsong	Farm	Golf	Club	CUP	Amendment	Clubhouse	–	City	Council		 2023
	 	
	 Page	2	
 

Aerial Photograph of 18 Golf Walk (Primary Buildings) 

 
 
Discussion: 
Windsong Golf Club approached the City to discuss an expansion of the existing clubhouse, pro 
shop and locker room facilities.  Windsong has been planning to expand the facilities to better 
accommodate their current membership.  The proposed expansion consists of the following: 
 
 
 
 

EXISTING BUILDINGS TO  
BE EXPANDED 



Windsong	Farm	Golf	Club	CUP	Amendment	Clubhouse	–	City	Council		 2023
	 	
	 Page	3	
 

      Existing SF Proposed SF Total SF        
Golf Shop and Locker Room:    ~4,800  ~7,606  ~12,406 
 
Club House    ~10,300 ~2,205  ~12,505 
 
 

The expansion to the golf shop and locker room would provide for a significant expansion of the 
locker room on the main level.  The existing locker room does not accommodate the current or 
anticipated membership.  Also provided for with this portion of the expansion would be general 
storage as well as golf cart storage on the lower level. 
 
 
 

 
 
The expansion of the clubhouse would provide for an updated entrance and wine room and a 
lower level with additional restrooms, storage and terrace.  The clubhouse expansion would also 

Proposed Expansion Area 

PRO SHOP AND LOCKER ROOM 



Windsong	Farm	Golf	Club	CUP	Amendment	Clubhouse	–	City	Council		 2023
	 	
	 Page	4	
 

include the installation of an elevator.  There are several minor additions also included with the 
clubhouse expansion project that can be seen on the plans submitted to the City.  The general 
footprint of both buildings would continue to be contained within the same portion of the golf 
course site without disruption to the golf course, parking or existing trail. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
The proposed expansion of the existing buildings is in keeping with the permitted use for the golf 
course and associated facilities.  The proposed expansion is limited to the areas that are currently 
occupied by the facilities.  The expansion creates additional indoor storage and allows for the 

CLUBHOUSE 

Proposed Expansion Area 



Windsong	Farm	Golf	Club	CUP	Amendment	Clubhouse	–	City	Council		 2023
	 	
	 Page	5	
 

clubhouse to accommodate the current needs of the membership.  Membership of the club, 
including parking was recently accounted for with the north course expansion.   
 
In order to consider the expansion of the golf course facility to the subject property, an 
amendment to the conditional is necessary.   
 

520.09   Subd. 8. If a conditional use permit holder wishes to alter or extend the 
operation or to change the conditions of the permit, the city will evaluate the permit holder’s 
compliance with the existing permit conditions.  Any change involving structural alterations, 
enlargement, intensification of use, or similar change not specifically permitted by the 
conditional use permit issued requires an amended conditional use permit.  An amended 
conditional use permit application must be administered in a manner similar to that required 
for a new conditional use permit.  

 
Commercial golf courses are permitted as conditional uses in the AG - Agriculture zoning 
district.  The golf club has a conditional use permit that was originally approved in 2001 and 
amended in 2012 and 2013, 2016, 2021, 2022 and 2023.  The CUP allows two golf courses, their 
associated club house/pro shop, guest house and parking north of CSAH 6.  The initial Golf 
Course CUP was issued under 530.01, subd. 4(s) which makes "commercial golf course" a 
conditionally permitted use.   
 
Any amendment to an existing CUP must meet the same requirements established for granting a 
new CUP.  The criteria for granting a conditional use permit are clearly delineated in the City’s 
Zoning Ordinance (Section 520.11 subd. 1, a-i) as follows: 
 

1. The conditional use will not adversely affect the health, safety, morals and general 
welfare of occupants of surrounding lands. 

2. The proposed use will not have a detrimental effect on the use and enjoyment of other 
property in the immediate vicinity for the proposes already permitted or on the 
normal and orderly development and improvement of surrounding vacant property 
for uses predominant in the area. 

3. Existing roads and proposed access roads will be adequate to accommodate 
anticipated traffic. 

4. Sufficient off-street parking and loading space will be provided to serve the proposed 
use. 

5. The proposed conditional use can be adequately serviced by public utilities or on-site 
sewage treatment, and sufficient area of suitable soils for on-site sewage treatment is 
available to protect the city form pollution hazards. 

6. The proposal includes adequate provision for protection of natural drainage systems, 
natural topography, tree growth, water courses, wetlands, historic sites and similar 
ecological and environmental features. 

7. The proposal includes adequate measures to prevent or control offensive odor, fumes, 
dust, noise, or vibration so that none of these will constitute a nuisance. 



Windsong	Farm	Golf	Club	CUP	Amendment	Clubhouse	–	City	Council		 2023
	 	
	 Page	6	
 

8. The proposed condition use is consistent with the comprehensive plan of the City of 
Independence. 

9. The proposed use will not stimulate growth incompatible with prevailing density 
standards. 

 
The City will need to find that proposed expansion of the Pro shop, Clubhouse and Locker Room 
is consistent with the existing zoning.  In addition, the City will need to determine if the 
proposed amendment to the CUP meets the requirements for granting a conditional use permit.   
 
There are several items that should be noted: 
 

• The City is requesting that the applicant provide additional information relating to 
building, courtyard and terrace lighting to ensure compliance with applicable standards. 
 

• The proposed buildings and also existing buildings would be sided with masonry brick 
siding.  The applicant has provided the City with several illustrative images of the 
proposed building architecture and colors.   

 
The Planning Commission will need to determine if the requested amendment to the conditional 
use permit meets all of the aforementioned conditions and restrictions.   
 
 
Neighbor Comments: 

The City has not received any written comments regarding the proposed amendment to the 
conditional use permit. 

 

Planning Commission Discussion and Recommendation: 

Planning Commissioners reviewed the application and asked questions of staff and the applicant.  
Commissioners asked for clarification if there was a limit on membership.  The applicant noted 
that the membership was limited based on the number of rounds that the ownership would permit 
to be played annually.  It was also noted that the expansion of the locker room is something that 
has been needed for more than 10 years and that there are many current members without a locker 
room.  Commissioners asked if the clubhouse expansion would lead to additional events at the 
course.  It was noted by staff and the applicant that the clubhouse renovation was making interior 
modifications that provided for better function and enhanced amenities.  It was not going to provide 
for significantly larger events.  Commissioners asked if the additional bathroom facilities being 
added would create an issue with the existing septic system.  Staff noted that this is being reviewed 
and any changes would be addressed during the building permit review.  Commissioners found 
that the criteria for granting a conditional use permit amendment had been satisfied by the applicant 
and recommended approval to the City Council. 



Windsong	Farm	Golf	Club	CUP	Amendment	Clubhouse	–	City	Council		 2023
	 	
	 Page	7	
 

Recommendation: 

Planning Commission recommended approval of the request for an amendment to the conditional use 
permit with the following findings and conditions: 
 

1. The proposed conditional use permit amendment meets all applicable conditions 
and restrictions stated Chapter V, Section 510, Zoning, in the City of Independence 
Zoning Ordinance. 
 

2. Prior to the City granting a building permit for the proposed building expansions, 
the applicant shall complete the following items: 

 
a. Provide the City with a sanitary sewer plan for serving the proposed building. 

 
b. Provide the City with a lighting plan and cut sheets for any existing and 

proposed building lighting.  
 

3. The conditional use permit will be reviewed annually by the City to ensure 
conformance with the conditions set forth in the resolution. 

 
4. This amendment approves the expansion of the existing pro shop, locker rooms and 

clubhouse which is further defined on the approved plans and exhibits.  The 
following conditions should be added to the conditional use permit: 

 
a. This amendment approves the expansion of the existing training building in 

accordance with the approved plans attached hereto as EXHIBIT B.  
 

b. All lighting on the existing and proposed pro shop, locker rooms and clubhouse 
shall meet all applicable lighting ordinances of the City.  

 
5. The applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the review of the conditional 

use permit amendment application.   
 
 

Attachments: 
1. RESOLUTION No. 23-0919-05 
2. Application 
3. Proposed Building and Site Plans 
 

 



	

__________________________________________________________________________ 
763-479-0527 (Phone)                               1920 County Road 90                                   763-479-0528 (Fax) 

Independence, MN 55359 
www.ci.independence.mn.us 

	

RESOLUTION OF THE  
CITY OF INDEPENDENCE 

HENNEPIN COUNTY, MINNESOTA 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 23-0919-05 
 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING APPROVAL OF AN AMENDMENT TO THE  
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT FOR THE WINDSONG FARMS GOLF CLUB  

LOCATED AT 18 GOLF WALK  
 

WHEREAS, the City of Independence (the “City) is a municipal corporation under the 
laws of Minnesota; and 

WHEREAS, the City adopted a comprehensive plan in 2019 to guide the development of 
the community; and  

WHEREAS, the City has adopted a zoning ordinance and other official controls to assist 
in implementing the comprehensive plan; and  

WHEREAS, requested amendment to the Conditional Use Permit is consistent with the 
City of Independence comprehensive plan; and  

WHEREAS, Windsong Farm Golf Club (the “Applicant”) submitted a request for an 
amendment to the conditional use permit to allow the expansion of the pro shop, locker room and 
clubhouse buildings located on the club properties identified by (PID No.s 32-118- 24-13-0001, 
32-118-24-42-0001, 32-118-24-24-0001, 32-118-24-31-0002, 32-118-24-42-0030, 32-118-24-
43-0002, 32-118-24-42-0031, 32-118-24-42-0029, 32-118-24-42-0025, 32-118-24-42-0036, 32-
118-24-34-0001 and 32-118-24-31-0001) (the “Property”); and  

WHEREAS, the Property is zoned Agriculture; and 

WHEREAS, the Property is legally described on EXHIBIT A attached hereto; and 

WHEREAS the requested amendment to the Conditional Use Permit meets all 
requirements, standards and specifications of the City of Independence zoning ordinance for 
Agriculture property; and 

WHEREAS the Planning Commission held a public hearing on August 29, 2023 to 
review the application for an amendment to the Conditional Use Permit, following mailed and 
published noticed as required by law; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed all materials submitted by the Applicant; 
considered the oral and written testimony offered by the applicant and all interested parties; and 



	

 

has now concluded that the application is in compliance with all applicable standards and can be 
considered for approval; and  

WHEREAS, this amendment adds additional provisions to the previous Conditional Use 
Permit for this property and all previous conditions not being amended shall remain in force; and 

WHEREAS, Windsong Farm Golf Course is a private club with a defined membership 
that inherently restricts the use of the club and its facilities; and  

WHEREAS, the existing and proposed buildings/building expansion will be used solely 
by members of Windsong Farm Golf Club and their guests.   

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
INDEPENDENCE, MINNESOTA, that it should and hereby does approve the application by 
Windsong Farms Golf Club for an amendment to the conditional use permit per the City’s 
zoning regulations with the following conditions: 

 
1. The proposed conditional use permit and comprehensive plan amendment 

meets all applicable conditions and restrictions stated Chapter V, Section 510, 
Zoning, in the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance. 
 

2. Prior to the City granting a building permit for the proposed building 
expansion, the applicant shall complete the following items: 

 
a. Provide the City with a sanitary sewer plan for serving the proposed 

building. 
 

b. Provide the City with a lighting plan and cut sheets for any existing and 
proposed building lighting.  

 
3. The conditional use permit will be reviewed annually by the City to ensure 

conformance with the conditions set forth in the resolution. 
 

4. This amendment approves the expansion of the existing pro shop, locker 
rooms and clubhouse which is further defined on the approved plans and 
exhibits.  The following conditions should be added to the conditional use 
permit: 

 
a. This amendment approves the expansion of the existing training building 

in accordance with the approved plans attached hereto as EXHIBIT B.  
 

b. All lighting on the existing and proposed pro shop, locker rooms and 
clubhouse shall meet all applicable lighting ordinances of the City.  

 
5. The applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the review of the 

conditional use permit amendment application.   



	

 

 
6. The applicant shall record the resolution with Hennepin County following 

City Council approval. 
 
 
 
          This resolution was adopted by the City Council of the City of Independence on this 19th 
day of September, 2023, by a vote of ______ayes and ______nays. 
 

        
                                                                       
____________________________________ 

                                                            Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
 
 
           ATTEST: 
 
           _______________________________________ 
           Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



	

 

EXHIBIT A 
(Legal Description) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



	

 

EXHIBIT B 
(Approved Plans)	

	



Applicant Information Owner Information

Name: Jonathan Dailing

Address: 18 Golf Walk
Maple Plain, Minnesota 
55359

Primary Phone: 9527973727

Email: jdailing@wsfarm.com

Name: David Meyer

Address: 18 Golf Walk
Maple Plain, Minnesota 
55359

Primary Phone: 763-479-6524

Email: dmeyernd@gmail.com

Property Address:

PID:

Planning Application Type: Conditional Use Permit, Planning / Building

Description:

Supporting Documents: Site Survey (Existing Conditions), Site Survey (Proposed Conditions), Building Plans, 
Construction Plans, Preliminary/Final Plan

Signature:

Description: Windsong Farm golf club is proposing to amend its existing conditional use permit to allow the 
addition to the existing locker room and golf shop (4021 total square feet). The proposed addition would connect 
the two buildings providing more lockers, bag storage, office space, and a small deck on the main level. The 
basement would accommodate additional golf cart storage and additional storage.



Golf Shop & Locker Room



Golf Shop & Locker Room

Clubhouse

















UP

UP

LOCKER RM

1' - 0" 32' - 1" 1' - 0" 14' - 11" 1' - 0" 19' - 3" 1' - 2" 63' - 0" 1' - 0" 5' - 0"

2'
 -

 0
"

11
' -

 9
"

11
' -

 0
"

10
' -

 1
"

32
' -

 2
"

0'
 -

 8
"

22
' -

 0
"

38
' -

 7
"

16
' -

 4
"

1'
 -

 0
"

7'
 -

 0
"

1'
 -

 0
"

35
' -

 2
"

2' - 0"

139' - 5"

1' - 2"

8' - 0"

1' - 2"

19' - 8" 36' - 0" 19' - 8"

1' - 2"

8' - 0"

1' - 2"

A-13

1

A-13

2

A-13

3

UNISEX

TOILET

STORAGE

RAMP

LANDSCAPE RW

UNEXCAVATED

UNEXCAVATED

UNEXCAVATED

WINE ROOM

UNEXCAVATED

FROST 

FOOTING

MEN'S 

BATHROOM

LOCKERS

FP

RAMP

NEW NEW

NEW

LOCKERS

EL. +984.90

LADIE'S 

BATHROOM

MEN'S 

BATHROOM

LOCKERS

20' - 0" 7' - 2"

96' - 0"

8'
 -

 7
"

18
' -

 0
"

8'
 -

 7
"

10' - 4" 10' - 4"

6'
 -

 1
 1

/2
"

5'
 -

 0
"

5'
 -

 0
"

4'
 -

 0
"

5'
 -

 8
"

4'
 -

 5
 5

/8
"

11' - 4"

4' - 0" 5' - 0"

6'
 -

 0
"

3'
 -

 0
"

3'
 -

 0
"

12
' -

 4
"

0' - 9 1/2"

5' - 0" 4' - 0"

5'
 -

 0
"

16' - 3 3/4" 6' - 5 1/16"

32
' -

 1
0"

5' - 0" 5' - 0"

28' - 0" 40' - 0" 28' - 0"

4'
 -

 8
 7

/8
"

BRICK KNEE WALL

DATE:

REVISIONS:

JOB NO:

SHEET NO:

3
9

0
6

 Y
o

rk
 A

v
en

u
e 

S
o

u
th

M
in

n
ea

p
o

li
s,

 M
N

 5
5

4
1

0
 

P
H

O
N

E
 6

1
2

-3
3

2
-8

0
0

0
 F

A
X

 9
5

2
-9

4
1

-6
5

1
5

W
W

W
.K

N
U

T
S

O
N

-A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

S
.C

O
M

0
4

-0
5
-2

0
2

3
 2

2
:3

2
:0

5

A-8

-

28-04-2023

W
IN

D
S

O
N

G
 F

A
R

M
S

CLUBHOUSE
LOWER LEVEL
PLAN

1
8
 G

o
lf

 W
al

k
, 

M
ap

le
 P

la
in

, 
M

N
 5

5
3
5

9
,U

S
A

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

CLUB HOUSE LOWER LEVEL PLAN



DN

DN

UP

A

A-26

B

A-26

C

A-26

MEN'S

WOMEN'S

LIBRARY

BAR

JANITOR

ENTRY

KITCHEN

DINING

STONE CURB

KITCHEN

OFFICE

DINING 

ROOM

PATIO

COAT ROOM

HALLWAY

MEMBERS ROOM

GRILL 

ROOM

FIRE 

PLACE

FP

BBQ AREA

MOVABLE

WALL

"REUSE PORCH POST 

AND BEAMS"

CURB

REUSE PORCH POST AN 

BEAMS AND SCREENS

PRIVATE DINING 

18" HIGH  STONE WALL 18" HIGH  STONE WALL

HALL

OFFICE OFFICEOFFICEOFFICE

DROPPED SOFFIT

DN

WINE RACK

DN

GRASS

CONC. STOOP

EXISTING SOFFIT

EXISTING LANDSCAPE WALL

PATIO ADDITION

DN

EL. +994.65

EL. +994.65

EL. +992.5

EL. +994.65

EL. +992.5

DN DN

SCREENS

OPEN 

PORCH 

OPEN PORCH 

RAMP

POST

PATH

BBQ PATIO

A-13

4

A-13

5

A-4

1

POST

0' - 6 5/8"

20' - 0 3/16"

0' - 6"

6' - 2"

0' - 6"

2'
 -

 8
"

0'
 -

 6
"

10
' -

 0
"

0'
 -

 6
"

12
' -

 0
 1

1/
16

"

1'
 -

 2
"

6'
 -

 3
"

1'
 -

 2
"

18
' -

 0
"

1'
 -

 2
"

0'
 -

 0
"

3'
 -

 8
"

29
' -

 0
"

2' - 0"

136' - 0" 0' - 6"

20' - 1 3/8" 5' - 3"

E
Q

E
Q

18' - 7" 21' - 9" 2'
 -

 0
"

2' - 0"

2'
 -

 3
 3

/8
"

6'
 -

 0
"

35
' -

 2
"

0' - 9"1' - 0"

6' - 0"

23
' -

 3
 3

/4
"

9'
 -

 0
 1

/4
"

95' - 8 3/8"

38
' -

 1
0 

11
/1

6"

28' - 0" 40' - 0" 28' - 0"

8' - 0"

2' - 0"

36' - 0"

2' - 0"

11' - 3"

EXISTING BUILDING

97' - 9"

96' - 0"

3'
 -

 0
"

3'
 -

 0
"

E
Q

E
Q

E
Q

E
Q

EQ EQ EQ EQ

DATE:

REVISIONS:

JOB NO:

SHEET NO:

3
9

0
6

 Y
o

rk
 A

v
en

u
e 

S
o

u
th

M
in

n
ea

p
o

li
s,

 M
N

 5
5

4
1

0
 

P
H

O
N

E
 6

1
2

-3
3

2
-8

0
0

0
 F

A
X

 9
5

2
-9

4
1

-6
5

1
5

W
W

W
.K

N
U

T
S

O
N

-A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

S
.C

O
M

0
4

-0
5
-2

0
2

3
 2

2
:3

2
:0

7

A-9

-

28-04-2023

W
IN

D
S

O
N

G
 F

A
R

M
S

CLUBHOUSE MAIN

LEVEL PLAN

1
8
 G

o
lf

 W
al

k
, 

M
ap

le
 P

la
in

, 
M

N
 5

5
3
5

9
,U

S
A

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

CLUB HOUSE MAIN LEVEL PLAN



9" / 12" 9" / 12"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"

3
 1

/2
" 

/ 
1

2
"

9" / 12" 9" / 12"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"

VALLEY FLASHING
VALLEY FLASHING

CAP FLASHING

2 1/2" / 12"

3 1/2" / 12"

3 1/2" / 12"

3 1/2" / 12"

3 1/2" / 12"

NEW STANDING 

SEAM ROOF

9" / 12" 9" / 12"

9" / 12" 9" / 12"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"

4
 1

/2
" 

/ 
1

2
"

4 1/2" / 12"
3

 1
/2

" 
/ 
1

2
"

3
 1

/2
" 

/ 
1

2
"

GUTTER

NEW SHINGLE 

ROOF

EXISTING ROOFCONTINUOUS 

RIDGE VENT

FLAT ROOF

3 1/2" / 12"

3
 1

/2
" 

/ 
1

2
"

3
 1

/2
" 

/ 
1

2
"

EXISTING ROOF

9" / 12" 9" / 12"

EXISTING CHIMNEY

GUTTER

NEW CHIMNEY

EXISTING CHIMNEY

EXISTING ROOF

NEW STANDING 

SEAM ROOF

GUTTER

NEW SHED ROOF

GUTTER

NEW SHINAGE ROOF

CONTINUOUS 

RIDGE VENT

GUTTER GUTTER

EXISTING 

ROOF

NEW STANDING 

SEAM ROOF

EQ EQ

EQ EQ

DATE:

REVISIONS:

JOB NO:

SHEET NO:

3
9

0
6

 Y
o

rk
 A

v
en

u
e 

S
o

u
th

M
in

n
ea

p
o

li
s,

 M
N

 5
5

4
1

0
 

P
H

O
N

E
 6

1
2

-3
3

2
-8

0
0

0
 F

A
X

 9
5

2
-9

4
1

-6
5

1
5

W
W

W
.K

N
U

T
S

O
N

-A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

S
.C

O
M

0
4

-0
5
-2

0
2

3
 2

2
:3

2
:0

7

A-10

-

28-04-2023

W
IN

D
S

O
N

G
 F

A
R

M
S

CLUBHOUSE ROOF

PLAN

1
8
 G

o
lf

 W
al

k
, 

M
ap

le
 P

la
in

, 
M

N
 5

5
3
5

9
,U

S
A

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

CLUBHOUSE ROOF PLAN



CLUBHOUSE_BASEMENT
985' - 2 1/8"

CLUBHOUSE_FIRST FLOOR
994' - 7 13/16"

9" /
 1

2"

9" / 12"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"

RAMP

9'
 -

 0
"

10
' -

 8
 3

/4
"

9'
 -

 4
"

1'
 -

 4
 3

/4
"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"

1'
 -

 1
0 

5/
16

"

PUB RM. BEARING HEIGHT
1003' - 11 13/16"

PUB RM. HEAL HEIGHT
1005' - 4 9/16"

8' - 6"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"9

" 
/ 
1

2
"

9'
 -

 4
"

1'
 -

 4
 3

/4
"

9'
 -

 5
 1

1/
16

"
10

' -
 8

 3
/4

"

CLUBHOUSE_BASEMENT
985' - 2 1/8"

CLUBHOUSE_FIRST FLOOR
994' - 7 13/16"

3' - 8" 19' - 0" 10' - 0"

40' - 9" 35' - 2"

10
' -

 8
"

12' - 0"

9'
 -

 0
"

4'
 -

 0
"

18' - 0"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"

9" /
 1

2"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"

9' - 0"

8'
 -

 0
"

1'
 -

 4
 3

/4
"

9'
 -

 4
"

1'
 -

 4
 3

/4
"

10
' -

 8
"

12
' -

 0
 3

/4
"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"

BEARING HEIGHT
1003' - 11 13/16"

HEAL HEIGHT
1005' - 4 9/16"

1- ADDED 3/4" SIDING TO ALL WALL SURFACES.

NOTES:

2- ADDED 3/4" x 6" FRAME ON TOP OF THE SIDING ON   
ALL WALLS.

3- BRICK ON ALL WALLS OF PROSHOP LOWER LOCKER 
ROOM GABLE VENTS NEED TO BE APPLIED OVER SIDING.

DATE:

REVISIONS:

JOB NO:

SHEET NO:

3
9

0
6

 Y
o

rk
 A

v
en

u
e 

S
o

u
th

M
in

n
ea

p
o

li
s,

 M
N

 5
5

4
1

0
 

P
H

O
N

E
 6

1
2

-3
3

2
-8

0
0

0
 F

A
X

 9
5

2
-9

4
1

-6
5

1
5

W
W

W
.K

N
U

T
S

O
N

-A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

S
.C

O
M

0
4

-0
5
-2

0
2

3
 2

2
:3

2
:0

9

A-11

-

28-04-2023

W
IN

D
S

O
N

G
 F

A
R

M
S

CLUBHOUSE
EXTERIOR
ELEVATION

1
8
 G

o
lf

 W
al

k
, 

M
ap

le
 P

la
in

, 
M

N
 5

5
3
5

9
,U

S
A

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

CLUBHOUSE NORTH ELEVATION

1/8" = 1'-0"
2

CLUBHOUSE EAST ELEVATION



CLUBHOUSE_FIRST FLOOR
994' - 7 13/16"

9" / 12"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"

2'
 -

 8
"

PORCH BEARING HEIGHT.
1005' - 3 13/16"

PORCH HEAL HEIGHT.
1006' - 8 9/16"

2
 1

/2
" 

/ 
1

2
"

3
 1

/2
" 

/ 
1

2
"

1'
 -

 4
 3

/4
"

10
' -

 8
"

12
' -

 0
 3

/4
"

1'
 -

 6
"

9" /
 1

2"

CLUBHOUSE_FIRST FLOOR
994' - 7 13/16"

40' - 0"

9" /
 1

2" 9" / 12"

9" / 12"9" /
 1

2"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"

28' - 0"28' - 0"

2'
 -

 8
"

2'
 -

 8
"

1'
 -

 6
"

BEARING
1009' - 1 13/16"

3'
 -

 6
"

14
' -

 6
"

HEAL
1012' - 7 13/16"

9
" 

/ 
1

2
"

3 1/2" / 1
2"

3
 1

/2
" 

/ 
1

2
"

3
 1

/2
" 

/ 
1

2
"

10
' -

 8
"

1

A-14

2

A-14

3

A-14

4

A-14

36' - 0"

1- ADDED 3/4" SIDING TO ALL WALL SURFACES.

NOTES:

2- ADDED 3/4" x 6" FRAME ON TOP OF THE SIDING ON   
ALL WALLS.

3- BRICK ON ALL WALLS OF PROSHOP LOWER LOCKER 
ROOM GABLE VENTS NEED TO BE APPLIED OVER SIDING.

DATE:

REVISIONS:

JOB NO:

SHEET NO:

3
9

0
6

 Y
o

rk
 A

v
en

u
e 

S
o

u
th

M
in

n
ea

p
o

li
s,

 M
N

 5
5

4
1

0
 

P
H

O
N

E
 6

1
2

-3
3

2
-8

0
0

0
 F

A
X

 9
5

2
-9

4
1

-6
5

1
5

W
W

W
.K

N
U

T
S

O
N

-A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

S
.C

O
M

0
4

-0
5
-2

0
2

3
 2

2
:3

2
:1

1

A-12

-

28-04-2023

W
IN

D
S

O
N

G
 F

A
R

M
S

CLUBHOUSE
EXTERIOR
ELEVATION

1
8
 G

o
lf

 W
al

k
, 

M
ap

le
 P

la
in

, 
M

N
 5

5
3
5

9
,U

S
A

1/8" = 1'-0"
4

CLUBHOUSE  WEST ELEVATION

1/8" = 1'-0"
3

CLUBHOUSE SOUTH ELEVATION



DATE:

REVISIONS:

JOB NO:

SHEET NO:

3
9

0
6

 Y
o

rk
 A

v
en

u
e 

S
o

u
th

M
in

n
ea

p
o

li
s,

 M
N

 5
5

4
1

0
 

P
H

O
N

E
 6

1
2

-3
3

2
-8

0
0

0
 F

A
X

 9
5

2
-9

4
1

-6
5

1
5

W
W

W
.K

N
U

T
S

O
N

-A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

S
.C

O
M

2
8

-0
4
-2

0
2

3
 1

9
:0

9
:2

3

A-16

-

28-04-2023

W
IN

D
S

O
N

G
 F

A
R

M
S

CLUBHOUSE 3D
VIEW

1
8
 G

o
lf

 W
al

k
, 

M
ap

le
 P

la
in

, 
M

N
 5

5
3
5

9
,U

S
A

1
CLUBHOUSE CLUBHOUSE 3D VIEW

2
CLUBHOUSE CLUBHOUSE 3D VIEW



2
6
' -

 2
 1

1
/1

6
"

10' - 0"

MECHANICAL STORAGE

UNEXC.

UNEXCAVATED

CART STORAGE

UNISEX 

TOILET

EL. +983.1

CART STORAGE

CANTILEVER

BEAMS ABOVE

EL. +983.1

5' SETBACK

2
6
' -

 2
 1

1
/1

6
"

1' - 0"

10' - 0"

4' - 9"

DATE:

REVISIONS:

JOB NO:

SHEET NO:

3
9

0
6

 Y
o

rk
 A

v
en

u
e 

S
o

u
th

M
in

n
ea

p
o

li
s,

 M
N

 5
5

4
1

0
 

P
H

O
N

E
 6

1
2

-3
3

2
-8

0
0

0
 F

A
X

 9
5

2
-9

4
1

-6
5

1
5

W
W

W
.K

N
U

T
S

O
N

-A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

S
.C

O
M

0
4

-0
5
-2

0
2

3
 2

2
:3

4
:1

4

A-17

-

28-04-2023

W
IN

D
S

O
N

G
 F

A
R

M
S

LOCKER LOWER

LEVEL PLAN

1
8
 G

o
lf

 W
al

k
, 

M
ap

le
 P

la
in

, 
M

N
 5

5
3
5

9
,U

S
A

3/16" = 1'-0"
1

LOCKER LOWER LEVEL PLAN



A-18

2

PRO OFFICE

WOMEN'S 

LOCKER ROOM

WOMEN'S 

TOILETS

WOMEN'S 

LAVATORIES

WOMEN'S 

MAKE-UP

MEN'S 

TOILET

MEN'S 

LAVATORIES

MEN'S 

SHOWERS

JANITOR

MEN'S LOCKER ROOM

INTERNATIONAL LOCKER ROOM

COUNTER

EL. +994.53

EL. +994.50

LADIES LOCKER ROOM

ATTENDANT 

PATH

PATH

SCORE BOARD

PATIO ACCESS

NEW DECK

LOBBY

DN

LAUNDRY

BEAMS ABOVE

CART PATH

SW

DN

DN

DN

DN

8
0
' -

 1
 3

/1
6
"

5
' -

 0
"

7
' -

 4
"

4' - 0"

1' - 8"

4' - 9"

1
0
' -

 4
"

3
' -

 2
"

4
' -

 0
"

3
' -

 0
"

3
' -

 0
"

7
' -

 4
"

12' - 7 7/8"

5' - 6"

5' - 5"

DATE:

REVISIONS:

JOB NO:

SHEET NO:

3
9

0
6

 Y
o

rk
 A

v
en

u
e 

S
o

u
th

M
in

n
ea

p
o

li
s,

 M
N

 5
5

4
1

0
 

P
H

O
N

E
 6

1
2

-3
3

2
-8

0
0

0
 F

A
X

 9
5

2
-9

4
1

-6
5

1
5

W
W

W
.K

N
U

T
S

O
N

-A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

S
.C

O
M

0
4

-0
5
-2

0
2

3
 2

2
:3

4
:1

5

A-18

-

28-04-2023

W
IN

D
S

O
N

G
 F

A
R

M
S

LOCKER MAIN

LEVEL PLAN

1
8
 G

o
lf

 W
al

k
, 

M
ap

le
 P

la
in

, 
M

N
 5

5
3
5

9
,U

S
A

3/16" = 1'-0"
1

LOCKER MAIN LEVEL PLAN

1/4" = 1'-0"
2

ENLARGED TOILET



DN

UP

DN

DN

UNEX.

EL. +981.1

CART STORAGE

SIMULATOR

SIMULATOR

DN

RAMP

DN

CONC. SIDE 

WALK

EL. +983.1

SW

SIDE WALK

EL. +989.0

28' - 0"

3
7
' -

 1
 1

/1
6
"

15' - 0"

43' - 0"

1
0
' -

 4
 1

3
/1

6
"

3' - 0" 4' - 8"

29' - 0"

7' - 8"

1
9
' -

 4
"

1
0
' -

 0
"

WALK WAY

6' - 0"

6
' -

 0
"

L
A

N
D

IN
G

5
' -

 0
"

PRO OFFICE

TOILET
FITTING 

RM.

BACK ENTRY 

HALL
BACK STORAGE ROOM

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 W
A

L
K

W
A

Y

INTERNATIONAL LOCKER ROOM

COUNTER

EL. +994.53

EL. +994.50

PRO OFFICE

6" CURB

PARTY PATIO

PATIO ACCESS

DN

RACKS

RACKS

STORAGE

SIDE WALK

SW

DN

DN

15' - 0" 28' - 0"

3
7
' -

 1
 1

/1
6
"

8" / 12" 8" / 12"

8" / 12" 8" / 12"

8
" 

/ 
1

2
"

8
" 

/ 
1

2
"

8
" 

/ 
1

2
"

9" / 12"

8" / 12" 8" / 12"

8" / 12" 8" / 12"

8
" 

/ 
1

2
"

8
" 

/ 
1

2
"

8
" 

/ 
1

2
"

9" / 12"

9
' -

 0
 1

3
/1

6
"

3
8
' -

 0
 5

/1
6
"

EXISTING ROOF

EXISTING ROOF

GUTTER

FLAT ROOF

GUTTER

NEW

STAIRS BELOW

STORAGE SPACE IN 

ROOF SPACE

SHED ROOF

SHED ROOF

SHED ROOF

2 1/2" / 12"

3 1/2" / 12"

3 1/2" / 12"

3 1/2" / 12"

16' - 0 1/16" 28' - 0" 40' - 0"

5
' -

 0
"

10' - 8" 14' - 0" 23' - 1" 14' - 8" 10' - 8"

22' - 3 15/16"

DATE:

REVISIONS:

JOB NO:

SHEET NO:

3
9

0
6

 Y
o

rk
 A

v
en

u
e 

S
o

u
th

M
in

n
ea

p
o

li
s,

 M
N

 5
5

4
1

0
 

P
H

O
N

E
 6

1
2

-3
3

2
-8

0
0

0
 F

A
X

 9
5

2
-9

4
1

-6
5

1
5

W
W

W
.K

N
U

T
S

O
N

-A
R

C
H

IT
E

C
T

S
.C

O
M

0
4

-0
5
-2

0
2

3
 2

2
:4

3
:4

7

A-22

-

28-04-2023

W
IN

D
S

O
N

G
 F

A
R

M
S

PRO SHOP PLAN

1
8
 G

o
lf

 W
al

k
, 

M
ap

le
 P

la
in

, 
M

N
 5

5
3
5

9
,U

S
A

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

PRO SHOP LOWER LEVEL PLAN

1/8" = 1'-0"
2

PRO SHOP MAIN LEVEL PLAN

1/8" = 1'-0"
3

PRO SHOP ROOF PLAN









 

 
 
 
  

1 

City of Independence 
Consider Adoption of the 2040 Comprehensive Plan 

 
 

 
To: 

From: 

Meeting Date: 

 
City Council 

Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 

September 19, 2023

Discussion: 
In response to the 2040 issuance of the regional system statements, the City of Independence is 
required to update its local comprehensive plan every ten (10) years. The comprehensive plan update 
ensures consistency with the most recently adopted regional plans and policies and provide the City 
with a comprehensive development map for the next twenty years. The updated plan will guide 
development and land use through the year 2040. Due to changes in population forecasts, growth and 
housing trends, it is imperative that the City evaluate its past and ensure that it is prepared to secure its 
future. 

The City’s Comprehensive Plan consists of many different focuses, that when combined, provide the 
City with a map to guide future development. There are several key aspects of the plan that are most 
often referenced and applied during the continued growth and development/redevelopment of the 
community. The portion of the plan that is most widely used and or referenced by the City on a day-to-
day basis is the Land Use Plan. 

Following a significantly complex process of achieving Metropolitan Council approval as required by 
the Land Use Planning Act, the Independence 2040 Comprehensive Plan is now officially complete. 
Staff would like to provide an overview to the City Council and highlight key aspects of the plan.  The 
City utilizes the plan to guide many decisions relating to development and redevelopment of the City.   

 
The following plan components should be noted by the City: 
 

• The majority of the 2040 Comprehensive Plan is identical to or very similar to the plan 
that was approved by the City prior to formal submittal.   There were a handful of items, 
notably, density and projected growth, that were the focus of the City’s discussion with 
the Metropolitan Council.  Please note that the attached plan may still require minor 
modifications in formatting to align with the required changes. 

• Density – the City worked with the Metropolitan Council to establish a “reasonable” 
density expectation for Independence.  In accordance with the Land Use Planning Act, 
cities located within the seven-county metropolitan area are required to maintain an 
overall net density of 3 units per acre for all portions of the City served by the 
Metropolitan Council regional sewer system.  Independence historically has had a limited 
area that is serviced by the Metropolitan Council.  In 2010, the City initiated a project to 



 

 
 
 
  

2 

extend sanitary sewer to Lindgren Lane.  This project involved the extension of sanitary 
sewer from existing facilities located near the intersection of CSAH 11 and Independence 
Road.  It was determined by the Metropolitan Council that the extension of sewer to 
Lindgren Lane and also houses along Independence Rd. would require an offsetting and 
planned density elsewhere in the City to maintain the requisite 3 units per acre density.  
The City temporarily identified an area north of Maple Plain that could be guided to 
accommodate an increased density and this area was included in the Comprehensive Plan 
Amendment.  Since the adoption of the amendment, the City knew that it would have to 
consider an alternative with the 2040 plan.  Following a considerable amount of 
discussion and back and forth, the City and Metropolitan Council have agreed that the 
properties served by sanitary sewer in the 2010 extension project, would no longer be 
counted towards the net density of the City.  This represents a significant departure from 
earlier determinations and offers the City of Independence an essential “clean slate” 
relating to projected density of the City moving forward. 

As a result of the agreement, the City is able to project density based on projected new 
growth without having to establish an offsetting density for the parcels that are currently 
served by sanitary sewer.   

• The City is projecting growth in several key areas that can be more readily served by 
sanitary sewer.  The City will extend a new sanitary sewer from the regional lift station 
located at the end of Willow St. in Maple Plain to serve new development to the south of 
Highway 12 (see depiction below).  The City will continue to consider a connection to 
the Maple Plain sanitary sewer line in Budd Ave. to provide sewer to developable 
properties shown north of Highway 12.    

 



 

 
 
 
  

3 

 

 

• The City has identified several zoning districts that will need to be established in order to 
realize the proposed plan.  The districts are as follows: 

 

Low Density Residential, Medium Density Residential and High Density 
Residential zoning districts will need to be created and adopted by the City.   

 



 

 
 
 
  

4 

 

• The net density for each new zoning category is detailed in the plan.  The low density 
residential is located south of Highway 12 and Maple Plain and the medium and high 
density residential are located north of Highway 12 and Maple Plain.  The City worked to 
reduce the density of the low-density residential district to the lowest possible net density 
that would still comply with the minimum of 3 units per acre.  The City was able to 
reduce the density to 2.7 units per acre (net density).  While this density is lower than 3 
units per acre, this density is significantly higher than any density that has ever 
previously been considered in Independence.  In order to assist the City when considering 
plans, the minimum and maximum density levels are the same (2.7 units per acre).  This 
will illuminate the tendency for developers to attempt to develop a parcel at the highest 
end of the density range. The City will need to establish zoning ordinance standards that 
generally align with the net density prescribed.   

• The medium and high-density residential areas are more strategically located directly 
adjacent to areas of similar density in Maple Plain.  The City is required to accommodate 
high density residential of 8 units per acre or greater to accommodate the prescribed 
“’affordable housing” requirement established by the Metropolitan Council.  The City 
had initially proposed to locate this type of density in close proximity to the City of 
Delano on the west side of the City.  This location would have been more desirable and 
far more aligned with high level planning principles and knowledge.  The location was in 
close proximity to grocery, medical, schools, jobs and general services that would reduce 
the sole reliance on automobiles.  The new location is directly adjacent to a high-density 
development in the City of Maple Plain and would be generally compatible with the 
exception that there is no grocery, medical, services, public transportation and or job 
center close to the location. Unfortunately, the Metropolitan Council would not recognize 
this area to count towards the as it is outside of the regional sanitary sewer service area 
(MUSA).  The high density residential would accommodate an approximately 100-unit, 
3-4 story apartment building and the associated parking area. 

• The City worked to incorporate the Lakeshore Estates district and associated density into 
the final plan. 



 

 
 
 
  

5 

• The plan also contemplates the potential staging of development within the areas 
proposed to be serviced with sanitary service. The Metropolitan Council established a 
2040 growth forecast for the metropolitan region which was less than the forecast 
established in the 2030 Comprehensive Plan.  The City of Independence does not agree 
with the projected forecast for 2040 and noted that its projection reduced the approved 
2030 Comprehensive Plan forecast from 593 to 300 households, representing an 
approximate 50% decrease in projected growth.  Due to a wide array of uncertain 
variables associated with population forecasts and regional growth, the City has prepared 
a 2040 land use plan that considers local market factors, current landowner development 
interest and geographic relevance of each property projected to change.  For these 
reasons, the City will continue to plan and exhibit growth potential based on the City’s 
projected forecasts but will agree to limit growth to no more than the current 
Metropolitan Council growth forecasts without a comprehensive plan amendment. 

Residential land uses within the 2020-2040 staging areas includes approximately 37 net 
acres of Lakeshore Estates, 124 net acres of Low Density Residential, 40 net acres of 
Medium Density Residential and 5 net acres of High Density Residential which provides 
for a total of 657 units (See Table 21 and Figure 16 – Development Phasing).  Of the 657 
projected units, the City will allow the flexible development of up to 300 total units as a 
floating Municipal Urban Service Area (MUSA).  The development of these units shall 
be in accordance with the location, phasing and densities prescribed within this plan for 
each land use type designated.  This provision will allow the development of parcels 
located within the 2020-2040 projected staging areas to be developed based on market 
demand and individual property owner timing for selling or developing.  The 
development of more than 300 units would require a comprehensive plan amendment. 

 



 

 
 
 
  

6 

• The City will have 9 months to complete the conditions contained within the 
Metropolitan Council’s approval and provide the copy of the plan along with the City 
Council Resolution approving the plan.   
 
 

Council Action: 
The City Council is being asked to consider approval of RESOLUTION 23-0919-03 adopting the 2040 
Comprehensive Plan. 

 
 
Attachments:  RESOLUTION 23-0919-03 

2040 Comprehensive Plan 
   Exhibits to the 2040 Comprehensive Plan 
   Metropolitan Council Approval Correspondence and Reports 



 

763.479.0527                                                  1920 County Road 90                                          Fax: 763.479.0528 
                                                                       Independence, MN 55359 
                                                                    www.ci.independence.mn.us 

RESOLUTION OF THE  
CITY OF INDEPENDENCE 

HENNEPIN COUNTY, MINNESOTA 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 23-0919-03 

 
 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE 2040 CITY OF INDEPENDENCE 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN UPDATE, A COMPILATION OF POLICY STATEMENTS, 
GOALS, STANDARDS, AND MAPS FOR GUIDING THE OVERALL DEVELOPMENT 

AND REDEVELOPMENT OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENTAL UNIT 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Minnesota Statutes section 473.864 requires each local governmental unit 
to review and, if necessary, amend its entire comprehensive plan and its fiscal devices and official 
controls at least once every ten years to ensure its comprehensive plan conforms to metropolitan 
system plans and ensure its fiscal devices and official controls do not conflict with the 
comprehensive plan or permit activities that conflict with metropolitan system plans; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Minnesota Statutes sections 473.858 and 473.864 require local governmental 
units to complete their “decennial” reviews by December 31, 2018; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Independence authorized the review and update of its 
Comprehensive Plan; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Independence 2040 Comprehensive Plan is a planning tool 
intended to guide the future growth and development of the City of Independence in a manner 
that conforms with metropolitan system plans and complies with the Metropolitan Land Planning 
Act and other applicable planning statutes; and 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed the City of Independence 2040 Comprehensive Plan reflects a 
community planning process conducted in the years 2016 through 2018 involving elected 
officials, appointed officials, city staff, community organizations, the public at large, developers, 
and other stakeholders; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Minnesota Statutes section 473.858, the proposed 2040 
Comprehensive Plan was submitted to adjacent governmental units and affected special districts 
and school districts for review and comment, and the statutory six-month review and comment 
period has elapsed; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission has considered the proposed 2040 

Comprehensive Plan and all public comments, and thereafter submitted its recommendations to 
the City of Independence; and 

 



 

WHEREAS, on December 18, 2018, the City of Independence conducted a public 
hearing(s) on the proposed 2040 Comprehensive Plan; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Independence approved Resolution 19-1217-01 authorizing the 

proposed 2040 Comprehensive Plan to be submitted to the Metropolitan Council for review; and 
 
WHEREAS, at its regular meeting on July 12, 2023, the Metropolitan Council 

completed its review of the proposed 2040 Comprehensive Plan and found that the Plan meets 
the requirements of the Metropolitan Land Planning Act; conforms to the metropolitan system 
plans for transportation (including aviation), water resources, and parks; is consistent with Thrive 
MSP 2040; and is compatible with the plans of adjacent jurisdictions and affected special 
districts and school districts; and 

 
WHEREAS, the 2040 proposed Comprehensive Plan includes all revisions made during 

the review process and responds to additional advisory comments that are part of the 
Metropolitan Council’s actions authorizing the City of Independence to place its proposed 2040 
Comprehensive Plan into effect. 
 
 NOW THERE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF INDEPENDENCE, 
MINNESOTA, that the City of Independence’s 2040 Comprehensive Plan is adopted and is 
effective as of the date of this resolution. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that, pursuant to sections 473.864 and 473.865 of the 
Metropolitan Land Planning Act, the City of Independence will: (1) review its fiscal devices and 
official controls; (2) if necessary, amend its fiscal devices and official controls to ensure they do 
not conflict with the 2040 Comprehensive Plan or permit activity in conflict with metropolitan 
system plans. 
 

 
This resolution was adopted by the City Council of the City of Independence on 

this 19th day of September 2023, by a vote of  ayes and  nays. 
 
 
 

Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 

      
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan      1-1 

 
 
                                                                                                                                                                 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 

The City of Independence is located in western Hennepin County, 20 to 25 miles west of Minneapolis.  
The gently rolling terrain, rural residential and agriculturally oriented land use patterns are perhaps 
the two most distinguishing features of the community.  Interspersed throughout the community are 
lakes, streams and wetlands. 
 
The City was organized in 1858 as rural township.  The tradition of farming has sustained to the 
present and horses have maintained their importance to this community.  There has been an on-going 
conversion of land in the City from Agriculture to rural residential use.  Properties, primarily 
surrounding Lake Sarah, Lake Independence and adjacent to the City of Maple Plain have been 
subdivided into residential home sites.  The result is a blend of commercial agriculture, large lot 
residences, hobby farms and a modest amount of commercial/industrial development. 
 
T.H. 12 bisects Independence southeasterly by northwesterly.  The City of Maple Plain is surrounded 
on three sides by Independence and acts much as a local downtown for many Independence residents.  
The growing community of Delano and Franklin Township are west of Independence in Wright 
County.  The cities of Greenfield, Medina, Orono and Minnetrista abut Independence on the north, 
northeast, southeast and south, respectively. 
 
Independence has successfully developed and implemented strong planning policy and zoning 
controls over the last several decades to preserve land for urban development.  This carefully 
prescribed growth has generally forestalled "leap-frog" urban sprawl development and allowed the 
City to retain large tracts of agricultural land and open space associated with rural residential 
development.  These controls have been specifically used by the community to retain its rural 
character and small-town appeal. 
 
It is against this historical background of the City as an agricultural community in a growing urban 
county that this Comprehensive Plan is written.  Suburbanization of the Twin Cities metropolitan area 
has focused growth pressure on the outer ring communities.  Independence has affirmed that it wants 
to maintain a high standard of environmental quality, clean water and air, abundant open space and 
purposeful growth.  By focusing growth to specified areas within the community, the City will be 
able to maintain its rural character and small-town feel while promoting and protecting its geographic 
and environmental advantage. 
 

CITY OF INDEPENDENCE  
 2040 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 1.0 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan      1-2 

 
 
 
 

 
1.1 Community Vision, Goals and Policies 
 
The goals and policies of Independence have been consistently and historically based on establishing 
clear objectives for rural residential and agriculture preservation.  There is still a strong component of 
agriculture preservation within the City, but it is slightly less than a decade ago.  The City has 
continued to experience growth and urbanization pressures as growth continues to migrate westward 
from the metropolitan center.  The growing fusion of residential and agricultural land uses now yields 
a variety of lifestyle choices. Most residents refer to their particular living situation as "rural". But 
rural has a broad range of definitions. An engineer might define rural as "gravel roads, on-site septic 
systems and private wells". A farmer would define rural as "agriculture as a job and a way of life". A 
commuter could well define rural as "large lot residences, with long vistas, clean air and quiet 
evenings".  In Independence, all of these viewpoints are represented. 
 
Rural, in Webster's Dictionary, is defined: "Pertaining to the country, as distinguished from a 
city or town, suiting the country or resembling it; pertaining to agriculture or farming". 
Suburban is defined: "an outlying part of a city or town, a part without the boundaries but in the 
vicinity of the town ". 
 
From these definitions, a rural Independence is not part of Maple Plain or Delano but has a separate 
sense of place. The aesthetics to this "place in the country" has agricultural roots, a lack of obvious 
boundaries, and continuity with the natural landscape. 
 
Early in the planning process, the City sought meaningful public input relating to the direction of the 
City’s land use planning.  The City undertook a community survey which asked residents to provide 
feedback relating to growth and development in the City.  It was made clear by the responses provided 
that there is a strong connection and desire for residents of the City to maintain and enhance the rural 
character of the community.  It was also clear that the resident’s definition of “rural” is still extremely 
wide-ranging.  Even with the broad array of the “rural” definition, the survey reaffirmed past planning 
efforts and the general direction that has guided the City over the last 40 years.   
 
The resulting policy needs are to provide a broader, more inclusive definition of rural. Clearly 
Independence has little to label it urban. The expansive agriculture land, wetlands, parks, hobby farms 
and large lot residences are undisputedly rural in character. Yet rather than separate and 
compartmentalize these different land uses, the new plan should strive to find common ground, 
synthesizing the variety into a cooperative rural community. 
 
The current Metropolitan Council System Statement for the City of Independence and the 2040 
Regional Development Framework identify roughly the western two-thirds as “Agricultural” and 
roughly the eastern one third as “Diversified Rural” with a small portion of Emerging Suburban 
Edge immediately north of Maple Plain.  Agricultural communities are expected to limit residential 
development and adopt zoning ordinance and/or other official controls to maintain residential 
densities no greater than 1 housing unit per 40 acres. Diversified Rural communities are expected 
to plan for growth not to exceed forecasts and in patterns that do not exceed 4 units per 40 acres.  
Emerging Suburban Edge communities are expected to plan for forecasted population and 
household growth at average densities of at least 3-5 units per acre for new development and 
redevelopment. 
 
While this map is somewhat similar to the adopted 2040 Independence Comprehensive Plan, the 
map does not identify the City’s existing commercial/industrial area.  It also does not differentiate 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan      1-3 

the existing areas subdivided prior to zoning controls around Lake Sarah and Lake Independence 
that are served with metropolitan sewer as a program to clean up and protect the regions lakes, 
streams, and ground water. 
 
The Metropolitan Council’s Regional Blueprint and subsequent Development Framework has 
defined Agricultural as 1 unit per 40 acres in density minimum and “Rural Residential”, now 
“Diversified Rural” as 1 unit per 10 acres.  Rather than adopting a policy that the City develop in 
its entirety as rural residential at 1 unit per 10 acres, the city adopted a policy in 1980 and again 
in 2001 of allowing 1 unit per 5 acres (with strict land compatibility requirements) in roughly the 
eastern one third in the rural residential and 1 unit per 40 acres in the western two-thirds 
agricultural area.  The intent of this policy was to better serve the rural residential area with the 
various municipal services such as police, fire, and road maintenance, as well as provide 
controlled growth and better subdivision layout.  A second intent of the policy was to guide the 
growth to an area near Maple Plain to help keep that community’s commercial district healthy. 
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan      1-4 

 
Although the plans in 1980 and 2001 included alternatives to the strict 1 unit per 10-acre density, 
the Metropolitan Council found this policy of controlled growth and preservation of agriculture 
“to meet all regional system plans and requirements of the Metropolitan Land Planning Act". 
 
The Metropolitan Council policies call for maintenance of commercial farming and related agri-
business activities as the primary activity in the commercial agriculture region. This area should 
also provide land for other low intensity uses such as hobby farms, horticulture, and conservation 
of natural resources. The general rural use area permits commercial agriculture but anticipates 
primarily residential uses in a somewhat greater density. Independence permits development at 
one residence per 40 acres for prime agricultural land and one per five acres in the rural residential 
zone. Under the State agriculture preservation tax law, agriculture land parcels of at least 40 acres 
qualify for reduced taxable valuation and, therefore, a reduction in taxes. The City has historically 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan      1-5 

supported agriculture preservation by designating and zoning any land that qualifies for agriculture 
preserve for forty-acre maximum density upon request of a landowner. Enrollees in the agricultural 
preserve program covenant to maintain the land in agriculture for a minimum of eight years.  An 
enrollee would be violating the covenant as well as zoning if the land is not maintained in 
agriculture during that period of time. 
 
Many planning efforts in rural areas elaborate on rural centers as a mix of urban and rural uses. 
Maple Plain, Rockford, Loretto and Delano are cities that provide a full range of land use 
opportunities. With these urban centers so close, duplicating their features not only would appear 
unnecessary, but also would most likely be counter-productive. Independence is different than 
those communities and should complement the land use variety of those more urban settings. The 
land use in Independence is far more comprehensible when the interdependent dynamics with the 
surrounding communities are understood. 
 
Attempting to duplicate the urban services and land use options provided in the neighboring urban 
areas are neither economically feasible nor a publicly desired effort for Independence. All cities 
cannot be all things to all people. Independence cannot provide a full range of public services any 
easier than Minneapolis could provide adequate farmland for people needing space to cultivate. 
This limit of what is possible directly translates into terms like "economically sustainable", 
"carrying capacity", or "publicly viable.  This recognition of limits is a primary building block for 
local policy decision-making. 

The previous land use plans have focused objectives on control of suburban growth and 
preservation of agriculture. While the latter was an attitude of community consensus, the on-going 
dispute over subdivision of land remains unresolved. Utilizing a carrying capacity method, the 
confluence of population, city services, transportation needs and ecological responsible 
development point toward a continued gradualism of development. Independence can be a place 
of mixed rural lifestyles, continuing to rely on surrounding urban areas for urban functions. 
 
Considering the diversity of land uses in Independence, achieving a situation of community 
harmony will require a careful balancing of the policies underlying local decisions with successful 
communication of common goals. The objective of the process is mutual compatibility of local 
land uses within the community. The goal is rooted in preservation, to the greatest extent possible, 
the essence of a rural way of life in Independence. The hope is to blend the local variety of lifestyles 
into a peaceful and prosperous coexistence. 
 
Community Vision 
 
The City's Comprehensive Plan has been prepared to reflect the diversity and variety of values 
and needs within the community. The City will endeavor to retain its rural character, providing a 
variety of rural living choices, from rural residential and rural hobby farms to the preservation of 
prime agricultural lands and natural environmental features. The rural, non-farm lifestyle 
alternatives residents may pursue should be designed and maintained so as to preserve local 
aesthetic and natural feature amenities.  These rural residential neighborhoods should also be 
planned and designed to maintain the high level of public service citizens have come to expect, 
without an undue increased burden on the rest of community.  The City will also seek to develop 
standards for concentrated sewered residential in strategic areas of the City.  These areas will be 
developed to seamlessly blend into the rural character of the community while maintaining a 
compact footprint allowing for the preservation of greater areas of open space.   
 
The future physical, social, and economic decisions that will be made by the City require an overall 
policy direction, a means to implement these lifestyle options. The following goals and policies 
form the rationale for local decision-making. 
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan      1-6 

Goals and Policies 

Community goals are generally defined as the objectives or end products that a City hopes to 
achieve through local decision-making. These broad objectives are usually community-wide and 
describe an optimum social and physical environment. Policies are the means by which the goals 
are achieved. They are more detailed, providing guidelines for specific decision alternatives. 
 
The combination of goals and their supporting policies provide the framework for public decisions. 
They are meant to minimize misunderstanding between community residents and decision makers. 
Imperative to this understanding is that any decision or action taken by the City should be appraised 
and evaluated in light of these goals and policies. In this way, decisions made by the City are both 
reasonable and consistent. These goals and policies are meant to be flexible enough to apply to 
present needs and adaptable enough to appropriately address future demands. 

Some of the goals and policies from the previous plan remain relevant. However, the city and its 
environs have changed, becoming more complex. The policy plan reflects this new complexity in 
addressing a much broader range of issues in a more precise way. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan      1-7 

1.2 Goals Summary  
 
CHAPTER TITLE GOALS 

TWO HOUSING § To maintain the good condition of the City's existing 
housing stock, thereby reducing the need for 
additional new housing construction.  

§ Accommodate affordable housing initiatives. 
§ Ensure the availability of lifecycle housing. 

THREE 
 

LAND USE § Establish a visual identity in harmony with the physical 
context that reflects and respects the City of 
I ndependence ’s rural characteristics, historical past, and 
future with design solutions that are innovative, efficient, 
durable, beautiful and economically viable. 

§ Foster a harmonious, convenient, compatible, 
workable relationship among a balance of all land 
uses and local supporting services within the 
community. 

§ To preserve and enhance local property values.  
§ To set standards to protect the health, safety and 

welfare of City residents, but to limit the standards to 
those necessary in order to preserve property owner’s 
rights. 

§ To concentrate rural residential development in areas 
where services can most economically be provided. 

§ To allow continued agriculture within the rural 
residential area while permitting rural non-farm 
lifestyles to co-exist in an agricultural setting. 

§ To guide growth in conjunction with the logical and 
economical extensions of urban services. 

§ Provide ample safe and clean park and trail facilities for 
everyone to enjoy. 

§ Preserve, maintain, enhance and protect the region’s natural 
resources. 

FOUR TRANSPORTATION § Complete the CSAH 90/92 and Highway 12 intersection 
improvement projects. 

§ Work with MNDOT and Hennepin County to maximize the 
existing infrastructure and create safe intersection to access 
Highway 12 from the north and south sides of the 
community.   

§ Provide a well-planned and fully-functional transportation 
system. 

§ Establish a well-planned transportation system which safely 
links our community. 

FIVE 
. 

WATER RESOURCES § Maintain the existing sanitary sewer system in the most 
efficient and economical manner feasible. 

§ Develop a new trunk system as necessary to serve future 
development in designated areas.  The new system should be 
developed to reduce future maintenance costs.  

§ Manage land disturbance that creates impervious surface to 
prevent flooding and adverse impacts. 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan      1-8 

§ Protect the City’s wetlands, lakes, streams, groundwater, and 
natural areas to preserve the functions and values of these 
resources for future generation through Wetland 
Conservation Act, buff standards, groundwater protection 
rules and coordination with outside agencies. 

§ Cooperate with Local Water Management Organizations. 
§ Coordinate development review with LWMO. 
§ Participate in Resource Management Plans. 
§ Cooperate in implementation of the Hennepin County 

Groundwater Plan. 

SIX ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT, 
COMPETITIVENESS 
AND RESILIENCE 

§ Promote and attract quality industrial and commercial 
business to the City of Independence by promoting the 
City and its high quality of life. 

§ Maintain an economic balance and enhance the geographic 
advantage of the City. 

SEVEN IMPLEMENTATION § Work to update official controls and ordinances to 
accommodate the projected comprehensive plan. 

 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan   2-1   

- 
 
                                                                                                                                                                 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2.0 HOUSING 
 
A demographic analysis clarifies the picture of who we are, what we do, and how we have changed.  
Historically, the City has been a homogeneous, low density, rural community with a focus on 
agriculture.  The City desires to maintain a similar housing makeup that preserves the rural character 
and agriculture culture.   
 
2.1 Local Demographics 
 
Population and Households 
 
Growth in Independence has slowed since its peak rate during the 1970’s.  There was a spike in 
growth that was consistent with the region during the 1990’s.  The rate of growth has essentially 
leveled off during the last decade and has been consistent around 8%.  growth during the 1990’s 
was more than double the 6.9% increase in population during the decade of the 1980’s.  
Compared to the 1990’s the rate of population increase doubled during the first half of this 
decade with a gain of 14.8%, which translates into a population gain of 30% on a ten-year basis.  
This rate is comparable to the rate of growth experienced in the 1970’s.  Overall population 
residing in Independence almost doubled from the 1970 census to present.  
 

TABLE 1 POPULATION GROWTH 1960 - 2017 

  Population Increase % Increase 
1960 1446     
1970 1993 547 38% 
1980 2640 647 33% 
1990 2822 182 7% 
2000 3236 414 15% 
2010 3504 268 8% 
2017 3790 286 8% 

Source: U.S. Census; 2017 Estimate: Metropolitan Council 
 

CITY OF INDEPENDENCE  
 2040 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 2.0 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan   2-2   

The average size of an Independence household in 2010 was approximately 2.81 persons, down 
from 2.96 in 2000 and reflecting a national trend.  The reduction in average household size is 
projected to continue between 2020 and 2040 due to the planned sewered residential north and 
south of Maple Plain.  This housing will potentially accommodate a continuum of housing, 
which could include senior housing.  Households equate closely to dwelling units and, in land 
consumption terms, is a better indicator of growth, than population. 
 

TABLE 2 HOUSEHOLD GROWTH 1970 - 2017 

  
Number of 

Households Increase % Increase 
1970 580     
1980 789 209 36% 
1990 925 136 17% 
2000 1088 163 18% 
2010 1241 153 15% 
2017 1295 54 4% 

Source: U.S. Census; 2017 Estimate: Metropolitan Council 
 

Residential construction slowed during the later part of the last decade due to a national 
recession.  Population increases of 17% and 18% are projected over the next two decades.  These 
forecasts have been provided to the City by the Metropolitan Council.  Independence could 
experience increased growth as regional sewer becomes available to this area.  Independence is 
projecting some sewered growth directly adjacent to the existing sewered development in Maple 
Plain. 

 
TABLE 3 POPULATION, HOUSEHOLD AND EMPLOYMENT FORECAST 2010 - 2040 

  Population 

Increase 
- No. of 
Persons %  Households 

Increase 
- No. of 
House- 
holds %  Employment 

Increase 
- No. of 
Jobs %  

2010 3504     1241     587     
2020 3830 326 9% 1400 159 13% 680 93 16% 
2030 4040 210 5% 1560 160 11% 740 60 9% 
2040 4290 250 6% 1700 140 9% 770 30 4% 

Source for 2010 Existing Households: City of Independence Assessor; Hennepin County 
 

Independence’s rate of growth during the 2000’s was not that dissimilar to nearby communities.  
Several historically rural communities began experiencing urbanized development during the last 
decade which is reflected in their strong growth rates. 
 

TABLE 4 ADJACENT COMMUNITIES POPULATION COMPARISON 1970 - 2010 

  1970 1980 1990 2000 2010 
Increase - 
1970-2010 %  

Independence 1993 2640 2822 3262 3504 1511 176% 
Corcoran 1656 4252 5299 5630 5379 3723 325% 
Greenfield 973 1391 1450 2544 2777 1804 285% 

Loretto 340 297 404 570 650 310 191% 
Maple Plain 1169 1421 2005 2088 1768 599 151% 

Medina 2396 2623 3096 4005 4892 2496 204% 
Minnetrista 2878 3236 3439 4358 6384 3506 222% 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan   2-3   

Orono 6787 6845 7285 7538 7437 650 110% 
Source: U.S. Census 

 
School age, middle age and older population groups experienced significant growth in numbers 
between 2000 and 2010 while post high school to age 44 population declined.   

 
TABLE 5 AGE GROUPS 1990 - 2010 

Age 1990 2000 2010 
Increase - 
1990-2010 %  

Under 5 218 222 194 -24 -11% 
5-17 592 752 667 75 13% 
18-24 220 163 220 0 0% 
25-34 409 237 203 -206 -50% 
35-44 557 702 361 -196 -35% 
45-54 381 550 740 359 94% 
55-64 254 345 645 391 154% 
65-74 120 183 293 173 144% 
75+ 81 82 260 179 221% 

Source: U.S. Census 
 

As of 2010, approximately 4% of people residing in Independence, were Black, Indigenous, and other 
People of Color (BIPOC).  

 
TABLE 6 RACE AND ETHNICITY 2000 - 2010 

Age 2000 2010 
Increase - 
2000-2010 %  

Black 3 22 19 633% 
Hispanic 28 103 75 268% 

Multi-racial 22 20 -2 -9% 
Islander 35 8 -27 -77% 
Native 6 0 -6 -100% 
Other 0 8 8 800% 
Asian 0 0 0 0% 
White 3163 3526 363 11% 

Source: U.S. Census 
 

Educational attainment increased significantly during the decade of the 2000’s among Independence 
residents.  Residents achieving a bachelor’s degree or higher increase more than 100% during the last 
decade.  Independence surpasses the national trend of increasing levels of education. 

 
TABLE 7 EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT 1990 - 2010 

  1990 2000 2010 

Increase 
- 2000-
2010 %  

No High School Diploma 138 83 38 -45 -54% 
High School Graduate 1243 1264 961 -303 -24% 

Bachelor’s Degree 333 562 1208 646 115% 
Graduate or Professional Degree 87 162 295 133 82% 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan   2-4   

Source: U.S. Census 
 
 
 

Economic Base 
 
The number of households in Independence earning over $100,000 also increased significantly during 
the 2000’s.  These numbers have not been adjusted for inflation and such an adjustment would bring all 
income levels down.     
 

TABLE 8 INCOME LEVELS 1990 - 2010 

  1990 2000 2010 
Increase - 
2000-2010 %  

Less than $10,000 44 24 4 -20 -83% 
$10,000 to $14,999 12 18 0 -18 -100% 
$15,000 to $24,999 49 38 24 -14 -37% 
$25,000 to 34,999 212 88 57 -31 -35% 
$35,000 to $49,999 174 115 105 -10 -9% 
$50,000 to $74,999 242 205 190 -15 -7% 
$75,000 to $99,000 119 187 139 -48 -26% 

$100,000 to $199,999 72 304 490 186 61% 
$200,000 + 87 111 213 102 92% 

Source: U.S. Census 
 
The number of jobs based in Independence increased from 150 to 587 during the 2000’s, giving the 
City a significant job base increase during the last decade.  With the future expected growth in the 
Urban Commercial area on the west side of the community adjacent to Delano, job growth is expected 
to accelerate significantly during coming decades.  The Metropolitan Council had forecasted 93 
additional jobs by 2020 and 90 new jobs by 2040, respectively. 
 

TABLE 9 JOB GROWTH 1990 - 2040 

  1990 2000 2010 2020 2030 2040 

Increase 
- 1990-
2040 %  

Employment 90 150 587 680 740 770 680 453% 
Source: Metropolitan Council (plus job growth in Urban Commercial/CLI in 2020-2040) 

 
Single-family homes continue to increase in value in Independence during the 2000’s.  Home values 
have not fully recovered from the recession but should surpass historical highs within the next 3-5 
years. 
 

TABLE 10 MEDIAN HOME VALUES 1990 - 2010 

  
Median 

Home Value 
Increase - 
1990-2010 %  

1990 $113,000      
2000 $234,900  $121,900  52% 
2010 $394,500  $159,600  40% 

Source: U.S. Census 



City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 2-5



City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 2-6

2.2 Housing Needs 

Independence has seen an increase in housing demand over the last 5 years.  Housing demand, 
particularly in the Orono School District, is poised to continue strong demand.  The City has 
positioned itself to realize a continuum of housing options by guiding specific properties that are 
directly adjacent to the City of Maple Plain.  In order for these properties to develop, they will 
need to demonstrate the ability to be services with utilities.  The City will continue to support the 
development of rural residential housing options within the portion of the City guided for RR-
Rural Residential.  Preservation of the majority of land within the City as agriculture will allow 
Independence to maintain its rural character, protect natural resources and continue support 
strong property values.  The City further details proposed housing within the land use section of 
this plan. Table 11 includes data from the Metropolitan Council’s existing housing assessment.  

TABLE 11 HOUSING NEEDS DATA 
Total housing units = 1,352 Total households = 1,261 

Affordability in 2016 
Units affordable to 

households with income at or 
below 30% of AMI 

Units affordable to 
households with income 

31% to 50% of AMI 

Units affordable to 
households with income at or 

below 30% of AMI 
17 39 171 

Tenure in 2016 
Ownership Units Rental Units 

1,302 50 

Housing Type in 2016 
Single-family 

units Multifamily units Manufactured homes Other housing units 

1,352 0 0 0 

Publicly Subsidized Units 
All publicly 
subsidized 

units 
Publicly subsidized 

senior units 
Publicly subsidized 
units for people with 

disabilities 
Publicly subsidized 

units: All others 

0 0 0 0 

Housing Cost-Burdened Households in 2016 
Income at or below 30% of 

AMI Income 31% to 50% of AMI Income 51% to 80% of AMI 

26 41 44 

2.3 Affordable Housing 

The Metropolitan Council has identified affordable housing needs for all cities and townships 
within the Twin Cities Metropolitan Area for the period from 2021-2030.  The housing plan 
element of local comprehensive plans is required to reflect the allocated portion of the forecasted 
demand for affordable housing.  The Metropolitan Council has identified that the metro region of 
the state has the need for 37,900 additional affordable housing units by 2030.  The Metropolitan 
Council defines affordable housing for three income ranges which are proportional to the area 



City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 2-7

median income.  The established price of an affordable home in the region in 2016 was 
considered to be $243,500 if household income was 80% of the area median income.  The City’s 
share of this allocation is 54 affordable housing units. 

Independence is fortunate to have some inventory of existing affordable housing within the 
community.  In order to accommodate the additional affordable housing needs, a new High Density 
Residential zoning district will be established directly adjacent to the City of Maple Plain on the 
far east side of the City.  Independence will incorporate a set of tools and regulations into the new 
zoning standards for this district to promote housing affordability.  The tools that will be 
incorporated into the new Urban Residential zoning district in the City include the following: 

• Zoning which provides for a minimum density of 30 units per acre.  This projected density will
promote a housing product which should be able to support affordable units that will meet the
housing allocation.

• Planned Unit Development—to allow more flexibility to develop multiple unit types on a range
of lot sizes and with varying price points.

• Density bonuses—to promote higher quality development at more affordable prices.
• Existing Housing Stock – Independence will continue to support the maintenance of the

existing housing stock.

As growth continues to occur within the City, a substantial inventory of both new and existing 
affordable housing units should be maintained.  A large portion of this inventory will be found in 
existing housing stock.  Independence anticipates using the aforementioned tools to promote the 
development of affordable housing within the community.  The City should consider working with 
existing owners to maintain and enhance the existing housing stock. The City may consider 
applying for grants and looking for other funding mechanisms and partners (Minnesota Housing) 
that could promote the maintenance and enhancement of existing structures. 

It is important to recognize that the allocation of units should be interpreted as a goal for the 
community, especially serving the lowest end of the income range.  The allocation goals cover a 
10-year time period and would include both rental and ownership housing options.  However, in 
most cases, these would tend to represent rental housing creation, as serving low and moderate-
income households with ownership options would be extremely difficult, especially for households 
below 50% of the median income level.  In comparison to recent patterns, these allocations are 
very high.  In actual practice between 2000 and 2010, no affordable units were created in 
Independence based on these standards.  To achieve 54 units over the ten-year allocation period, 
Independence would have to realize an average of approximately 7 units per year moving 
forward.

Independence will strive to accommodate the projected demand for 54 affordable new housing 
units during this planning period.   

TABLE 12 AFFORDABLE HOUSING NEEDS ALLOCATION 

Income Level Units 
At or Below 30 AMI 28 Units 
From 31 to 50 AMI 21 Units 
From 51 to 80 AMI 5 Units 

Total Units 54 Units 
AMI = Area Median Income 

Source: Metropolitan Council 



City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 2-8

To determine if Independence can attain the identified number of affordable units, it is necessary to identify 
which future land use designations count towards the Affordable Housing Allocation need. These 
calculations use Metropolitan Council’s Option 1 for affordable housing allocation, with sufficient land at 8 
units/acre for the entire allocation.  Table 12 features the residential future land use categories in 
Independence. 

TABLE 13 FUTURE RESIDENTIAL LAND USE DESIGNATIONS 

Land Use 
Minimum Density 

(units/acre) 

Qualify for 
Affordable 
Housing 

Lakeshore Estates 0.75 No 
Low Density Residential 2.7 No 
Medium Density Residential 3.5 No 
High Density Residential 30 Yes 
Rural Residential 0.75 No 
Agricultural 0.03 No 

Any vacant or redevelopable land designated as High Density Residential is counted in the affordable 
housing allocation calculations. Table 13 shows how the 2021-2030 affordable housing allocation in Table 
11 can be accommodated through the development staging. Developable acreage does not include 
unbuildable areas, such as right-of-way, open water, and wetlands. The acres staged for redevelopment are 
included in the gross acreage per land use class found in Table 20 . 

TABLE 14 AFFORDABLE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT STAGING FOR 2021-2030 
Land Use Net Acres Min Units/Acre Potential Units 

High Density Residential 5.1 30 152 

With the available vacant land in the High Density Residential designation, Independence has enough land 
to meet its allocation for affordable housing. This is intended to help address housing cost burden within 
the city, for both owners and renters. 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan   2-9   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.4 Goals, Policies, and Implementation Strategies 
 
GOALS POLICIES IMPLEMENTATION 

1. The City should 
encourage new and 
alternative types of 
housing which meet 
housing 
performance 
standards as a 
means of obtaining 
larger open space 
areas and protection 
of natural resources 
within residential 
areas. 

• Maintain and continue to 
advance the cluster 
development standards to 
promote opportunities for 
housing alternatives. 
 
 

§ Review existing standards and 
develop new standards that will 
allow for the development of land 
use categories designated in the 
plan.  
 

 

2. Identify ways to 
achieve affordable 
housing goals within 
the City. 

 
 

• Review development 
standards and seek to better 
understand obstacles to 
achieving affordable 
housing within the City.  

 
 

 

§ Identify opportunities for 
development of the urban 
residential land use area to 
achieve affordable goals. 
 

§ Pursue outside funding such as 
grants and other sources for 
development of affordable 
housing. 

 
 

  



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan   2-10   

2.5 Housing Implementation Options 
 
The following table provides a range of local options for housing implementation, based on 
community goals and tools identified by the Metropolitan Council. 
 
Housing Goal/Need Implementation Opportunity/ 

Available Tool 
Circumstances and Sequence of Use 

Affordable Housing 
(up to 80% AMI) 

Planned Unit 
Development (PUD) 

The City would consider a PUD 
application in the Urban Residential 
future land use district to 
accommodate affordable housing. 

Tax Abatement The City would consider tax 
abatement for development proposals 
including housing affordable at or 
below 80% AMI. 

Tax-Increment Financing 
(TIF) 

It is unlikely the City will consider 
using TIF to support affordable 
housing development. 

Housing Bonds It is unlikely the City will consider 
issuing housing bonds to support 
affordable housing development.  

Landlord Education for 
Inclusive Housing 
Policies 

The City will partner with other 
agencies to offer educational 
resources to landlords. 

Site Assembly The City may consider assembling a site 
for this housing need. This could include 
acquiring and holding land as well as 
sub-allocating such monies to a qualified 
developer approved by the City Council. 

Super or Consolidated 
RFP 

The City would consider supporting an 
application to RFP programs for housing 
affordable at or below 80% AMI in 
residential locations of the future land 
use map. 

Community Development 
Block Grant (CDBG) 

The City is not planning on using 
allocated CDBG funds for this housing 
type, due to lack of eligible projects and 
staff capacity.  

HOME Investment 
Partnerships Program 
(HOME) 

The City will consider supporting an 
application to fund activities to build, 
buy, or rehabilitate affordable 
housing at or below 80% AMI.  

Referrals 
The city will work with partners to 
provide information on potential 
housing resources to the best of its 
ability, given staffing constraints. 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan   2-11   

Inclusionary Zoning 
Policy  

It is unlikely that the City will 
consider the exploration and 
development of Inclusionary Zoning 
policy to incentivize the development 
of affordable housing in the city 

Preserving existing 
rental housing stock 

Rental Rehabilitation 
Grants and Loans 

The City will partner with other 
agencies to offer resources to 
landlords for rehabilitation 
grants/loans for existing rental 
properties. 

4d Tax Program The City will partner with other 
agencies to offer resources to owners 
of existing rental properties regarding 
4d program tax breaks. 

Landlord Education for 
Inclusive Housing 
Policies  

The City will partner with other 
agencies to offer educational 
resources to landlords of existing 
rental properties. 

Rental License and 
Inspection Program 

Due to minimal inventory and limited 
resources, it is unlikely the city will 
develop rental license and inspection 
programs. 

Supporting 
Young/First-Time 
Homeowners 

Single Family 
Rehabilitation Grants and 
Loans 

The City will partner with other 
agencies to offer resources to 
homeowners for home rehabilitation 
grants/loans. 

Start-Up Loan Program Minnesota Housing program to assist 
first-time homebuyers with financing 
a home purchase and down payment 
through a dedicated loan program. 
The City may partner to offer 
education about this program.  

Maintaining 
Homeownership 

Single Family 
Rehabilitation Grants and 
Loans 

The City will partner with other 
agencies to offer resources to 
homeowners for home rehabilitation 
grants/loans. 

Foreclosure Prevention 
Counseling 

The City will partner with other 
agencies to offer foreclosure 
prevention resources to homeowners.  

Step-Up Loan Program Minnesota Housing program to assist 
non first-time homebuyers to 
purchase or refinance a home through 
a dedicated loan program. The City 
may partner to offer education about 
this program. 

Housing Improvement 
Areas (HIAs) 

Because of a lack of this housing 
type, it is unlikely that the City will 
consider partnering with townhome 
or condominium associations on an 
HIA due to lack of opportunity. 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan   2-12   

Senior Housing Planned Unit 
Development (PUD) 

The City would consider a PUD 
application in the Urban Residential 
future land use district to 
accommodate affordable housing. 

Expedited Pre-application 
Process 

The City would consider creating a 
pre-application process to identify 
ways to minimize unnecessary delay 
for projects prior to formal 
application process.  

Site Assembly The City may consider assembling a site 
for this housing type. This could include 
acquiring and holding land as well as 
sub-allocating such monies to a qualified 
developer approved by the City Council. 

Zoning Ordinance The City will review the zoning 
ordinance and identify policies or 
regulations that may inhibit senior 
housing development. 

Tax Abatement The City would consider tax 
abatement for a senior housing 
project affordable at or below 80% 
AMI. 

Tax-Increment Financing 
(TIF) 

It is unlikely the City would support 
the use of TIF for this need/goal. 

Housing Bonds It is unlikely the City will consider 
issuing housing bonds to support 
senior housing development.  

Super or Consolidated 
RFP 

The City would consider supporting an 
application to RFP programs for senior 
housing affordable at or below 80% 
AMI in residential locations of the future 
land use map. 

Community Development 
Block Grant (CDBG) 

The City is not planning on using 
allocated CDBG funds for this housing 
type.  

Increasing the 
Livability of the City 

Livable Communities 
Demonstration Account 

The City would consider 
supporting/sponsoring an application 
to Livable Communities Account 
programs to address above housing 
needs/goals. 

Home Improvement 
Loans 

Minnesota Housing program to assist 
to homeowners in financing home 
maintenance projects to 
accommodating a physical disability 
or select energy efficiency 
improvement projects. The City may 
partner to offer education about this 
program. 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan   2-13   

ADU Ordinance  The City currently has an accessory 
dwelling units ordinance in place.   

Program or Framework The City will consider working with 
stakeholders to develop guiding 
principles, frameworks, and action 
plans to consider and incorporate the 
needs of older residents into 
development decisions. 

 
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    4-1  

 
 
                                                                                                                                                                 
 
 

 
 
 

4.0 TRANSPORTATION 
 

The Transportation Element of the Comprehensive Plan is a vital ingredient in the mix of 
components directing land use in the City.  The transportation system of the City should meet the 
needs of local citizens without creating unnecessary negative impacts on the community.  
Transportation planning involves predicting future development, traffic analysis, safety 
considerations, maintenance and repair needs and interagency cooperation.  The Transportation 
Plan is shown on Figure 10.  Hennepin County is projecting 2040 traffic for many roadways in the 
County and, when completed, those projections will be shown on the plan.  All the land area in the 
City of Independence is in the Metropolitan Council’s Transportation Analysis Zone 638. 
 
The Transportation Element of the Plan joins local, county, and regional transportation planning 
efforts.  It is interactive with proposed land use changes.  There is recognition that the region is 
not planning any new major arterials and that state and federal monies are less readily available 
than in the past.  Therefore, a primary component of the local plan is to remain respectful of in-
place infrastructure and rely on the backbone system of County and State roads.  To this end the 
transportation component minimizes any expansion of this local system and includes projected 
County plans. 
 
Current Projects 
 
Since the adoption of the 2030 Comprehensive Plan, Independence has spent a considerable 
amount of time and resources to secure funding for improvements to the Highway 12 and CSAH 
90 and CSAH 92 intersections.  The City along with West Hennepin Public Safety has been 
instrumental in the development and ongoing coordination of the Highway 12 Safety Coalition.  
This coalition was formed to advocate for the enhanced safety of Highway 12 from 494 to Cokato.  
This stretch of Highway 12 has seen an increase in fatal or significant crashes over the last 10 
years.  Several significant crashes occurred within the City of Independence during this time 
period.   
 
Two intersections as well as the extension of the existing concrete median were identified by the 
coalition as critical needs of the corridor.  The coalition successfully secured approximately 11 
million dollars in legislative funding during the 2017 legislative session to improve the two 
primary intersections in Independence.  The City has been working with Hennepin County and 

CITY OF INDEPENDENCE  
 2040 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 4.0 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    4-2  

MNDOT to prepare draft concept plans for the improvement to both intersections.  It is anticipated 
that both intersections will be improved between 2020 and 2023.  
 
County Road 90/Highway 12 Intersection Improvements 
The City, County and State have prepared a conceptual intersection improvement plan for this 
intersection.  The plan proposes a roundabout intersection that will realign the intersection and 
provide a safe way for residents to gain access to Highway 12.  The City is working to ensure that 
businesses have adequate turn lanes and access to the improved intersection. 
 

 
 
County Road 92/Highway 12 Intersection Improvements 
The City, County and State have prepared an initial concept alignment study for the redevelopment 
of both legs of this intersection.  The City is strongly supporting the development of an aligned 
intersection that has a grade separated crossing of the adjacent BNSF railroad.  The City believes 
that fully aligning the north and south legs of CSAH 92 will provide the City and region with a 
solution that will accommodate growth and development far into the future.  In addition, the City 
believes that the fully aligned solution provides the highest level of safety for the Highway 12 
corridor.   



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    4-3  

 
 

Functional Roadway Classification System 
 
The Metropolitan Council functional classification system consists of five classes of roadways: 
 
Principal Arterial 
 
The principal arterial system is the foremost element in the roadway network.  Principal arterials 
are used to connect the sub-regions in the Urban Service Area with each other as well as connect 
the Metro Area to outstate centers.  Principal arterials should not connect to collectors or local 
streets.  In all cases, they should be designed as fully controlled access facilities.  Connections with 
other roadways within the Urban Service Area should be only at grade-separated interchanges and 
land access should not be provided between these points.  Within the Rural Service Area, 
intersections may be controlled, with at grade intersections. 

 
Minor Arterials 
 
The minor arterial system complements and supports the principal and intermediate system, but is 
primarily oriented toward travel within and between adjacent subregions.  Minor arterials are 
generally spaced from one half mile to two miles apart and typically are two to four lane streets 
with signals or stop signs at major intersections.  Minor arterials are primarily oriented toward the 
provision of sub-metropolitan mobility and any land access should be oriented to public streets 
and major traffic generators.  Single-family driveways onto minor arterials should be strongly 
discouraged.  Minor arterials are generally not continuous across two or more sub regions.  These 
roadways are classified into the following groups: 
 
§ Relievers: Minor arterials that provide direct relief for traffic on major metropolitan highways.  

These roads include the closest routes parallel to the principal arterials within the urban and 
transitional areas.  These roadways are proposed to accommodate medium length trips (less 
than eight miles) as well as providing relief to congested principal arterials.   
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    4-4  

§ Expanders: Routes that provide a way to make connections between developing areas outside 
the interstate ring or beltway.  These routes are located circumferentially beyond those 
reasonably served by the beltway, usually medium to long suburb-to-suburb trips.   

 
§ Connectors: This subgroup of “A” minor arterials provide connections among the town centers 

in the transitional and rural areas within and near the seven counties.   
 
§ Augmenters: The fourth group of “A” minor arterials is those roads that augment principal 

arterials within the interstate ring or beltway.  The principal arterial network in this area is in 
place but not in all cases sufficient relative to the density of development that network serves.  
In these situations, these key minor arterials serve many long-range trips.  Improvements focus 
on providing additional capacity for through traffic. 

 
Collector Streets 
 
The collector system is to be deployed nearly entirely within sub regions to provide mobility 
between communities and neighborhoods.  The collector system provides as much for land access 
as it does for vehicle mobility.  The collector system also provides a "collection and distribution" 
system for the trips coming from or going to the metropolitan highway system.  That is, the 
collector system provides access to commercial, industrial, and high-density residential 
development, while the metropolitan highway system is more oriented toward line-haul or the 
"nonstop" portion of trips.  Collectors are spaced between principal and minor arterials usually 
from one-quarter mile to one mile apart.  Collectors are usually two or four lane streets with four 
way stop signs and traffic signals at intersections with other collectors and minor arterials.  
Collectors should not normally provide access to principal arterials. 
 
Principal Arterials 
 
The central transportation route to, from and through Independence is T.H. 12.  Geometric 
improvements have been made to an at-grade intersection with County Road 6 about 3 miles east 
of Independence to make that intersection safer for the traveling public.  No other improvements 
to T.H. 12 are programmed in the Mn/DOT’s Transportation System Plan.  Lack of improvement 
in carrying capacity on T.H. 12 will continue to place additional strain on CR 11 and CR 6 to move 
traffic west to east through the City.   

 
TABLE 23 FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATION  

Name Function  Principal 
Orientation Status 

T.H. 12 Principal Arterial E-W 2-lane paved 

CR6 Minor Arterial E-W 2-lane paved 

CR11 Minor Arterial E-W 2-lane paved 

CR19 Minor Arterial N-S 2-lane paved 

CR90 n. of TH12 Minor Arterial N-S 2-lane paved 

CR92 Minor Arterial N-S 2-lane paved 

CR83/110N Minor Arterial N-S 2-lane paved 

CR90 s. of TH12 Major Collector N-S 2-lane paved 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    4-5  

 
TABLE 24 FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM CHARACTERISTICS 

  
Principal 
Arterial 

Intermediate 
Arterial Minor Arterial Collector Local 

Land Access/Driveways None Limited Limited Direct Land 
Access Direct 

Right-of-Way 300’ 100’-300’ 66’-150’ 66’-100’ 50’-80’ 
Speed Limit 45-55 40-50 35-45 30-40 Max. 30 

Large Trucks No Restriction 
    

Restricted 
as 

Necessary 
Permitted 

Parking None None 
  

Restricted 
as 

Necessary 

Restricted as 
Necessary 

Max. Grade (%)  4 4 4 6 8 
 

Minor Arterials 
 
The east-west arterials include CR 11 from Medina to the western City limits and CR 6 from Town 
Line Road to the western City limits.  North/South arterials include CR 19 from the southern City 
limits to Baker Park Road, CR 92 from CR 11 to the southern City limits, CR 90 from CR 6 to CR 
11 and CR 83/110 from Maple Plain to the southern City limits.  No plans exist for alterations of 
existing minor arterial roads in the City. 
 
Collectors 
The only street identified as a collector street is County Road 90 south of T.H.12.  No plans exist 
for alterations of CR 90. 
Local Streets 
 
The local street system is deployed continuously through all developed areas to provide for local 
circulation and direct land access.  The local street system is deployed within the grid of streets 
created by the collector and minor arterial system and comprises the largest percentage of total 
street mileage. 
 
Total mileage by classification is: 
 
Principal Arterial   6.5 miles 
Minor Arterial  25.5 miles 
Collector      .9 miles 
Local hard surfaced  22.7 miles 
 
Access Guidelines 
 
Access guidelines along roadway corridors provide a means for balancing safety concerns and the 
need of property owners to access the circulation system.  Standardized guidelines as those adopted 
by Hennepin County reflect Minnesota DOT best practices and can aid in the reduction of 
complaints and traffic incidents.  As noted in the Hennepin County Transportation Plan for each 
functional classification category, these recommended guidelines should be used in the planning 
process for all new and existing roadway improvements. 

  



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    4-6  

 
 

TABLE 25 ADDITIONAL FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM CHARACTERISTICS 

Class Function Provide Access To Access Spacing 

Principal Arterial 

Service to major 
centers of activity, 

provides continuity to 
rural arterial system 

Principal arterial, 
minor arterial 

1 mile = primary full 
movement intersection, 1/2 

mile = conditional 
secondary intersection 

Minor Arterial 

Service of an intra-
community nature, 

urban concentrations 
to rural collector roads 

Principal arterial, 
Collector Streets, 

Land 

½ mile = primary full 
movement intersection, 1/4 

mile = conditional 
secondary intersection 

Collector Street 

Local collection and 
distribution between 
collector streets and 

arterial, land access in 
minor generations 

Land Minor arterial 
Local streets 

½ mile = primary full 
movement intersection, 1/4 

mile = conditional 
secondary intersection 

Local Streets Service to abutting 
land 

Land, Higher 
system elements 

300-600 feet dependent 
upon block length 

Source: Metropolitan Council 
 

Railroads 
 

Two railroads pass east west through the City.  The Canadian Pacific passes through the northeast 
corner of the City and the Burlington Northern route runs through the center of Independence parallel 
to T.H. 12. 
 
Airports 
Maple Airport is an FAA-licensed grass runway airport located on County Road 83 approximately 
1/4 mile south of the Maple Plain City Limits.  The nearest minor airport is in Buffalo, 15 miles away.  
The following data indicates other proximate airports to the City: 
 
   MSP International 30 miles 
   Buffalo   15 miles 
   Crystal   21 miles 
   Flying Cloud  21 miles 
 
Lake Independence and Lake Sarah are permitted use areas for seaplane operations under 
Man/DOT Rule 14 MCAR 1.3018. 
 
The City has no existing structures of 200 feet or more in height.  Any applicant who proposes to 
construct a facility taller than 200 feet is required to notify the City and the Commissioner of the 
Minnesota Department of Transportation at least 30 days in advance as required by Man/DOT 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    4-7  

Rule 14 MCAR 1.3015, Subdivision C and the Federal Aviation Administration using FAA Form 
7460-1. 
 
Heliports 
 
No helicopter landing facilities currently exist or are planned in Independence.  If a heliport facility 
is proposed in the City, the City will utilize the Metropolitan Councils model heliport ordinance 
to assist in responding to heliport proposal and to provide a basis for appropriate land use controls. 
 
Public Transportation 
 
The City of Independence is outside of the Metropolitan Transit Taxing district and therefore, no 
regular route transit service exists or is planned in the City.  Independence is currently in Market 
Area IV.  Transportation service options for Market Area IV include dial-a-ride, volunteer driver 
programs and ride sharing.  Dial-a-ride service is provided by the Delano River Rider and 
Westonka Rides.  The City will support regional park and ride facilities as they develop. 
 
No light rail transit is planned for the City. 
 
Regional Bicycle Transportation Network 
 
The Regional Bicycle Transportation Network (RBTN) is the official Twin Cities regional 
bikeway network. It was established in 2014 based on a Regional Bicycle System Study analysis 
and prioritization of potential corridors.  At present, there are no existing or future RBTN routes 
located in Independence. 
 
Freight Network 
 
The primary freight roadway route through Independence is TH 12, which runs east- west 
through the city, roughly parallel to the Burlington Northern railroad.  Other freight travels by 
rail. There currently are no identified freight issues in the city.



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    4-8  

Figure 10: Transportation Plan and Projections  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    4-9  

4.1 Goals, Policies, and Implementation Strategies 
 
GOALS POLICIES IMPLEMENTATION 

1. Realize the 
completion of CSAH 
90/92 and Highway 
12 Intersections. 

 

• Work with agencies as 
necessary to promote the 
development of this 
infrastructure.  
 

 

§ Help facilitate the planning, 
design and land acquisition for 
the necessary improvements. 
 

§ Keep the public well informed 
relating to the status of the 
project and major decision 
points. 

2. Maintain the existing 
infrastructure in a 
manner which 
extends its lifespan to 
maximize tax dollars. 

 
 

• Continue to add drain tile to 
gravel roads. 
 

• Continue seal coating and 
crack sealing of all paved 
roads. 

 
• Plan and budget for a 

second overlay project 
every 10 years. 

 
 

 
 

§ Ensure that the City continues to 
follow the capital expenditure 
plan. 
 

§ Develop a clear crack-sealing 
and seal coating plan. 
 

§ Look for funding 
opportunities to continue 
tiling gravel roads. 

 
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-1    

 
 

3.0 LAND USE 

The Independence Land Use Plan is a result of five decades of municipal planning activity, citizen’s 
involvement, and reasonable decision-making. This plan responds to the variety of social, economic 
and environmental forces at work in the City. The Plan is multi-faceted in that it considers regional, 
state and county plans; coordinates with adjacent municipal, watershed and government agency 
plans; balances competing forces of development, environment, private citizen, and community wide 
needs; and serves as a principal local decision-making tool. 

 
In order to accomplish this broad range of purposes, the City has developed guidelines for local 
development, enacted protective regulations for environmentally sensitive lands, completed studies 
and plans for future transportation and utility needs, and made a commitment to continue as an active 
participant in shaping the growth of the community. 

 
The future land use plan distinguishes between two basic planning areas in the City, a rural residential 
area and an agriculture area. The plan recognizes certain evolving trends and eventualities: 

 
§ Independence will continue to experience growth pressure due to its geographic position, 

excellent home values, high quality natural resources and its unique rural character. 
§ Growth occurring around and within the City is placing new demands on state, county and 

local transportation facilities and City services 
 

The plan is built on a series of priorities that have evolved through policy development, public 
participation, and issue resolution. These basic plan tenets are: 

 
§ Preserve and enhance the rural character of the community 
§ Protect environmentally sensitive areas 
§ Protect local agriculture 
§ Concentrate opportunities for commerce and industry to strategic locations 
§ Expand housing opportunities in locations directly adjacent to Maple Plain and Delano 

where existing utilities can accommodate growth 
§ Empower the local community to control its future 
§ Diversify the local tax base where feasible, but not at the peril of Independence’s high 

quality and rural character 

 .0 
CITY OF INDEPENDENCE 

2040 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-2    

The land use plan will function to define the relationship of natural resources and land use 
development decisions as well as coordinate with zoning laws and other regulations to provide 
logical, efficient and effective decision-making. The land use plan is also an intergovernmental 
document, coordinating the City’s plans with regional, county and adjacent municipal planning 
activities. The 2040 Land Use Plan is shown on Figure 7. 

 
 

3.1 Existing Land Use 
 

The City of Independence is 19,604 acres or approximately 31 square miles in land area, most of which 
is non-urbanized. One- third of the land area is contained in parcels 40 acres or more in size and 
another one-third is in parcels of land from five to 40 acres. Of the land area, 6,108 acres consist of 
wetlands. Existing land use is shown on Figure 15. Currently the City has a gross density of 1 unit per 
17 acres. 

 
TABLE 15 EXISTING LAND USE IN ACRES 2017 

 
Land Use Acres % of Total 

Agriculture 7,234 32.7% 
Airport 10 0.0% 
Farmstead 309 1.4% 
Golf Course 432 2.0% 
Industrial and Utility 51 0.2% 
Institutional 54 0.2% 
Major Highway 97 0.4% 
Mixed Use Commercial and Other 1 0.0% 
Mixed Use Industrial 4 0.0% 
Mixed Use Residential 3 0.0% 
Multifamily 0 0.0% 
Open Water 1,514 6.9% 
Park, Recreational or Preserve 1,584 7.2% 
Retail and Other Commercial 41 0.2% 
Seasonal/Vacation 2 0.0% 
Single Family Detached 2,383 10.8% 
Undeveloped Land 8,383 37.9% 
TOTAL 22,102 100.0% 
 
 
Source: Metropolitan Council 

 
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-3    

 
Agriculture 

 
 

While remaining the predominant land use in the City in terms of acreage, agriculture land use has 
continued to decline as development occurs within the City. In 2017 approximately 7,200 acres of land 
remained in agriculture. 

 
Residential 

 

The 2010 census indicates that there were 1,241 occupied dwelling units in the City, an increase of 
155occupied units, or 14%, over 2000 units. About 97% of the occupied dwelling units in the City are 
single family detached and about 94% are owner-occupied. 

 
TABLE 16 OCCUPIED HOUSING UNITS BY TYPE 1990‐2010 

 

1990* 2000* 2010** 

Owners Renters Owners  Renters Owners  Renters 
Single-family detached 838 62 1,034 25 1,144 61 
Single-family attached 2 0 0 7 0 0 

Duplexes 2 5 0 3 18 0 
Multi-family 0 3 0 15 0 18 

Mobile Homes 3 2 0 2 0 0 
Other Units 4 4 0 0 0 0 

TOTAL 849 76 1,034 52 1,162 79 
 
*Figures for years 1990 and 2000 reported from Decennial Censuses 
**Figures for total units in year 2010 reported from 2010 Decennial Census; breakdown by units in structure estimated using data from 
2010 American Community Survey 

Source: Metropolitan Council, US Census, 
US American Community Survey 

 
The City is an almost-exclusively single-family residential community. Building permits for construction 
of new housing during the 1980’s, 1990’s, 2000’s and so far, this decade have all been for single-family 
detached housing. 

 
TABLE 17 BUILDING PERMITS 1970‐2010 

 
 

Housing Type 

 
 

1970-1979 

 
 

1980-1989 

 
 

1990-1999 

 
 

2000-2009 

 
 

2010-2017 
Single-family detached 242 140 238 206 54 
Single-family attached 0 0 0 0 0 

Duplexes 0 0 0 0 0 
Multi-family 21 0 0 0 0 

Mobile Homes 0 0 0 0 0 
Total Permits 263 140 238 206 54 

Source: City of Independence 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-4    

Figure 1: Existing Land Use 
 
 
 

 
  



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-5    

3.2 Natural Resources 
 

Effective land use planning necessitates a comprehensive understanding of the natural features, 
physical resources, and environmental limitations of the land. Appropriate uses for land are 
determined through an inventory of the soils, slopes, wetlands, and vegetation. 

 
Geology 

 

Independence lies within two general landscape units, as identified in "Landscapes of Hennepin 
County" published by the Hennepin County Soil Conservation Service in 1976. The western central 
part, lying west of County Road 92, is part of the Corcoran Till Plain and is the best farmland in the 
community. The land is gently rolling with wet basins, low knolls, and ridges, and is primarily a 
utilitarian landscape rather than a scenic one. According to the report, it is a land formation "made 
for agriculture in a world that needs this land”. Many of the soils in this landscape unit have a high 
seasonal water table, hence are unsuitable for residential developments utilizing conventional on-site 
sewage disposal systems. 

 
The balance of the City is in the landscape unit known as the Loretto Highlands, a landscape with 
more relief containing soils with more clay content. Steep slopes, deep marshes and poorly drained 
upland flats dominate the landscape. Although suited for agriculture, they pose problems for efficient 
utilization of the land. Farm managers must use effective planning to realize a profitable use for this 
land. 

 
Soils 

 

Independence has three general identifiable soil characteristics. 
 

1. The Erin-Kilkenny-Peat Association is located in the central and northwest portion of the City 
and occupies the largest area of the three associations. This association is characterized by rolling to 
hilly relief with major soil conditions consisting of clay loam, heavy clay and peat. The clay soils are 
found on gentle to steep slopes, are well drained and generally suited for urban development. Heavy 
clay is, for the most part, a subsoil condition and is also conducive for development. Peat soils located 
in low-lying areas have high moisture capacity and are generally poorly drained. Peat soils are a 
limiting factor for development. 

 
2. The Lester-Hamel-Peat Association, located in the southern and southwestern portions of 
Independence, is characterized by undulating relief with major soil conditions consisting of black 
loam, clay loam and peat. The black and clay loams are suited for urban development. 

 
3. The third association, Hayden-Cordova-Peat, is located in the northwest part of the City and 
is the smallest in area of the three groups. The terrain is basically undulating to rolling. The soil 
conditions generally consist of brown loam, clay loam and light clay loam. Many of the soils in this 
association are poorly drained, and wet areas are often intermingled closely with better-drained soils. 
The sporadic wetness and poor drainage of the soil must be a consideration for any development. 
Peat soils severely restrict development because of their wetness and location. 

 
On the soils map (Figure 2), in addition to the three soil associations, a breakdown has been given as 
to the suitability of the land for development. The categories are broken down into four groups: 
marsh, peat, loam and clay loam. Basically marsh is not developable, while peat areas offer very 
limited opportunities due to lowness, wetness, and close proximity to marshes. Certain areas in the 
loam category have poor drainage and relatively steep slopes could hinder development of areas with 
clay loam. 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-6    

Suitability 
 

The soils of a particular site are important in determining which uses are compatible with the 
environment. Soil fertility, permeability, stability and so on, limit certain types of development or 
use. This soil assessment is only a preliminary overview, not site specific. It is an approximation of 
area soil limitations and should function to guide general planning determinations. 

 
Soil suitability was based according to urban land use characteristics. The Soil Conservation Service 
inventory rated soils according to similarity of limitation. These ratings were based on: 

 
Slope steepness  Permeability   Corrosivity of steel and concrete 
Depth to water table Erosion hazard 
Soil strength and stability Frost action potential 

Steep Slopes 

Altering land with slopes in excess of 12% is both environmentally hazardous and very expensive. 
Due to their shallow soils, steep slopes have a greatly reduced capacity for water retention. Alteration 
can increase the already rapid runoff to produce sheet erosion, damaging the land and causing 
subsequent sedimentation to lakes and streams. When steep slope land is converted to urban use, 
runoff increases by a factor of 10 to 100 times. Increased runoff causes "flashy" streams 
and flooding problems in lower areas. 

 
The general relief of Independence can be described as gently rolling. This is especially true in the 
central and western area. This type of terrain has a slope of 5-20%. Those areas approaching 12% 
slope are susceptible to erosion, especially during construction. Areas that contain a 0-5% slope are 
the marshlands and their perimeters. As noted before, wetlands are located throughout the 
community. 

 
There are a few isolated locations in the City that have slopes of over 20%. One such area is near the 
City’s southern boundary, east of Lyndale. Another location is in an area that runs between Lakes 
Independence and Sarah. These slopes should not be developed, as they are very susceptible to severe 
erosion damage. With the large amounts of rolling to level land in Independence, the slope of the 
terrain cannot be considered as a major factor that will limit development. 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-7    

Figure 2: Soils Map 

 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-8    

Permeability 
 

Permeability is the capability of soils that allows water to pass through them. Excessively coarse 
soils, soils with bedrock close to the surface, or soils with a high-water table are severely limited for 
many types of development. These soils are subject to pollution problems when used for on-site 
sewage disposal systems. Coarse soils percolate too rapidly, tight soils too slowly. Development can 
increase flood hazard on soils with low permeability. These lands are also susceptible to excessive 
shrink-swell alterations with changes in moisture content. 

 
Flood Hazard 

 

Flood plains and wetlands are generally recognized as unwise to develop for any urban use if it 
restricts the flow of floodwater or hinders the capacity of soils to absorb and store runoff. The costs 
of altering water recharge areas and spaces subject to periodic flooding have become very apparent. 
Flood-prone soils are better used as recreation and open space areas. 

 
Water Resources 

 

Water quality and supply are primary elements used to determine the location and amount of 
development appropriate for an area. The abundance of local lakes has stimulated the current demand 
for housing development as well as sustaining local and regional recreation facilities. Water can 
provide transportation, create recreational opportunities, supply wildlife habitat, assimilate sewage 
effluent, and of course, replenish well water facilities. 

 
Historically residential development has altered natural drainage routes, destroying the land's ability 
to store and retain water. Wetlands have been filled or drained and paved and runoff and erosion 
problems have developed. Subsequent flooding and sedimentation occurs in drainageways, 
necessitating costly repairs or control devices to retard overflow and pollution hazards. Laws 
intending to preserve wetlands including the State Wetland Conservation Act make the filling of 
wetlands much more difficult. 

 
Responsible water resource management by local government is necessary to protect the community's 
natural systems. This is being accomplished by implementation of the City’s Local Surface Water 
Management Plan in cooperation with the Minnehaha Creek Watershed District and the Pioneer Sarah 
Watershed Management Commission. Utilizing appropriate development in accordance with land 
capabilities is the first step in effectively ensuring future public health and safety. 

 
Watersheds and Drainage Patterns 

 
The City of Independence is within the jurisdiction of the Pioneer-Sarah Creek Watershed 
Management Commission (PSCWMC) and the Minnehaha Creek Watershed District (MCWD). 
In general, water from the PSCWMC drains west to the Crow River then north to the Mississippi 
River and water from the MCWD drains to Lake Minnetonka and Minnehaha Creek then east to 
the Mississippi River. 
 
With the existing creeks and ditches in place, the drainage patterns for the City of Independence 
are fairly well defined. Four major watersheds were identified for Independence; they include 
Painter Creek, Pioneer Creek, Sarah Creek and South Fork Crow River. These four watersheds 
and the Watershed District and Watershed Management Commission boundaries are shown on 
Figure 3. 

 
The Painter Creek Watershed is located in the southeast corner of Independence. This is the only 
watershed in Independence under the jurisdiction of the MCWD. The drainage area includes parts 
of Independence, Medina, Orono, and Minnetrista. The drainage flows from Katrina Lake in 
Medina to the west and south to Jennings Bay in Lake Minnetonka. 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-9    

The Pioneer Creek Watershed is located in central Independence. It drains from Lake 
Independence to the west and south to Ox Yoke Lake in Minnetrista. The drainage area includes 
parts of Independence and Medina. Approximately 65% of the City drains to Pioneer Creek. 
Major water bodies in the watershed include Lake Independence and Lake Robina. 

 
The Sarah Creek Watershed is located in northeastern Independence and includes drainage from 
Greenfield, Corcoran, Medina, and Independence. The general flow is from east to west through 
Lake Sarah to the Crow River. Lake Sarah is the only major water body in this watershed. 

 
The South Fork Crow River Watershed is located in western and northwestern Independence. The 
drainage flows from east to west to the Crow River. Major water bodies in this watershed include 
Lake Rebecca and Haughey Lake. 

 
MnDNR Protected Waters, Wetlands and Water Courses 

 

The Minnesota Department of Natural Resources (MnDNR) has designated certain waters of the 
state as public waters (Minn. Rules 6115.1060). MnDNR “Protected Waters and Wetlands” maps 
show public waters within the City. A MnDNR permit is required for work within a designated 
public water. 

 
Figure 4 shows the protected waters, wetlands, and water courses located in the City. Sections 
below summarize the protected waters, wetlands and watercourses in Independence. 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-10    

Figure 3: Watershed Map 
 
 

 
  



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-11    

Figure 4: Protected Waters Map 

 

 
  



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-12    

Protected Waters 
 

There are 12 protected waters, identified with a number and the letter “P”, in the City of 
Independence. With the exception of Lake Independence and Lake Sarah, all of these basins are 
relatively shallow, ranging from partially drained wetland areas to moderately shallow lakes 
(average depth less than 10 feet). Table 15 lists the protected waters within Independence. 
 
Protected Wetlands 

 

In addition to the 12 protected waters, there are 40 other basins within the Independence area that 
have been inventoried by MnDNR. All of these basins are known as public waters wetlands (M.S., 
section 103G.005, subdivision 18) and therefore their beds along with the lakes are subject to 
regulatory authority of the MnDNR. 

 
Public waters wetlands include all type 3, 4 and 5 wetlands, as defined in United States Fish and 
Wildlife Service Circular 39 (USDI, 1971), not included within the definition of public waters, 
that are ten or more acres in size in unincorporated areas, or 2.5 acres in incorporated areas. Table 
16 lists the public waters wetlands subject to MnDNR jurisdiction. 

 
TABLE 18 INDEPENDENCE PROTECTED WATERS 

 

I.D. No. 

 

Name 

 

Twp./Range 

 

Section(s) 
Local 

Government 

Unit 

Area 

(acres) 

DNR 

Shoreland 

Classification1 

 

OHW 

 
27-

176P 
Lake 

Independence 

 
118/23,24 

 
7,12,13,18,19,2

4 

 
PSCWM

C 

 
1024 

 
RD 

 
956.

8 

27-
178P 

Ox Yoke 
lake 

117,118/24 5,6,31,32 PSCWM
C 

325 NE 915.
4 

27-
188P 

Robina 118/24 8,9,16,17 PSCWM
C 

395 RD N/A 

27-
189P 

Lake Irene 118/24 22 PSCWM
C 

27 RD N/A 

27-
191P 

Lake Sarah 118,119/24 1,2,3,34,35 PSCWM
C 

635 RD 979.
9 

27-
192P 

Lake 
Rebecca 

118,119/24 5,31,32 PSCWM
C 

260 NE N/A 

27-
379P 

Unnamed 118,119/24 Jun-31 PSCWM
C 

15 NR N/A 

27-
380P 

Unnamed 118/24 6 PSCWM
C 

24 NR N/A 

27-
381P 

Unnamed 118/24 5 PSCWM
C 

9 NR N/A 

27-
411P 

Unnamed 118,119/24 6,31 PSCWM
C 

81 NR N/A 

27-
412P 

Unnamed 118/24 6 PSCWM
C 

32 NR N/A 

27-
926P 

Unnamed 117,118/24 4,5,32,33 PSCWM
C 

245 NR N/A 

1 NE = Natural Environment, RD = Recreational Development, GD = General Development, NR = Not regulated by DNR shoreland rules. 
Source: MnDNR 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-13    

TABLE 19 INDEPENDENCE PROTECTED WETLANDS 
 

I.D. No. 
 

Name 
 

Twp./Range 
 

Section(s) 
Local 
Govt. 
Unit 

Area 

(acres) 

DNRShoreland1 

Classification 

 
OHW 

27-187W Haughey 
Lake 118/24 7,8 PSCWMC 51 NE 953.2 

27-362W Unnamed 118,119/24 1,36 PSCWMC 17 NR N/A 

27-367W Unnamed 118/24 1 PSCWMC 12 NR N/A 

27-368W Unnamed 118/24 1 PSCWMC 7 NR N/A 

27-369W Unnamed 118/24 1 PSCWMC 5 NR N/A 

27-373W Unnamed 118/24 12 PSCWMC 11 NR N/A 

27-374W Unnamed 118/24 2,11 PSCWMC 20 NR N/A 

27-375W Unnamed 118/24 2 PSCWMC 3 NR N/A 

27-376W Unnamed 118/24 2 PSCWMC 10 NR N/A 

27-377W Unnamed 118/24 2 PSCWMC 10 NR N/A 

27-378W Unnamed 118/24 2 PSCWMC 68 NR N/A 

27-382W Unnamed 118/24 4 PSCWMC 30 NR N/A 

27-383W Unnamed 118/24 8 PSCWMC 7 NR N/A 

27-385W Unnamed 118/24 16,21 PSCWMC 47 NR N/A 

27-386W Unnamed 118/24 16 PSCWMC 6 NR N/A 

27-387W Unnamed 118/24 16 PSCWMC 3 NR N/A 

27-388W Unnamed 118/24 21 PSCWMC 18 NR N/A 

27-389W Unnamed 118/24 21 PSCWMC 5 NR N/A 

27-391W Unnamed 118/24 22 PSCWMC 4 NR N/A 

27-392W Unnamed 118/24 22,27 PSCWMC 43 NR N/A 

27-393W Unnamed 118/24 23,24 PSCWMC 278 NR N/A 

27-394W Unnamed 118/24 13,14,23,24 PSCWMC 63 NR N/A 

27-395W Unnamed 118/24 24 PSCWMC 4 NR N/A 

27-396W Unnamed 118/24 25 MCWD 29 NR N/A 

27-397W Unnamed 118/24 10 PSCWMC 8 NR N/A 

27-398W Unnamed 118/24 11,14 PSCWMC 47 NR N/A 

27-399W Unnamed 118/24 14,15 PSCWMC 15 NR N/A 

27-400W Unnamed 118/24 14 PSCWMC 5 NR N/A 

27-401W Unnamed 118/24 14 PSCWMC 4 NR N/A 

27-402W Unnamed 118/24 12 PSCWMC 3 NR N/A 

27-413W Unnamed 118/24 18 PSCWMC 12 NR N/A 

27-414W Unnamed 118/24 19 PSCWMC 10 NR N/A 

27-921W Unnamed 117,118/24 1,36 MCWD 88 NR N/A 

27-922W Unnamed 118/24 25 MCWD 52 NR N/A 

27-923W Painter Lake 117,118/24 2,3,34,35 MCWD 292 NR 938.4 

27-924W Unnamed 118/24 27 MCWD 36 NR N/A 

27-925W Unnamed 118/24 29,32 PSCWMC 49 NR N/A 

27-927W Unnamed 117,118/24 4,33 PSCWMC 7 NR N/A 

27-1090W Unnamed 118/24 7 PSCWMC 7 NR N/A 

27-1097W Unnamed 118/24 8 PSCWMC 10 NR N/A 
1 NE = Natural Environment, NR = Not regulated by DNR shoreland rules. 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-14    

Watercourses 
 

Public waters also include all natural and altered watercourses with a total drainage area greater 
than two square miles. Painter Creek, Pioneer Creek, Robina Creek and Loretto Creek are four 
protected watercourses in Independence. The four watercourses are discussed below. 

 
• Painter Creek 

 
Painter Creek is located in the southeast corner of Independence. The creek is the outlet of Katrina 
Lake and flows west to south to Jennings Bay on Lake Minnetonka. 

 
• Pioneer Creek 

 
Pioneer Creek is located in central Independence. The creek is the outlet of Lake Independence 
and flows west to south to Ox Yoke Lake, which is south of Independence. Ox Yoke Lake 
eventually discharges to the South Fork Crow River. 

 
• Robina Creek 

 
Robina Creek is a tributary of Pioneer Creek and is located in central Independence. The Creek is 
the outlet of Robina Lake and flows from north to south to Pioneer Creek. 

 
• Loretto Creek 

 
A portion of Loretto Creek is located in the northeast corner of Independence. The creek flows 
from east to west and discharges to Lake Sarah. Lake Sarah then discharges through Sarah Creek 
to the west to the South Fork Crow River. 

 
Other Regulated Wetlands 

 
In addition to the MnDNR waters previously discussed, many additional wetlands within the City 
are included on the National Wetland Inventory (NWI) maps but are not MnDNR water bodies. 
Figure 5 includes other regulated wetlands based on the NWI maps. The following three 
characteristics make these water bodies exclusive from the MnDNR public waters and public 
waters wetlands. 

 
• First, an individual basin may be dominated by wetland habitat (Types 1, 2, 6, and 7 [USDI, 

1971] not statutorily covered by MnDNR and yet is immediately adjacent to an inventoried 
MnDNR basin or watercourse. 

 
• Second, an individual isolated wetland basin may be smaller than the minimum MnDNR size 

(2.5 or 10 acres) as discussed previously. 
 

• Third, an individual isolated wetland basin may be dominated by habitat types (Types 1, 2, 6, 
and 7) not statutorily covered by MnDNR. 

 
Excavation, filling, grading and/or development actions which may adversely affect these 
resources may be subject to federal permitting authority under Sections 404 and 401 of the Clean 
Water Act, (33 USC 125 et. seq.) and City approval under the 1991 Wetland Conservation Act 
(WCA). The City is the local governmental unit that administers the WCA. 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-15    

Figure 5: National Wetland Inventory Map 

 

 
  



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-16    

Water Quality 
 

Water quality is directly affected by seepage, percolation, and runoff. When these actions adversely 
alter water quality, they are termed either point source or non-point source pollution. Point source 
pollutants enter water and wetlands at specific locations via a pipe or a permanent outfall structure; 
the most common examples being sewage treatment plant outfalls and industrial discharge pipes. 
Non-point source pollutants are far more dispersed, entering waterways via runoff, seepage, and 
sedimentation. Common examples of non-point pollution include stormwater runoff, agricultural 
field drainage and septic systems. 

 
Uncontrolled stormwater runoff is currently the greatest single pollutant of our water resources. 
Common pollutants in stormwater runoff include sediments, nutrients, oxygen-demanding 
substances, heavy metals, chlorides, oil and grease, pesticides, PCB's and bacteria. These pollutants 
may create a "shock" load on lakes and streams during low flow conditions associated with warm 
weather. Sediment from stormwater runoff may carry those pollutants to local wetlands causing water 
quality degradation and eutrophication. 

 
Non-point pollution may be caused by the improper use of fertilizers and pesticides on both 
agricultural and residential land. Compact development in non-sewered areas can lead to 
overburdening of the area's soils, causing pollution of local groundwater. The result is the same as an 
inadequate septic system - a health hazard to individuals using local water supplies. Any development 
that has not provided necessary water retention facilities, erosion control devices, or stringent control 
of individual septic systems may create a potential pollution hazard to local residents. 

 
Cover Types 

 

Independence is covered with three basic cover categories—vegetation, open water and artificial or 
manmade surfaces. Vegetated cover includes land that is cultivated or planted, woodland, shrubland, 
herbaceous, oak forest, maple-basswood forest, lowland hardwood forest, forest on flooded or 
saturated soils or other upland forest. 

 
Agriculture - A large share of the land area is under cultivation, with the major crops being corn, 
alfalfa, soybeans, small grains, and orchards. Other fields are used for open pasture and the grazing 
of horses and cattle. 

 
Overstory - The deciduous forest of the dry phase category is characteristic in central Minnesota. In 
the City, the forests are scattered, with no one area predominating. Large stands of trees exist on 
many farms and along lakes and streams. The most common trees are oak, maple, elm, linden, box 
elder and a variety of evergreen. 

 
Pioneer - This form of vegetation and plant life is found near creeks and drainage basins. Soils are 
well drained and are usually covered extensively with vegetation. Predominant plants found are 
willow, poplar, cottonwood and sumac. 

 
Native Grasslands and Prairie - In the areas that have escaped cultivation, these forms of grasses are 
found to be rich, moist and poorly drained. Tall prairie grasses generally are found adjacent to the 
deciduous forest. In Independence these grasses frequently can be found in higher lands. Cover types 
are shown on Figure 6. 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-17    

Figure 6: Cover Types 

 

 
  



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-18    

3.3 Future Land Use 
 

The land use plan provides the City with a roadmap to ensure the community can sustainably 
develop from now until the year 2040. The plan is wholly similar to the three previous 
comprehensive plan maps. The Rural Residential line has been slightly adjusted at the very north 
end to align with existing land uses and historic subdivisions.  Currently, there are approximately 
7,900 acres of land guided as Agricultural Preserve citywide; this number will reduce 
significantly through the year 2040 as land is developed. 

 
The plan defines the preferred future development pattern for the City. The plan designates two 
primary planning areas as well as several smaller sub-planning areas. The first primary planning 
area is guided for long-term agricultural, is comprised of approximately two-thirds of the City and 
is situated on the western side. The second primary planning area is guided primarily for rural 
residential development and is comprised of approximately one-third of the City and is situated 
on the eastern side. The rural residential area encourages rural character by utilizing large lot 
development, cluster development design, protection of environmentally sensitive areas and 
limited extension of urban services.  

 
 
 
For the foreseeable future, it likely will be infeasible to extend public water and sewer into most of 
the rural residential area. For areas where there may be potential for future services, Independence 
may use flexible residential development tools to preserve land for post-2040 growth and to 
accommodate the future extension of regional urban services. This also may be used in locations with 
extensive natural resource areas, where regular lot configurations may be inadvisable or infeasible. 
Independence will seek compatibility between city development standards and flexible development 
guidelines for Diversified Rural communities, where applicable. 
 
However, the City has experienced pressure from existing landowners and the development 
community to consider the development of sewered residential properties within the City. In the 2030 
Comprehensive Plan, the City identified an area directly north of the City of Maple Plain for sewered 
development. In order to respond to and accommodate the Metropolitan Council’s projected growth, 
Independence has guided five specific areas for sewered residential development in the 2040 
Comprehensive Plan. The five areas are positioned directly adjacent to similar development in Maple 
Plain. These areas will be guided as one of the following land use classes, which will be discussed 
later in this chapter: Lakeshore Estates, Low Density Residential, Medium Density Residential, and 
High Density Residential. 
 
The three areas identified for sewered residential have the following characteristics: 

 
Budd Avenue/Perkinsville Road Area (~95 gross acres) – This area will be served by 
existing sanitary sewer facilities owned by the City of Independence along Perkinsville 
Road. An amendment to the Quad-City Agreement will be required in order to extend 
sanitary services to this area. The are proposed to be developed is less than the approved 
area identified in the 2030 Comprehensive Plan. Water will need to be provided by the City 
of Maple Plain. The Cities have previously agreed to consider a joint powers agreement 
which would provide this area with water service. 

 
County Road 19 Area (~20 gross acres) – This area will be served by new sanitary sewer 
facilities which will be owned by the City of Independence and connect directly to the 
regional lift station located at the end of Willow St. in Maple Plain. A new sanitary sewer 
pipe will need to be developed to serve this property as well as future sewered residential 
properties to the south and west. The City has prepared a conceptual sanitary sewer 
routing plan to ensure that this area can be developed. Water will need to be provided by the 
City of Maple Plain. 

 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-19    

County Road 83/Main Street Area (~105 gross acres) – This area will be served by new 
sanitary sewer facilities which will be owned by the City of Independence and connect 
directly to the regional lift station located at the end of Willow St. in Maple Plain. A new 
sanitary sewer pipe will need to be developed from the east to serve this property as well 
as future sewered residential properties to the south and west. The City has prepared a 
conceptual sanitary sewer routing plan to ensure that this area can be developed. Water 
will need to be provided by the City of Maple Plain. 
 
The City recognizes that the Metropolitan Council established a 2040 growth forecast for the 
metropolitan region (see Table 3).  The City of Independence does not agree with the projected 
forecast for 2040 and noted that its projection reduced the approved 2030 Comprehensive Plan 
forecast from 593 to 300 households which represents an approximate 50% decrease in projected 
growth.  Due to a wide array of uncertain variables associated with population forecasts and 
regional growth, the City has prepared a 2040 land use plan that considers local market factors, 
current landowner development interest and geographic relevance of each property projected to 
change.  For these reasons, the City will continue to plan and exhibit growth potential based on the 
City’s projected forecasts but will agree to limit growth to no more than the current Metropolitan 
Council growth forecasts without a comprehensive plan amendment. 
 
Residential land uses within the 2020-2040 staging areas includes approximately 37 net acres of 
Lakeshore Estates, 124 net acres of Low Density Residential, 40 net acres of Medium Density 
Residential and 5 net acres of High Density Residential which provides for a total of 657 units (See 
Table 21 and Figure 16 – Development Phasing). 

 
Of the 657 projected units, the City would allow the flexible development of 300 total units as a 
floating Municipal Urban Service Area (MUSA).  The development of these units shall be in 
accordance with the location, phasing and densities prescribed within this plan for each land use 
type designated.  This provision will allow the development of parcels located within the 2020-2040 
projected staging areas to be developed based on market demand and individual property owner 
timing for selling or developing.  The development of more than 300 units would require a 
comprehensive plan amendment. 
 
 

Table 20 provides data showing existing land use and planned land use in five-year increments, 
based on the land use plan. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 7: Future Land Use Map 
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-20    

 
 
The land use plan is meant to provide a graphic guide when considering rezoning, planned unit 
development, conditional use, subdivision, and other land use requests. 
 

  



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-21    

Land Use Categories 

Agriculture Preserve District 
 

Agriculture, horse ranches, hobby farms and landscape operations will continue to be a principal 
land use component in the City. Agriculture including grain crops, truck farms and the raising of 
beef, swine and turkeys will be encouraged to remain a vital component in the local mix of people 
and commerce. It is anticipated that the number of agricultural operations will continue to 
diminish due to ongoing socio-economic trends and rising land prices. However, it is the belief 
that it is the best interest of the citizens of Independence to engage in specific measures to protect 
the local agricultural community. 

 
The area guided for agriculture places commercial agriculture as the highest land use priority that 
is supplemented by uses that preserve large expanses of permanent open space.. No restrictions 
on non-commercial agricultural operations concerning dust, odor or hours of operation will be 
applied to these lands. 

 
To preserve long-term agricultural operations, the Plan allows a 1 per 40-acre maximum density 
of development in the Agriculture Preserve District. Inclusion in this district requires enrolling 
in the Metropolitan Agricultural Preserves Program. Any farm requesting designation as an 
agricultural preserve property must file for such status with the City, and the land will be so 
designated. 

Agriculture District 
 

The Agriculture District is similar in character and intent to the Agriculture Preserve District, 
but without the level of protection of the Agricultural Preserves program. In these districts, 
commercial agriculture is also considered the highest land use priority. The same secondary uses 
apply, including homesteading. These secondary uses may also include golf courses, nature 
preserves and public parks In the Agriculture District, housing may also develop at a density of 
1 unit per 40-acre maximum. The distinction between this district and the aforementioned 
Agriculture Preserve District is that owners of lands guided Agriculture (alone) are not 
necessarily protected via the Agricultural Preserves program and may be developed over time. 
However, property owners maintain the option to enroll in the Agricultural Preserves program 
here. 

 

The City recognizes that the local farming community is an extremely valuable asset. Many 
landowners are relying on the latent value of their land to provide for financial sustainability. The 
land use plan acknowledges the worth of local landowners’ properties for residential 
development. It also firmly believes in agricultural preservation. To achieve both ends, the City 
allows landowners in the agricultural area to create low-density rural view lots. The City Zoning 
Ordinance allows for the creation of rural view lots if the following criteria are adhered to: 

 
§ The subject property is zoned and guided agriculture. 
§ One rural view lot, in addition to the original homestead, may be created for each 40 acres 

or each quarter-quarter section of land. If 40-acre tracts under single ownership are not 
contiguous, the city Council may consider a density transfer option. 

§ The proposed lot is no less than 2.50 or more than 10 acres in size. 
§ A lot must be a minimum of 2.50 acres buildable with a demonstrated capability to 

accommodate two on-site waste disposal systems. 
§ Buildable land must be contiguous and not separated by streams, wetlands or slopes in 

excess of 10%, or other physical impediments. 
§ A lot must have no less than the following frontage on an improved public road or street: 

2.50 - 3.49 acres 200 feet of frontage 
3.50 - 4.99 acres 250 feet of frontage 
5.00 - 10.0 acres 300 feet of frontage 

 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-22    

Granting a small amount of intensification in the use of agricultural land through creation of rural view lots has 
provided ample economic and regulatory relief to enable a number of owners of agricultural land to continue to 
own. 

Rural Residential District 
 

The Rural Residential District comprises approximately the eastern one third of the City. Land in this 
district will be used and developed so as to preserve its open, scenic, and natural characteristics as 
well as its ecological and economic functions. Secondary uses may also include a small number 
of institutional, parks, wetlands, and waterways. A majority of this low-density residential area 
is located around Lake Independence, Lake Sarah and adjacent to Maple Plain. 

 
Unlike the predominance of land being utilized for agricultural operations in the west, this area 
has been developing with a large lot estate character. While ongoing agricultural operations and 
hobby farming are encouraged to continue in this area, it is anticipated that the aesthetic amenities 
of eastern Independence will continue to draw persons desiring a more spacious residential 
lifestyle. 

 
To accommodate this growth, residential development is planned to occur at an “8 per 40” density 
in the Rural Residential District. Traditionally this would translate into 5-acre lots. The City is 
a proponent of a more creative subdivision process, which would include clustering of homes on 
no less than 2-1/2 acre lots, but with open space and scenic viewshed components incorporated 
into the subdivision design. Consistent with past plans, land designated Agriculture Preserve 
will have a minimum density of 1 unit per 40 acres. Agricultural Preserves are protected by State 
Statute at a maximum density of 1 unit per 40 acres. At the petition of the owner, the land within 
the Agriculture Preserve area can be removed from the Agriculture Preserve in accordance with 
all applicable program standards. Following the removal of property from the Agriculture 
Preserve program, the underlying land will be guided for Rural Residential. A comprehensive 
plan amendment will be required for this change. 
 
Single-family residential development should be located adjacent to existing residential 
concentrations, filling in any previous “leapfrog” developments. In this way growth can be guided 
in conjunction with logical and economic extensions of urban services. 
The City of Independence is endowed with an abundance of natural resources including many natural 
lakes. These lakes are under siege and the three largest, located partly in the City of Independence, 
are classified as impaired because they fail to meet one or more federal quality standards. Lake 
Rebecca Regional Park surrounds the portion of Lake Rebecca in Independence but the land in 
Independence along the shores of Lake Sarah and Lake Independence is largely privately owned. 
Many of the single-family dwellings along the shores of Lake Sarah and some along Lake 
Independence are connected to the metropolitan sewer system but a number are serviced with 
individual septic treatment systems. 

 
To eliminate and prevent further contamination of Lake Sarah and Lake Independence, as well as the 
streams and groundwater around the portion of these lakes in Independence, the area around the lakes 
is informally being designated as the Environmental Protection Residential area. Lots with individual 
septic treatment systems that are not in compliance with current state and local requirements will be 
encouraged to connect to an approved community sewage treatment system or, if already available, to 
the metropolitan sewer system (See Figures 10 and 11). All connections to the metropolitan sewer 
system will be required to follow the Metropolitan Council’s revised Metropolitan Urban Service Area 
(MUSA) Guidelines. Lots of record will be allowed to develop at existing densities but new construction 
will be required to comply with the Shoreland Management Ordinance. 

 
Lakeshore Estates District 
 
The Lakeshore Estates district will guide the development of land for the same intents and purposes 
as the rural residential district — to preserve its open, scenic, and natural characteristics as well as 
its ecological and economic functions of property in proximity to waterbodies. However, 
residential development will occur in the Lakeshore Estates district at a higher density. Whereas in 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-23    

the Rural Residential district, residential developments are planned to occur at an “8 per 40” density, 
developments in the Lakeshore Estates district are planned to occur at a “30 per 40 density”, or 0.75 
units per acre. 
 
While Rural Residential districts are located throughout the city, principally within the eastern third 
of Independence, the Lakeshore Estates land use category is only designated for two existing parcels 
with road frontages on South Lake Shore drive near the municipal boundary of Medina. These parcels 
have a combined land area of 46.3 acres. The MUSA boundary is projected to extend to include the 
parcels in question, among several others along the municipal boundaries with Medina and Maple 
Plain. Land in the Lakeshore Estates district will be increasingly attractive to developers, because of 
the land’s proximity to Lake Independence and the ability of the developer to construct a greater 
number of sewered residences. Area E on the Development Phasing map (Figure 14 in Chapter 5) 
will be guided as Lakeshore Estates. 
 
Low Density Residential District 

 
To accommodate the development of single-family detached homes within the projected MUSA 
sewer boundary, The City is establishing the Low-Density Residential District for a number of 
formerly Agricultural parcels lying along the southwestern corner of the City of Maple Plain. These 
parcels are included in development areas A1, A2, A3, and A4 in the Development Phasing map 
(Figure 14 in Chapter 5). The combined land area which will be guided for Low Density Residential 
is 30.8 acres. The City has established that these areas will have a minimum density of 2.7 units per 
acre and a maximum density of 2.7 units per acre. This density will accommodate single-family 
detached homes. This type of development will be more reflective of the lot size of existing single-
family detached development that is directly adjacent to these properties in Maple Plain. The 
City will need to carefully prepare development and design standards relating to this area. The 
development of the standards will be in the form of a zoning ordinance amendment. Careful 
consideration should be given to the following elements: 
 

§ Preservation and enhancement of existing natural resources 
§ Site design which respects the existing conditions of the property 
§ Enhancement of the rural character of the community by incorporating berming, 

landscaping and similar site elements which significantly reduce visual impacts of 
the proposed development on the surrounding property 

§ High quality residential architecture 
§ Consideration and accommodation of traffic on the surrounding properties and 

local, regional, and state infrastructure. 
 
Medium Density Residential District 
 
The Medium Density Residential District has a function and intent similar to Low Density Residential: to 
accommodate development need that is compatible with the surrounding community. Within the city, one 
contiguous area of approximately 56 acres will be guided for Medium Density. This area is located north of 
the High Density Residential District and municipal boundary with Maple Plain and lies south of Perkinsville 
Road. It is shown as Development Area C on the Development Phasing map (Figure 14 in Chapter 5). 
Development in the Medium Density district will have a minimum density of 3.5 units per acre and a 
maximum of 3.8 units per acre. Homes may include single-family detached and single-family attached 
housing. This district would be sufficiently supported by nearby amenities and services in the area and would 
receive sewer services through the projected extension of the MUSA boundary. 

 
High Density Residential District 

 

Single-family detached residences comprise 97% of the housing in the community. Currently 
there is a mix of starter (modest cost entry level housing), mid-range, and executive homes. There 
are few vacancies and a limited number of rental units in the community. While this housing serves 
the needs of current residents of the City it does not typically provide for all resident’s housing needs 
as they move through different phases of their lives. 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-24    

 
To encourage alternative types of housing and fill the void of life cycle and affordable housing, 
the City  will guide an approximately 10acres of land for High Density Residential development. 
This area is located on the far eastern side of the city along Budd St and the  municipal boundary 
with Maple Plain, shown as Area D in the Development Phasing map (Figure 14 in Chapter 5). 
The area will border Maple Plain and the Medium Density Residential District. Developments in 
the High Density Residential District will  have a minimum density of 30 units per acre and a 
maximum of 50 units per acre. This type of housing would require some level of additional 
amenities to serve its prospective tenants. The City carefully evaluated locations that could be 
supported by the proximity of amenities such as grocery, medical, pharmacy, retail, restaurants, 
schools and jobs.  Additionally, this area would be served by MUSA water and sewer services. 
Independence will prepare a more detailed land use study and plan in the future to facilitate the 
development of this high density residential area. When this occurs, the City will be able to more 
accurately determine the projected demand that this area will have for services and how and from 
where the services will be provided. Services to be studied will include utilities, transportation and 
public services. The City has developed a zoning district that generally implements this land use 
designation. The ordinance may need to be reviewed and updated to respond to the increased 
minimum densities identified in this plan. 

 
Commercial/Light Industrial 

 

Much of the area identified on the Guide Plan map for commercial and industrial use is presently 
undeveloped. Rather than designating a specific area as industrial or commercial, the City 
recognizes new business development can be most effectively accomplished through a planned 
development design process. Technology industries are many times best suited in mixed-use 
business parks. Given the environmental constraints common throughout Independence, design 
flexibility is a key component to achieving the employment base, local services and environmental 
protection the City desires. 

 
While the City will encourage development and intense utilization of the buildable land in the 
designated commercial/industrial area, several design factors are included in the development 
process: 

 
§ Development must appropriately address surface runoff and potential groundwater 

contamination. 
§ Development must meet high standards of landscaping and building design. 
§ As development occurs, new development should relate building design, which is 

complimentary to existing structures, landscaping, and circulation design. 
§ Business should be kept in good physical repair including exterior appearance and 

appropriate landscaping. 
§ Direct access to T.H. 12 should be kept to a minimum, joint use of parking areas and access 

driveways are strongly encouraged. 
 

Three factors govern the site selections for local industry: adjacent land use, transportation access, 
and site conditions. Proper locations of industry are imperative to ensuring a safe, healthy, and 
economically sound community. The requirements for roadways, appropriate parking facilities, 
building/land relationships, setbacks, and environmental safeguards are all exceedingly important 
in choosing proper site locations for industry. New industrial sites should be part of an orderly 
progression of land use. “Clean and quiet” industrial uses should be especially encouraged to 
locate in the area. 

 
The City has approximately 140 acres of land available to develop for industrial and commercial 
uses. 40 additional acres have been added to the Commercial/Light Industrial area south of 
Highway 12, west of CSAH 90 and north of Quass Cutoff Rd. This industrially guided land is 
anticipated to meet the community’s industrial land use needs to 2040. 

 
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-25    

Urban Commercial 
 

An approximately 75-acre area along T.H. 12 in the western part of the City is designated as urban 
commercial to allow for the natural extension of commercial services from the shopping and 
amenity-rich areas in Delano. No other community commercial services are provided within the 
municipal limits of Independence to avoid duplication of existing and future services provided 
in the City of Maple Plain and Delano. This area will be master-planned and served with sanitary 
sewage treatment, water and storm sewer from an on-site system or connection to water and sewer 
systems in Delano. 

 
No convenience commercial centers (gasoline station, repair, laundry, dry cleaning, superette, etc.) 
are specifically designated on the plan. However, they may be located in areas designated for 
highway/industrial commercial development. Spot or strip commercial development of this nature 
shall be discouraged. 

 
Park 

 

The primary uses for land guided Park District include parks, recreation, public open space, 
public lakeshore sites, and some waterways, as well as land used for utilities and railway. As 
noted previously, some parkland will be found in larger areas guided for Rural Residential use. 
This planned land use category also includes secondary uses, such as institutional facilities used 
for religious, governmental, educational, social and health care purposes. 

 
  



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-26    

  
 

TABLE 20-A EXISTING AND FUTURE SEWERED HOUSING UNITS AND JOBS (2017-2040) 

  

Existing 
Acreage 
(2017) 

Existing % 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 Future % Change 
in Acres 

2017-
2040 

Residential and Agricultural Land 
Uses 

                  

Agricultural Preserve 4876 22.1% 4876 4876 4876 4876 4876 22.1% 0 

Agriculture 11291 51.1% 11291 11046 10811 10592 10435 47.2% -856 

Rural Residential 2615 11.8% 2615 2735 2845 2965 3021 13.7% 406 

Lakeshore Estates 0 0.0% 0 23 46 46 46 0.2% 46 

Low Density Residential 0 0.0% 0 47 94 117 139 0.6% 139 

Medium Density Residential 0 0.0% 0 0 0 28 56 0.3% 56 

High Density Residential 0 0.0% 0 5 10 10 10 0.0% 10 

C/I Land Uses                   

Commercial / Light Industrial 105 0.5% 105 136 167 197 228 1.0% 123 

Urban Commercial 0 0.0% 0 19 38 56 75 0.3% 75 

Public Land Uses                   

Park / Recreational / Preserve 1604 7.3% 1604 1604 1604 1604 1604 7.3% 0 

Major Highway 97 0.4% 97 97 97 97 97 0.4% 0 

Waterbodies 1514 6.9% 1514 1514 1514 1514 1514 6.9% 0 

TOTAL 22102 100.0% 22102 22102 22102 22102 22102 100.0% 0 

 
Source: City of Independence 

 
 
TABLE 20-B EXISITING AND FUTURE SEWERED HOUSING UNITS (2017-2040) 

  

Allowed Density 
Range 

Housing Units/Acre Existing 
Units 
(2017) 

Existing 
% 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 

Future 
% 

Change 
(2017-
2040) 

Minimum 
Density 

Maximum 
Density 

Residential Land Uses                       
Lakeshore Estates 0.75 0..75 0 0.0% 0 28 28 28 28 2.8% 28 

Low Density Residential 2.7 2.7 0 100.0% 85 170 255 295 335 68.1% 335 

Medium Density Residential 3.5 3.8 0 0.0% 0 0 0 71 142 14.1% 142 

High Density Residential 30.0 30 0 0.0% 0 76 152 152 152 15.1% 152 

Total Sewered Units     0 100.0% 85 274 435 546 657 100.0% 657 

 
Source: City of Independence 

 
 
 
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-27    

 
TABLE 20-C EXISITING AND FUTURE SEWERED JOBS (2017-2040) 

  

Existing 
Sewered 

jobs 
(2017) 

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 Change 
2017-
2040 

 
Commercial Land Use                

Urban Commercial 154 180 185 190 195 200 46  
Total Sewered Jobs 154 180 185 190 195 200 46  

 
Source: Metropolitan Council, City of Independence 

 
TABLE 21 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN DENSITY 

  Units 

Net 
Developable 

Acres 
Min/Max 
Density Density 

Development from 2018-2040         

Lakeshore Estates 28 37 0.75-0.75 0.75 

Low Density Residential 335 124 2.7-2.7 2.70 

Medium Density Residential 142 40 3.5-3.8 3.50 

High Density Residential 152 5 30.0-50.0 30.00 

TOTAL 657 206   3.18 

 
 
 

3.4 Historic Preservation 
 

In an effort to identify, preserve and protect local historic places and sites, the City should give 
consideration to adopting provisions relating to the protection and enhancement of historic 
structures. The City could also consider the establishment of a local heritage preservation 
commission. If these provisions are established, the City could become eligible for State and 
Federal programs as a Certified Local Government. As part of the Certified Local Government 
program, the City could receive matching funds for planning work concerning historic 
preservation. Until the City is in a position to take the next steps pertaining to historic preservation, 
emphasis should be made to preserve historically significant buildings or sites. 

 
The planning component of the heritage preservation activity would result in creation of a local 
historic context, the basis for local survey efforts. Coordination with the State Archaeologist and 
Minnesota Historical Society would help place local sites on the State or Federal register of 
historical places. 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-28    

3.5 Parks, Trails and Open Space 
 

Regional Parks 
 

The Three Rivers Park Reserve District has three park facilities that have a direct impact on the City. 
These parks have acted as a stimulus for growth in the eastern and northwestern sections of the City 
due to the natural features and recreation amenities. Figure 13 shows the Regional Park System 
including Lake Rebecca Park Reserve, Lake Sarah Regional Park, and Baker Park Reserve. 

 
Lake Rebecca Park Reserve is located in the northwest corner of Independence, extending into 
Greenfield. Total Park acreage; including land, water, and wetlands, amount to 2,577 acres. The park 
opened in 1971 and provides a combination of active and passive recreational opportunities. Lake 
Rebecca, surrounded by the park reserve, is designated as a fishing, swimming, and non-power boat 
recreation area. Existing facilities in the park include a mountain bike trail, swimming beach, picnic 
area, group camp and trails. 

 
Lake Sarah Regional Park is located on the west side of Lake Sarah in Independence and 
Greenfield. The 181-acre park is predominantly undeveloped, with the exception of a 29.5-acre 
dog off-leash area located off West Lake Sarah Road. The off-leash dog area is fenced and 
includes a separate area for small dogs.  Plans include utilizing the lakefront for boating, fishing, 
and picnicking. Proposed development includes trail linkage to Lake Rebecca Park Reserve. 

 
The park contains a 20-acre parcel that is west of South Lake Sarah Drive, not contiguous to the 
park proper. The Three Rivers Regional Park District Master Plan identifies this parcel as surplus 
property and calls for the parcel to be sold. 

 
Baker Park Reserve is adjacent to portions of the eastern border of Independence and is easily 
accessible by boat to Independence residents. The park consists of approximately 3,313 acres and 
provides a great deal of active recreation opportunities. Existing facilities include swimming beach, 
picnic areas, day camping, overnight camping, hiking and horseback riding trails, a golf course and 
boating. 

 
Robina State Wildlife Management Area 

 

Land recently given to the State of Minnesota between Highway 12 and Robina Lake by the 
Robina Lake Foundation has been designated as a wildlife management area (WMA). This 198- 
acre area is managed for the State by the Minnesota Department of Natural Resources. The 
location of this area is indicated on Figure 8. 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-29    

Figure 8: Regional Park System 
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-30    

Trails 
 

The Luce Line Trail, a regional multi-use trail, travels through the southern portion of the City 
approximately parallel to County Road 6. The trail begins in Plymouth and is developed 30 miles 
west to Winsted. The Luce Line Trail is a State Trail that is owned and operated by the Minnesota 
Department of Natural Resources. The Luce Line Trail is shown on Figure 8. 
The planned Baker-Carver Regional Trail is located south of the Luce Line Trail in the southern 
portion of Independence. This trail route extension follows the Luce Line in an easterly direction 
before connecting to Baker Park Reserve near Maple Plain. Once completed, this regional rail will 
extend approximately 17 miles from Lake Independence Regional Trail in Baker Park Reserve to 
Lake Minnetonka LRT Regional Trail in Carver Park Reserve. It will connect the Hennepin County 
communities of Medina, Maple Plain, Independence and Minnetrista and the Carver County 
communities of Laketown Township and Victoria. Some segments of the proposed trail already 
exist or are planned for construction in the future. The Baker-Carver Trail route is shown on Figure 
8. 

 
Figure 8 identifies several future regional trail connections that would link Independence to regional 
trials and park facilities in adjoining communities. The City of Independence is generally supportive 
of regional system connections. The City has not approved the Lake Sarah regional trail search 
corridor between Baker Park and Lake Sarah Regional Park. As this trail is further studied by Three 
Rivers Park District, the City will want to further review and identify potential trail alignments to 
ensure that Independence residents are not negatively impacted by its development. 

 
Local Parks 

 

Local parkland consists of Lyndale Park, a 1/3-acre park with play equipment located in the 
southwestern portion of the City, a 5-acre park also with play equipment on South Lake Sarah Drive 
and a Pioneer Creek Community Park. Independence residents also use three park areas in Maple 
Plain. 

 
The Comprehensive Park and Trail System Plan adopted by the City in 1992 indicated that land 
for a centrally located community park should be acquired. Pioneer Creek Community Park a 50- 
acre park located on the west side of County Road 90 just north of the City Hall was acquired by 
the City to serve that need. A master plan for park was prepared in 2007 and initial improvements 
were made in 2010. The City is has been discussing further development of active athletic fields 
within the community park in order to serve more residents of the City. It is anticipated that the 
future development of the park will occur as the City has funding, can obtain grant funding and 
successfully partners with local athletic associations to develop and maintain the athletic facilities. 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-31    

 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-32    

3.6 Solar Access 
 

It is now required that local governments in the Metropolitan Area include an element for 
protection and development of access to direct sunlight for solar energy systems in the 
Comprehensive Plan. The rationale for including a solar access protection element in the 
Comprehensive Plan is to assure the availability of direct sunlight to solar energy systems. 
According to the Metropolitan Council, “a majority share of energy consumed in Minnesota is 
used for purposes that solar energy could well serve such as space heating and cooling, domestic 
hot water heating and low-temperature industrial processes.” Independence is well-suited for 
solar energy utilization due to the vast expanse of undeveloped areas. 

 
The City spent a significant amount of time during the last 5 years developing a solar energy 
ordinance for the City. The ordinance provides for both roof and ground mounted solar energy 
systems. During the development of the ordinance, the City evaluated potential solar energy 
relating to the existing power grid. It was determined that there are only a handful of areas within 
the City that currently have the infrastructure available to accommodate significant amounts of 
solar energy generation. The City will continue to monitor and evaluate solar energy potential 
and controls within the City. 

 
Ensuring that all properties have equal access to sunlight is a priority for energy conservation. 
The protection of property and aesthetic values is a secondary purpose. Solar access protection 
is provided for by the uniform implementation of lot and structure standards adopted as part of 
the Independence Municipal Code. Requirements such as maximum building height and 
minimum setbacks are implemented for the purpose of creating separation between structures 
and allowing equal sunlight access so that a property is not in the shadow of an adjacent 
structure. The City can protect and encourage solar access on individual properties by: 

 
§ Providing homeowners and builders with educational materials and resources relating to 

the benefits of solar access and solar energy. 
§ Exempting solar collectors from height restrictions, if necessary, provided that they do 

not block solar access to the adjacent building's roof. 

 
TABLE 22 GROSS AND ROOFTOP SOLAR RESOURCES 

 

 
Community 

 
Gross 

Potential 
(Mwh/yr) 

 
Rooftop 
Potential 
(Mwh/yr) 

 
Gross 

Generation 
(Mwh/yr) 

Rooftop 
Generation 
Potential 
(Mwh/yr) 

Independence 58,499,452 368,420 5,849,945 36,842 
Source: Metropolitan Council 

 
The gross and potentials in columns 1 and 2 are expressed in megawatt hours per year 
(Mwh/year) and represent the gross potential resource before removing areas unsuitable for solar 
development or factors relating to efficiency of conversion. They are not intended to demonstrate 
the amount of solar likely to develop in the City. The gross generation and rooftop generation 
potentials in columns 3 and 4 are estimates of how much electricity could be generated using 
existing technology and conversion factors; however, they do not consider building-specific 
structural limitations or other factors. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-33    

Figure 9: Gross Solar Potential 

 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan 3-34    

3.6 Goals, Policies, and Implementation Strategies 
 

GOALS POLICIES IMPLEMENTATION 

1. Maintain and 
encourage high 
quality development 
by capitalizing on the 
geographic 
advantage of the 
City. 

• Protect and enhance the 
natural environment (lakes, 
wetlands, parks and open 
space) and promote these 
elements to attract high- 
quality development to the 
City. 

 
• Maintain design standards 

for high quality 
development which will 
provide the highest possible 
tax base within the City of 
Independence. 

§ Require development to pay for 
all costs of improvements 
including any public facilities 
required to adequately sustain the 
development. 

 
§ Development shall be fiscally 

sound and shall enhance or 
complement the existing land 
uses, housing or business types, 
and respect the rural character of 
the community. 

2. Maintain and 
enhance the rural 
quality and character 
of Independence 

• Preserve and enhance 
Independence’s natural 
amenities and resources and 
rural characteristics. 

§ Ensure that all new housing 
developments are provided with 
adequate open spaces and 
preservation of natural 
resources. 

 • Concentrate rural 
residential development in 
areas where services can 
most economically be 
provided. 

 
§ Pursue funding such as grants 

and impact fees to enhance 
storefronts, building facades, and 
overall street presence in the 
downtown area. 

3. Provide a high- 
quality place for 
people to live, work 
and play. 

• Demand development that 
is innovative, sustainable 
and of the highest quality, 
so as to establish 
Independence as a premier 
community in Minnesota. 

§ Require new development to 
have quality materials and 
design. 

 
§ Require new development to be 

consistent with the 
comprehensive plan. 

 • Ensure that the existing 
housing stock is maintained 
in a safe and aesthetically 
pleasing manner. 

 

 
• Provide for and develop 

housing so that there is a 
full continuum of types, 
prices and designs. 

 

 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    5-1  
  

 
 
                                                                                                                                                                 
 
 

 
 
 

5.0 WATER RESOURCES 
 

Protection and preservation of Independence’s ecological and environmental systems is 
vital to the City’s long-term well-being.  The City has large areas of land and water, which 
are especially sensitive to land alteration or changes in land use functions.  Flood plains, 
wetlands, steep slopes and marginal soils should be protected so as to retain their primary 
ecological functions while permitting appropriate recreational use and development. 
 
Lands within the City should be used and developed to preserve their open, scenic and 
natural characteristics as well as their primary ecological functions.  Numerous 
considerations must be taken into account when any type of development is being 
proposed. 
 
Soils and Topography 
 
Soil condition is a prime determinant of the suitability of land for development.  
Limitations due to soil stability, permeability, and so on, should serve to regulate various 
development proposals. Soils analysis should be conducted at proposed development sites 
to determine land capability and capacity.  Any development within environmentally 
sensitive areas should provide an analysis of the effect of the development and 
construction activities. 
 
Flood plains 
 
Lands classified as being within the floodplain are those soils subject to periodic 
inundation by floodwaters.  The process of residential development typically includes 
draining wet soils, filling and grading of lowlands, and a substantial increase in the total 
impervious cover of an area (roofs, streets, driveways, etc.).  These activities all contribute 
to an increase in flood potential, both seasonal and flash floods.  The normal function of 

CITY OF INDEPENDENCE  
 2040 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 5.0 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    5-2  
  

floodplain soils is to store excess water, runoff and channel drainage.  Protection of this 
function requires the prohibition of any development restricting the flow of floodwater or 
significantly retarding the floodplain soils capability to absorb and store runoff. 

 
Floodplain lands are best suited for open space, parks and wildlife refuge areas.  There is 
marginal potential for agricultural cultivation and pasture use, depending on soil 
condition.  These activities do not constrain the primary function of the floodplain soils 
and do serve to preserve the scenic qualities and ecological needs of the land. 

 
Appropriate restrictions of on-site disposal systems are necessary as are limitations on any 
new construction on floodplain soils.  Urban mitigation measures include enforcement of 
Best Management Practices (BMPs), NURP ponds and vegetative buffer zones. 
The City updated its Floodplain Management ordinances in 2016 to coincide with the 
adoption of the updated FEMA FIRM Maps. 
 
Wetland Management 
 
Wetlands include marshes, bogs, lakes and rivers; many times those areas are adjacent or 
coterminous with floodplain/flood fringe areas.  As such, they retain many of the same 
characteristics and restrictions as floodplain areas - prohibiting obstruction of floodwaters 
or decreasing overall water storage capability.  These lands are also more susceptible to 
pollution.  Wetland areas are extremely poor for development; shrink/swell soil 
characteristics produce poor foundation stability, periodic water inundation is a continual 
hazard, and pollution from on-site disposal presents potential pollution problems. 

 
Wetland quality and character are determinants of the amount of environmental disruption 
the drainage area has sustained.  The greater the disturbance from fertilizer loads, exposed 
soils on steep hillsides, faulty septic systems, pesticides, roads, etc., the lower the quality 
of the wetland.   

 
Protection of wetlands requires regulations on grading and filling, on-site disposal, and 
generally any intensive type of development.  The best use for the land surrounding 
wetlands is open space and wildlife habitat.  Once again, marginal agricultural use/pasture 
land is possible depending on site-specific soil characteristics. 
 
Vegetation 
 
Land alteration requiring extensive removal of vegetation should be carefully regulated.  
Activities like clear-cutting of major stands of trees or massive cut-and-fill operations 
have substantial negative impact on surrounding vegetation, drainage patterns and runoff 
potential. Vegetation on unstable soils should be protected.  The existing vegetation 
within the City serves a variety of functions.  Protection of these assets and rectification 
of previously removed vegetation is important to the City in terms of community health, 
safety and aesthetics. 

  



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    5-3  
  

5.1 Waste Water 
 

The need for a municipal wastewater collection system is often based on health and safety, 
and environmental concerns. The concentration of homes around Lake Sarah and Lake 
Independence caused a health and safety problem due to failing septic systems and the close 
proximity of private wells. The City recognized this problem in the late 1970’s and entered 
into a contract with Medina and the Metropolitan Wastewater Commission in 1984 to serve 
97 residents around Lake Sarah. Later, in response to concerns over surface water quality and 
failing systems, the City Council initiated a project to serve additional properties adjacent to 
the existing collection system. The City received approval from Medina and the Metropolitan 
Wastewater Commission to allow the additional connections. 
 
While this resolved the immediate problem of failing systems, it became apparent that other 
septic systems were failing or not working effectively. This caused the city to request 
expansion of the 1984 system for 135 additional hook-ups. The wastewater collection system 
in place today was constructed in 1996, 2009, and 2012. This system provides a total of 284 
sewer connections to local residents within Independence. Currently the City is using 237 of 
the 284 available connections. Figure 9 shows the current and long term MCES sewer service 
area. 
 
As shown on Figure 9, the existing collection system serves an area around Lake Sarah and 
an area along the west and south side of Lake Independence.  This collection system flows 
through the City of Medina to Metropolitan Council Lift Station No. 63. Currently the City of 
Independence, Greenfield, Loretto, and Medina have an agreement to share their sewer 
infrastructure and is referred to as the Quad City Agreement.   
 
The northern sewered area around Lake Sarah and northwest Lake Independence has 212 
homes connected and 38 services available for connection and is shown in Figure 10. The 
sewer from this area is collected at Townline Road and County Road 11 and then flows into 
the City of Medina at the intersection of County Road 11 and County Road 19. 
 
The southern sewered area around Lake Independence is smaller and includes 25 homes 
currently connected with 16 stubs or future services available for connection per the current 
Quad City Agreement. This area flows into the City of Medina at Perkinsville Road and 
County Road 19.  Future serviceable parcels are shown in Figure 13 and areas E include 27 
new short-term connections based on the capacity and location of the existing four-inch 
forcemain and downstream gravity system. Future service areas C & D are proposed to 
connect to be routed through an existing 10 inch gravity sewer in Maple Plain with the 
connection near Budd Ave and Newport St.  Existing agreements area in place between 
Independence and Maple Plain for this future sewer service.  There is one 8 inch line within 
Maple Plain that still needs to be increased to a 10 inch before full buildout of areas C & D 
can fully be accommodated.     
 
An additional future sanitary sewer service area that the City Independence is evaluating is 
located south of Maple Plain City limits and includes several parcels zoned for residential and 
rural residential and is identified as Areas A1 thru A4  & B1 thru B2 and shown on Figure 14.  
The area would be served via a 12” diameter gravity truck line that begins at the Met Council 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    5-4  
  

lift station No. 63 located at the intersection of Poplar Ave and Willow St.  The gravity line 
would extend west and extend under County Road 83 and could serve approximately 139 
acres of single family residential within the 2040 MUSA.  The area west of Area A1 would 
be served by a future gravity and lift station that could potentially serve and additional 1550 
acres of rural residential, commercial/light industrial, and some current agricultural property 
post 2040.  The near term (2020-2040) service area is shown in Figure 14 and the long term 
(post 2040) service area is shown in Figure 9.   
 
Table 26 shows the population, households, and employment forecasts for the areas with 
municipal connections that match Met Councils 2020-2040 forecasts.  Table 26-A is the 
preferred forecasts by Independence to allow for up to 657 projected units as discussed in 
Chapter 3. 

 
 

TABLE 26 POPULATION, HOUSEHOLD AND EMPLOYMENT FORECASTS 

  2020 2030 2040 

Sewered Population 693 1028 1356 

Sewered Households 238 397 537 

Sewered Employment 180 190 200 

SSTS Population 3137 3012 2934 

SSTS Households 1162 1163 1163 

SSTS Employment 500 550 570 

Source: City of Independence 
 
 
 

TABLE 26-A PREFERED POPULATION, HOUSEHOLD AND EMPLOYMENT FORECASTS 
  2020 2030 2040 

Sewered Population 693 1465 2257 

Sewered Households 238 566 894 

Sewered Employment 180 190 200 

SSTS Population 3137 3012 2934 

SSTS Households 1162 1163 1163 

SSTS Employment 500 550 570 

Source: City of Independence 
 
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    5-5  
  

 
 
 

Figure 11: Long Term MCES Sanitary Sewer Service Area 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    5-6  
  

Figure 12: Lake Sarah/Northern Lake Independence Sanitary 
Sewer Service Area  
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    5-7  
  

Figure 13: Southern Lake Independence/North of Maple Plain Sanitary 
Sewer Service Area 

 
  



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    5-8  
  

Figure 14:  South of Maple Plain Sewer Service Area 

 
 
  



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    5-9  
  

The area identified on Figure 7 as Urban Commercial is also planned for municipal sewer. This area 
could be served by the City of Delano or a Community Sewage Treatment Systems (CSTS). The city 
has prepared a scoping study to determine the utility needs of the Urban Commercial area. Various 
options existed for servicing this Urban Commercial area with water/wastewater services. The city 
has previously explored the possibility of an interconnection to the City of Delano and found it to be 
a physically viable alternative. Independence has explored two additional alternatives to servicing 
this area through a prepared Scoping Study, Commercial Area Utilities. The Scoping Study 
Commercial Area Utilities, September 2009, is attached to this plan in the appendix. This study 
explored the possibility of an interconnection with the City of Greenfield and servicing this area with 
an on-site or local system. It is ultimately preferred to serve the area through the City of Delano from 
an engineering perspective, however there are other financial and political aspects that will be factors.  
The connection to the City of Greenfield should not be considered due to the potential impact on 
Lake Rebecca Park Preserve.   The on-site system is also a viable option and will be further reviewed 
as development becomes more serious.   
 
For a detailed evaluation of the projected service demands and alternative ways to accommodate 
those demands, please refer to the Scoping Study Commercial Area Utilities, September 2009 
included as an appendix to this plan. 
 
Wastewater Land Use and Population 
 

The sizing of wastewater collection facilities is dependent on the hydraulic capacity required for each 
part of the system. Municipal wastewater is generally a mixture of domestic sewage, commercial and 
industrial wastes, ground water infiltration and surface water inflow. With proper design and 
construction, ground water infiltration is reduced to a minor percentage of the total flow and surface 
water inflow is eliminated, leading to hydraulic discharges that depend predominantly on land use. 
 
Since properly designed and constructed sanitary sewer pipes have long life expectancies, it is 
reasonable to assume that the full development population will be reached before pipe facility 
replacement becomes necessary. The existing and proposed sewer collection systems are shown on 
Figure 9, Figure 10, Figure 11, and Figure 12. The facilities shown within Independence will support 
full development of the study area. 
 
The proposed land uses receiving municipal sewer are shown on Figure 9 as Low Density Residential, 
Rural Residential, Lake Shore Estates, Medium Density Residential, High Density Residential, 
Commercial/Light Industrial, or Agricultural. The sewer connections in the Rural Residential area 
are already available (not all connected at this time) and were previously granted through past 
intercommunity flow agreements with Medina , Greenfield, and Loretto. The proposed Low Density 
Residential, Medium Density Residential, High Density Residential, and Lake Shore Estates area 
will require a new or revised Quad City Agreement.  The flows per service area are provide in tables 
below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    5-10  
  

TABLE 27 LAKE SARAH/NORTHERN LAKE INDEPENDENCE CONNECTIONS AND FLOW RATES 
  2020 2030 2040 

Rural Residential Connections - 
Greenfield 72 72 72 

Rural Residential Connections - 
Independence 212 231 250 

Total Connections 284 303 322 
Average Daily Wastewater Flow 

(MGD) 0.078 0.083 0.088 

Allowable Daily Wastewater Flow 
(MGD) 0.103 0.103 0.103 

Peak Flow (MGD) 0.301 0.320 0.338 
Allowable Peak Flow (MGD) 0.288 0.288 0.288 

 
TABLE 28 SOUTH LAKE INDEPENDENCE CONNECTIONS AND FLOW RATES 

  2020 2030 2040 

Rural Residential Connections 25 29 34 

Lake Shore Estates Connections 0 28 28 

Total Connections 25 57 62 
Average Daily Wastewater Flow 

(MGD) 0.0069 0.0156 0.0170 

Allowable Daily Wastewater Flow 
(MGD) 0.017 0.017 0.017 

Peak Flow (MGD) 0.0294 0.0654 0.0709 
Allowable Peak Flow (MGD) 0.1152 0.1152 0.1152 

 
 

TABLE 29 NORTH MAPLE PLAIN CONNECTIONS AND FLOW RATES  
  2020 2030 2040 Post 2040 

Rural Residential 
Connections 1 1 1 1 

Low Density Residential 
Connections 0 0 0 180 

Medium Density Residential 
Connections 0 0 40 150 

High Density Residential 
Connections 0 40 40 112 

Total Connections 1 41 81 443 
Average Daily Wastewater 

Flow (MGD) 0.0003 0.0112 0.0222 0.1214 

Allowable Daily Wastewater 
Flow (MGD) TBD TBD TBD TBD 

Peak Hourly Flow (MGD) 0.0012 0.0475 0.0917 0.4545 
Allowable Peak Flow (MGD) TBD TBD TBD TBD 

 
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    5-11  
  

TABLE 30 SOUTH MAPLE PLAIN CONNECTIONS AND FLOW RATES  
  2020 2030 2040 Post 2040 

Low Density Residential 
Connections 0 68 144 3400 

Commercial/Light Industrial 0 0 0 250 

Total Connections 0 68 144 3650 
Average Daily Wastewater 

Flow (MGD) 0.0000 0.0186 0.0395 1.0001 

Allowable Daily Wastewater 
Flow (MGD) TBD TBD TBD TBD 

Peak Hourly Flow (MGD) 0.0000 0.0775 0.1588 2.9549 
Allowable Peak Flow (MGD) TBD TBD TBD TBD 

 
TABLE 31 COMMUNITY AND SUBSURFACE SEWAGE TREATMENT SYSTEMS 

  2020 2030 2040 

CSTS* 1 1 1 

SSTS 1162 1163 1163 

Total Connections 1163 1164 1164 
 Source: City of Independence 
 
*Note: The Ox Yoke Inn has approximately 2-3 employees working during any given shift along with a single apartment.  The CSTS is a single system that 
accommodates a single family home, one apartment and the Ox Yoke Restaurant. 

 

Wastewater Design Criteria 
 

Wastewater flows were calculated by determining the number of residential equivalent connections 
(RECs) within the wastewater study area and associated densities. Each REC was assumed to 
contribute 274 gallons of wastewater per day. The tables above identify the total flow for the proposed 
RECs in the 2030 and 2040 timeframes.  Full build out is show as post 2040. Due to capacity concerns 
downstream, further evaluation and agreements will need to be completed prior to implementation.  
In Table 29 above, the area north of Maple Plain will be accommodated with an 10-inch gravity line 
thru Maple Plain near the intersection of Budd Ave and Newport St.  An agreement is currently in 
place between the two cities and one 8-inch gravity segment will need to be reconstructed to a 10-
inch prior to full build out of the area.   
In Table 30 above, the area south of Maple Plain and within the Long-Term Service Area will be 
served by at least a 12-inch gravity trunk line that will connect to Met Council Lift Station No. 63.  
The Long-Term Service Area includes 1420 Gross Acres of Rural Residential that may be planned 
to become Single Family Residential over time.  The area also includes 125 Gross acres of 
Commercial/Light Industrial.  Further study and agreements will be needed with Met Council prior 
to serving this area. 
The City of Independence is billed directly from the Met Council for applicable sewer flows.  The 
city also receives invoices from the City of Medina for I & I surcharges.  Independence does not 
invoice Greenfield or Loretto for I & I surcharges as it is believed that they are also invoiced by the 
Medina to those cities.    
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    5-12  
  

Inflow and Infiltration (I&I) 
 

Inflow and infiltration is clear water that enters the sanitary sewer system. I&I can enter the sanitary 
sewer through many sources: pipes, manholes, sump pumps, and foundation drains. 
 
The design and construction of new sewers and the connection of new and existing buildings to the 
sewer system in the City of Independence will meet the industry standards for tightness and minimize 
the entry of Infiltration and Inflow into the collection system. 
 
The City of Independence standards will meet the state of Minnesota requirements. All new sewers 
will be designed and installed so leakage into the sewer is less than 100 gallons per day per inch-
diameter per mile of sewer. To ensure compliance with this standard the City of Independence will 
require onsite construction observation during construction and verification testing prior to 
acceptance of the public improvements. Certification by a professional engineer that new facilities 
are installed in accordance with all specifications will also be required. Records of these certifications 
will be maintained by the City of Independence. 
 
To ensure that all municipal utilities are properly constructed and will meet all state, federal, and local 
requirements, the City of Independence prepared an Engineering Manual that addresses the 
material and workmanship that will be required for all municipal improvements. The Engineering 
Manual requires all wastewater facilities be designed to conform to the “10 State Standards” and be 
constructed in accordance with City Engineers Association of Minnesota Standard Specification 
except as modified by specific City of Independence requirements. 
 
The connection of building laterals to the sewer system will be permitted by the building department. 
A licensed plumber shall certify that the connection was made in accordance with the building code.   

 
Maintenance Program 
 

The City of Independence has developed an Inflow and Infiltration (I & I) program.  Prior to the 
connecting to the sewer systems built around Lake Sarah and Lake Independence in 1985 and 1995 
the city completed internal inspections of the homes to help eliminate any cross connections from 
floor drains, sump pumps, or other sources of I & I.  Also, the city monitors and tracks the pump run 
times for the existing lift stations on a weekly basis to help identify potential I & I.  To bolster the 
effectiveness of the City’s program, a new sewer line inspection camera was purchased in 2017.  This 
camera allows the city to quickly respond and identify to potential I & I entering the system during 
rain fall events.  The city has corrected many of the problems identified by the program such as: 
raising lift station covers, inspecting homes for sump pump and foundation drain connections to 
sanitary sewers, and televising sanitary sewer lines for leaks. The city has an ongoing sewer cleaning 
and inspection program as part of the routine maintenance of the collection system.  The city budgets 
$9,000 on an annual basis for monitoring and inspections.  The city has also historically had about 
$40,000 in maintenance and repair costs associated with the sanitary sewer system on an annual basis.  
The city is in the process of developing a more formal Capital Improvement Plan related to sanitary 
sewer and its lift stations.    

 
Peak Wastewater System Design 
 

The wastewater system must be capable of handling not only the average flows, but also anticipated 
flows. These peak flows are obtained by multiplying average flows by a variable factor. This factor, 
called the Peak Flow Factor, generally decreases with increasing average flows. The Peak Flow 
Factor used in preparing this report was taken from the “10 State Standards” manual. These values 
are considered conservative and are widely used for planning purposes. 
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    5-13  
  

Metropolitan Facilities 
 
The wastewater from the City of Independence is treated at the Blue Lake Plant. The Blue Lake plant 
is located in Shakopee. The plant treats wastewater from 27 different communities and 
accommodates approximately 285,000 people. The plant treats an average of 29 million gallons of 
wastewater daily, and discharges to the Minnesota River. 
 
Individual Sewage Treatment Systems 
 

The majority of the City of Independence is not served by a public sewer system. The estimated 
number of existing ISTS systems is 1162. It is anticipated that Individual Sewage Treatment Systems 
(ISTS) will remain the principal waste disposal method within the City of Independence over the 
next several decades. ISTS treat and disperse sewage for individual lots not served by publicly owned 
facilities. As Independence urbanizes and environmental concerns increase, it is estimated that 
Individual Sewage Treatment Systems numbers will slowly decline and more homes will be served 
by municipal sewer systems. 
 
The City currently has provisions in its City Code regulating the use of on-site sewage treatment. 
While it is the homeowner’s responsibility to keep their ISTS operational, the Metropolitan Council 
expects all communities to have an ISTS management program which ensures that ISTS are properly 
installed, maintained, and managed. The city implemented a maintenance tracking and notification 
database to effectively manage its ISTS and is further described in the applicable city ordinances in 
the appendix. The database identifies the year the system was built, the date each was inspected, the 
condition of the system, the volume and date of pumping, and whether the system is compliant with 
MPCA Rule 7080. 
 
Community Sewage Treatment Systems 
 

Currently there is one Community Sewage Treatment Systems (CSTS) in the City of Independence 
as shown on Figure 15. CSTS are basically large scale ISTS. They are systems that provide treatment 
for two or more dwellings on separate lots. CSTS provide open space and allow for more sensible 
use of land which would minimize future costs for the extension of municipal services.   
 
The City maintains the one CSTS within the City and charges the residents and businesses a user fee. 
The current CSTS system serves the Ox Yoke Inn Restaurant, an apartment above the Ox Yoke and 
one (1) single-family residence.  Since 2010, three of the previous four CSTS in the City were 
converted to sanitary sewer as they were located in environmental protection area on the land use 
plan and sanitary service was provided nearby. The City provides the inspection, monitoring, 
operating and maintenance services for the CSTS to ensure their compliance with Minnesota 
Pollution Control Agency’s Rule 7080. The City has established an ordinance that controls how the 
homeowners are allowed to use the system.  
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    5-14  
  

 
 

Future CSTS systems will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis and consider the following: location, 
land use, unit density, soils, installation costs, environmental concerns, alternative options, phasing, 
and operations/maintenance costs.  
 

 
Figure 15: Community Sewage Treatment Systems  

 

 
 
  



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    5-15  
  

Figure 16: Development Phasing 
 

 
5.2 Local Water Management 

 
The City of Independence has developed a Local Water Management Plan (LWMP) to protect 
water resources, which include numerous wetlands, several large lakes and recreational lands.  
The LWMP provides the framework to be followed to preserve these resources as the city 
develops.  The LWMP is incorporated by reference and is found in the Appendix. 
 
The LWMP was prepared to fulfill the legal requirements of the Metropolitan Surface Water 
Planning Rules (Chapter 8410).  The plan also meets the policies and requirements of the Pioneer-
Sarah Creek Watershed Management Commission and the Minnehaha Creek Watershed District 
and other local, state, and federal agencies. 
 
The general approach to water resource planning focuses on wetland protection, water quality, 
and flood control; each are described below. 
 
 
5.3 Water Supply Plan 

 
The City of Independence does not have a public water supply or distribution system.  All 
residential and non-residential properties are served by private individual wells.  Each 
homeowner is responsible for the care and maintenance of the individual well, storage and 
distribution within their own property.  The Minnesota Department of Health is the permitting 
authority for wells and the City will continue to cooperate with the Department of Health in 
ensuring a healthy water supply through inspections and, if necessary, treatment. 
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    5-16  
  

In the future, the City may work with surrounding jurisdictions to secure municipal water for 
property developed as sewered residential.   
 
 

  



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    5-17  
  

5.4 Goals, Policies and Implementation Strategies 
 
GOALS POLICIES IMPLEMENTATION 

1. Preserve, create and 
restore wetland 
resources. 

 

• Act as the LGU within the 
boundaries of PSCWMO 
 

• Require submittal of 
functions and value 
assessment 

 
• Regulate wetland impacts 

commensurate with the 
quality of wetland 

 
• Maintain design standards 

for wetland buffers 

§ Revise ordinances to include 
updated buffer requirements 
 

§ Review proposed developments 
and re-developments to ensure 
design standards are being 
achieved 
 

§ Regulate stormwater inputs to 
wetlands to retain functions and 
values 
 

§ Implement wetland restoration 
projects  

2. Preserve, maintain 
and improve water 
quality of surface 
water and 
groundwaters. 

 

• Manage stormwater 
consistent with design 
standards 
 

• Educate residents about 
protection of water 
resources 

 
• Maintain, operate, and clean 

structural BMPs to preserve 
initial intended performance 

 
• Encourage proper handling 

of manure from animal 
livestock 
 

 

§ Review proposed developments 
and re-developments to ensure 
design standards are being 
achieved 
 

§ Create and distribute educational 
material 
 

§ Perform maintenance to 
structural BMPs 
 

§ Implement manure management 
policy for new commercial horse 
farms 

3. Manage and Provide 
Flood Protection for 
the 100-Year Storm 
Event 

 

• Promote preservation of the 
retention capacities of lakes, 
streams, wetlands and 
ditches 
 

• Require infiltration of the 
first 1.1” from new 
impervious surface 

 
• Provide a positive overflow 

from all stormwater ponds 
and wetlands 

 
• Ensure 2’ of freeboard for 

highest calculated flood 
level to lowest structure 
elevations 
 

 

§ Review proposed developments 
and re-developments to ensure 
design standards are being 
achieved 
 

§ Require Certificate of Survey for 
new home construction to verify 
elevations 
 
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan    5-18  
  

4. Control erosion from 
construction sites 

• Require development and 
redevelopment to 
implement construction site 
erosion and sediment 
control 
 

• Inspect construction sites 
and provide enforcement 

§ Review proposed developments 
and re-developments to ensure 
design standards are being 
achieved 
 

§ Conduct construction site 
inspections 

5. Protect the 
groundwater and 
promote 
groundwater 
recharge 

• Ensure the abandoned wells 
are properly sealed 
 

• Require infiltration of the 
first 1.1” from new 
impervious surfaces 

 
• Require developers to 

identify drain tile lines on 
property proposed for 
development 

§ Review proposed developments 
and re-developments to ensure 
design standards are being 
achieved 
 

§ Monitor MDH Well Records  

 
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan   6-1   

 
 
                                                                                                                                                                 
 
 

 
 
 
 

6.0 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT, COMPETITIVENESS, 
RESILENCE 
 
6.1 Economic Development, Competitiveness 
 
The local business sector has been exclusively the product of private initiative.  Independence has 
been supportive of the local business community.  The City has experienced limited commercial 
growth during the past decade.  While there is ample room available for new development within the 
land guided for commercial/light industrial, the lack of municipal sewer and water facilities and other 
infrastructure improvements preclude the likelihood of rapid development.  The land guided for future 
commercial development is clustered near the center of the City at the intersection of CSAH 90 and 
Highway 12.  The geographic advantage of this area positions the City to be well served in the future 
when utilities become available.    

 
Independence has been purposeful in limiting commercial development along Highway 12.  The City 
has historically been asked to allow “spot” commercial development along the Highway 12 corridor.  
The City has long recognized the importance of this corridor as the gateway to the City.  Development 
of this corridor will need to correspond with the availability of adequate public facilities which include 
sanitary sewer, water and road capacity.   It is anticipated that the City will continue to protect the 
Highway 12 corridor until such time as adequate facilities become available.   
 
The City has preserved an approximately 60-acre area at the western edge of the City for future Urban 
Commercial development.  Again, this area would require the availability of adequate public facilities 
in order to develop.  The City understands the importance of having adequate opportunities for the 
future development of commercial, retail and business land uses.      
 
Independence will continue to support the development of commercial, retail and employment-based 
development within adjacent communities.  Independence residents associate with different local 
centers based on school district and geographic location.  As a result, there is not one commercial area 
that residents solely identify with or Frequent.  Loretto, Maple Plain, Rockford and Delano all provide 
independence residents with commercial and retail services as well as employment opportunities.  
Independence will continue to support the development of the surrounding communities as well as 
their business development and promotion organizations.   

CITY OF INDEPENDENCE  
 2040 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 6.0 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan   6-2   

 
6.2 Resilience 
 
Independence has historically been at the forefront of innovative planning relating to the 
protection and enhancement of the many natural resources within the City.  The City has 
aggressively sought funding to reduce on-site sanitary sewers near its lakes, developed cluster 
development subdivision standards to promote the preservation of open space, establishment of 
large infiltration areas, worked to reduce nutrient run-off into local water resources and recently 
adopted a unique manure management policy to proactively address the significant horse 
industry in the community.  These are a few examples of how Independence is working to 
preserve and enhance natural resources.  The aforementioned practices combined with the vast 
expanse of open space within the community, help to position Independence to be able to adapt 
to issues arising from climate change.  Independence will continue to look for opportunities to 
utilize best management practices, innovative planning principles and other similar measures to 
establish its resilience to unforeseen changes to our region.  
 

 

6.3 Goals, Policies and Implementation Strategies 
 
GOALS POLICIES IMPLEMENTATION 

1. Seek opportunities to 
implement best 
management 
strategies into 
development within 
the City. 

• Protect and enhance the 
natural environment (lakes, 
wetlands, parks and open 
space). 
 
 

§ Continue to innovate the City’s 
standards and policies relating to 
development to enhance and 
protect natural resources. 
 
 

 
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan   7-1   

 
 
                                                                                                                                                                 
 
 

 
 
 
 

7.0 IMPLEMENTATION 
 
The comprehensive plan will not have an influence on development of the City unless its goals 
and policies are implemented.   The implementation chapter is both a planning and budgeting tool. 
Programs and projects are initially identified and defined by the comprehensive plan.  The initial 
task of the implementation is to establish a detailed listing of projects and activities that are needed 
to realize the opportunities set forth in the comprehensive plan. 
 
It is necessary to emphasize that the implementation plan is an ongoing, annual effort that 
Independence should utilize as part of its management and budget process. The implementation 
plan should be reviewed and updated as part of the City’s yearly financial planning.  The City will 
then be able to recognize opportunities outlined by the comprehensive plan within the available 
resources.  Outside factors such as growth, development, redevelopment, and the economic 
market drive important improvements that may be necessary.  These must be monitored to ensure 
the plan reflects any important changes or events. 
 
Throughout the Comprehensive Plan, each chapter articulates goals, policies and implementation 
strategies that outline how the City intends to implement the goals of the Comprehensive Plan. 

 
Public Participation 
 
Public input in the decision-making and planning process is vital to ensuring community support, 
buy in and ultimate implementation of the plan goals and policies.  Public participation in planning 
for the City of Independence will continue to stay at the forefront of the City’s processes.    

 
Interjurisdictional Coordination 
 
In addition to working from within the City with its staff and citizen advisory boards, the City of 
Independence will work with surrounding municipalities and jurisdictions to coordinate its plans 
for growth, in order to best meet broader regional planning goals.  Areas where collaboration with 
regional jurisdictions and surrounding communities are most fitting are identified in this plan.    

 
 
 

CITY OF INDEPENDENCE  
 2040 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 7.0 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan   7-2   

 
Plan Adoption 

   
  The Comprehensive Plan should be preliminarily approved by the City Council and submitted for 

review and approval by the Metropolitan Council.  Upon final approval and completion of the 
plan, any subsequent changes should be processed as an amendment and officially adopted through 
the same procedure.  All land use or zoning decisions determined by the City to be inconsistent 
with the Comprehensive Plan should require an amendment to the plan prior to final approval of 
such action. 

 
Official Mapping 
 

  Official mapping is a technique by which a municipality can define an area for future 
improvements, such as roads, utilities, or parks and trails.  Once adopted, the official map allows 
the City an opportunity to negotiate the purchase of land before it is developed.  The City will 
amend its official map to reflect the new Comprehensive Plan once the Plan is approved and 
adopted.  It will be updated periodically to reflect approved changes either initiated by the City or 
by private resident petition. 
 

 
7.1 Land Use 
 
The first Independence Comprehensive Plan, written and adopted in 1972, designated one unit per 
five-acre rural residential interspersed with agriculture land uses across the entire City.  The City 
revised the Plan in 1980, designating 3,520 acres for rural residential at one unit per five acres and 
10,250 acres for Agriculture at one unit per 40 acres, for an overall density of one unit per 14 acres.  
With the 2020 (adopted in 2000) plan the rural residential area at one unit per five acres was 
expanded to about 6,400 acres to achieve an overall projected density of one unit per 11 acres.  
This area was increased in the 2030 (adopted in 2010) by 750 gross acres.  No material expansion 
of this area is proposed in the 2040 plan.  As a result, the City anticipates that it will maintain an 
overall density of 1 unit per 10 acres through 2040. 
 
This Plan projects a population of approximately 4,290 by 2040.  This increase in population can 
be projected to represent an increase of approximately 400 new residential units over the next 20 
years (20 new residential units per on average).    The majority of this increase will come as a 
result of the development of the newly created sewered residential land use area.  The compact 
footprint of the sewered residential development areas will allow the remainder of the City to 
remain highly undeveloped and rural in character.  In addition, the development of land directly 
adjacent to similar development in Maple Plain will establish a compatible transition between land 
uses.  
 
Regulation of the comprehensive plan will occur through continued enforcement of City 
Ordinances and Policies.  Planning activities will include maintenance of the data bases; thorough 
review, direction and innovation relating to development proposals, including petitions for 
modifications of the Land Use Guide Plan; submittal of proposed amendments to the Land Use 
Guide plan to the Metropolitan Council pursuant to adopted amendment regulations; and the 
coordination with other municipal and metropolitan agencies. 
 
This process will: allow flexibility in determining the most feasible and viable areas for proposed 
growth; provide thoughtful guidance for new development; and establish an effective means of 
control over the municipal and metropolitan systems. 

 
 
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan   7-3   

 
7.2 Official Controls 
 
Implementation of the Land Use Guide Plan will be accomplished through the City’s development 
regulations, primarily the zoning and subdivision ordinances.  The current City Code will be 
analyzed for modifications or revisions.  The City should consider instituting changes to the zoning 
map to insure consistency with the adopted Land Use Plan.  Specific areas may be considered for 
further revision. 
 
A copy of the City’s current zoning map is included. This includes the following zoning districts: 
 

Rural Residential - The Rural Residential District is established for the purpose of 
providing for residential development affording enjoyment of the rural life style. Allowed 
uses include single family dwellings, commercial agriculture, public recreation, 
horticulture, forestry, and some accessory uses.  

 
Commercial/Light Industrial – The Commercial-Light Industrial District is established 
for the restricted purpose of providing for commercial-light industrial development 
compatible with the rural character of the city. Allowed uses include farm equipment sales, 
retail sales, commercial recreation, device or office uses, storage and warehousing, 
wholesale businesses, building materials sales and storage, contractors offices, adult 
establishments, and similar and accessory uses. 

 
Agricultural – The agricultural district is established for the purpose of promoting 
continued farming of agricultural lands. Allowed uses include agriculture and horticulture, 
feedlots and poultry facilities, farm drainage and irrigation systems, forestry, public 
recreation, single family dwellings, and some accessory uses. 
 
Agricultural Preserve – This district designates agricultural lands that have been 
designated under state statute and restricted to allow the property to remain in agricultural 
use. 

 
New zoning districts will need to be created to implement the following new or updated land use 
designations identified in this plan: 
 

Urban Residential – The City has adopted zoning regulations relating to urban residential 
development.  The City has updated the prescribed density and location of this zoning area 
in the 2040 plan.  As a result, the City will need to update the zoning ordinance to 
accommodate the proposed urban residential development.  Consideration will need to be 
given to the intent of the zoning district and the types of standards that will help the City 
achieve its vision for this land use category. 
 
Sewered Residential – The City will need to develop new zoning regulations and 
development standards pertaining to the sewered residential land use category.  The City 
has not historically considered development of this nature and will need to thoughtfully 
create standards that will allow for this area to be developed in a manner that is 
complimentary to the rural character of the community while also establishing a 
supportable transition between the existing and proposed properties.  Consideration will 
need to be given to the intent of the zoning district and the types of standards that will help 
the City achieve its vision for this land use category. 

 
 
 
 



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan   7-4   

Timeline 
 
The City will be working on the preparation, adoption, and administration of their officials 
controls once the Comprehensive Plan has been approved and shall implement them no later than 
nine (9) months after the date of approval. 
 
 
7.3 Capital Planning  
 
In order to achieve objectives of the Guide Plan, planning efforts involving expenditure of public 
funds needs to be projected a number of years in advance.  These capital expenses may include 
land acquisition, street construction, park development, maintenance equipment and so on.  The 
City’s Capital Improvements Program (CIP) is intended to outline capital expenditures the City 
will make over the next five-year period.  This program sets forth the schedule, timing, and detail 
of specific improvements by year along with estimated costs and financial resources.  The CIP is 
ongoing and reviewed annually.  This program, when adopted by the City Council, is made a part 
of the public record. 

 
The City annually adopts a Capital Improvement Plan which projects expenditures for the next 10 
years.   
 
 

 
 
10-Year Capital Improvement Plan 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  



 
City of Independence – 2040 Comprehensive Plan   7-5   

Figure 17: Current Zoning 

 



Metropolitan Council (Regional Office & Environmental Services) 
390 Robert Street North, Saint Paul, MN 55101-1805 
P 651.602.1000 | F 651.602.1550 | TTY 651.291.0904 
metrocouncil.org 

An Equal Opportunity Employer 

   
 
July 13, 2023 
 
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator/City Planner 
City of Independence 
1985 County Road 90 
Independence, MN 55359 
 
RE: City of Independence 2040 Comprehensive Plan - Notice of Council Action 
 Metropolitan Council Review File No. 22711-1 
 Metropolitan Council District 1 
 
Dear Mark Kaltsas:  
 
The Metropolitan Council reviewed the City of Independence Comprehensive Plan (Plan) at its meeting 
on July 12, 2023. The Council based its review on the staff’s report and analysis (attached).  
 
The Council found that the City’s 2040 Plan meets all Metropolitan Land Planning Act requirements; 
conforms to the regional system plans including transportation, aviation, water resources management, 
and parks; is consistent with Thrive MSP 2040; and is compatible with the plans of adjacent jurisdictions. 
In addition to the Advisory Comments and Review Record, the Council adopted the following 
recommendations. 

Recommendations of the Community Development Committee 
1. Authorize the City of Independence to place its 2040 Comprehensive Plan into effect. 
2. Revise the City’s sewered household forecasts as shown in Table 2 of the Review Record. 
3. Revise the City’s affordable housing need allocation for 2021-2030 to 54 units. 
4. Revise the Community Designation mapping to show Emerging Suburban Edge residential land 

uses near Maple Plain as shown in Figure 3 of the attached Review Record. 
5. The City needs to provide the date that the Pioneer Sarah Creek Watershed Management 

Commission approved the Local Water Management Plan. 
6. Advise the City: 

a. To implement the advisory comments in the Review Record for forecasts, land use, 
housing, and water supply. 

b. That all supplemental information provided during the review process for completeness 
needs to be included in the City’s Final Plan submittal. The Final Plan must be submitted 
and determined consistent with the information provided during the review process prior to 
Council’s review of any comprehensive plan amendments. 

Recommendations of the Environment Committee 
1. Approve the City of Independence Comprehensive Sewer Plan. 
2. Advise the City to implement the advisory comments in the Review Record for wastewater: 

a. The Plan identifies the need for a future improvement to serve new development areas 
south of Maple Plain via L63. This improvement would be a regional interceptor 
connecting to L63 and extending to a yet to be determined location. Some of the areas to 



Page - 2  |  July 13, 2023  |  METROPOLITAN COUNCIL 

be served through this future improvement are timed within the 2020-2030 staging plan. 
For this interceptor to be built to accommodate the projected development needs, 
coordination between the Council and the City for the interceptor will need to occur so that 
it can be planned, designed, and constructed. This may require the need for the City and 
Council to enter into a cooperative construction agreement whereby the Council 
reimburses it for the associated regional costs. 

b. The Plan offers a “Preferred Population, Household and Employment Forecasts” that 
reflects greater household forecasts than those in Table 26 which reflects those which are 
the basis of the Council’s approval. The City should be aware, however, that prior to the 
Council providing service beyond those forecasts listed in Table 26, the City would first 
need to amend their Plan revising the sewered forecast and submit that amendment to the 
Council for authorization. Requests for increased forecasted growth may or may not be 
granted, consistent with the Council’s policies.  

c. Advise the City to implement the remaining advisory comments in the Review Record for 
wastewater. 
 

Please consult the attached staff report for important information about the City’s next steps. Of particular 
importance are the Council’s actions, listed on page 1, general Advisory Comments listed on page 3, and 
the specific comments for technical review areas, which are found in the body of the report. The final 
copy of the Plan needs to include all supplemental information/changes made during the review. 
 
Congratulations on completing this important project. It was a pleasure to work with the City throughout 
the review process. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Angela R. Torres, AICP, Senior Manager  
Local Planning Assistance 
 
Attachment 
 

cc: Tod Sherman, Development Reviews Coordinator, MnDOT Metro Division 
 Judy Johnson, Metropolitan Council, District 1 
 Emma de Villa, Principal Engineer  

Freya Thamman, Sector Representative/Principal Reviewer 
Reviews Coordinator 

 
N:\CommDev\LPA\Communities\Independence\Letters\Independence 2023 2040 CPU Post Council Action 22711-1.docx 

 



1 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

Committee Report 
Community Development Committee 

Committee Meeting Date: June 20, 2023 For the Metropolitan Council: July 12, 2023 

Environment Committee Date: June 27, 2023

Business Item: 2023-139 

City of Independence 2040 Comprehensive Plan and Comprehensive Sewer Plan, Review File 22711 -1 

Proposed Action 
That the Metropolitan Council adopt the attached Review Record and take the fol lowing actions: 

Recommendations of the Community Development Committee 

1. Authorize the City of Independence to place its 2040 Comprehensive Plan into effect.  
2. Revise the City’s sewered household forecasts as shown in Table 2 of the Review Record.  
3. Revise the City’s affordable housing need allocation for 2021-2030 to 54 units. 
4. Revise the Community Designation mapping to show Emerging Suburban Edge residential land 

uses near Maple Plain as shown in Figure 3 of the attached Review Record. 
5. The City needs to provide the date that the Pioneer Sarah Creek Watershed Management 

Commission approved the Local Water Management Plan. 
6. Advise the City: 

a. To implement the advisory comments in the Review Record for forecasts, land use, 
housing, and water supply. 

b. That all supplemental information provided during the review process for completeness 
needs to be included in the City’s Final Plan submittal. The Final Plan must be submitted 
and determined consistent with the information provided during the review process prior 
to Council’s review of any comprehensive plan amendments. 

 
Recommendations of the Environment Committee 

1. Approve the City of Independence Comprehensive Sewer Plan. 
2. Advise the City to implement the advisory comments in the Review Record for wastewater : 

a. The Plan identif ies the need for a future improvement to serve new development areas 
south of Maple Plain via L63. This improvement would be a regional interceptor 
connecting to L63 and extending to a yet to be determined location. Some of the areas 
to be served through this future improvement are timed within the 2020-2030 staging 
plan. For this interceptor to be built to accommodate the projected development needs, 
coordination between the Council and the City for the interceptor will need to occur so 
that it can be planned, designed, and constructed. This may require the need for the City 
and Council to enter into a cooperative construction agreement whereby the Council 
reimburses it for the associated regional costs. 

b. The Plan offers a “Preferred Population, Household and Employment Forecasts” that 
reflects greater household forecasts than those in Table 26 which reflects those which 
are the basis of the Council’s approval. The City should be aware, however, that prior to 
the Council providing service beyond those forecasts listed in Table 26, the City would 
first need to amend their Plan revising the sewered forecast and submit that amendment 
to the Council for authorization. Requests for increased forecasted growth may or may 
not be granted, consistent with the Council’s policies.  



2 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

c. Advise the City to implement the remaining advisory comments in the Review Record for 
wastewater.  

Summary of Community Development Committee Discussion/Questions 
Planning Analyst, Freya Thamman, presented the staff’s report to the Committee. Council Member 
Johnson indicated her appreciation of the City of Independence ’s work on their 2040 Plan. The 
Community Development Committee unanimously recommended approval of the proposed actions 
at its meeting on June 20, 2023.  

Summary of Environment Committee Discussion/Questions  
Motion made by Council Member Morales and seconded by Council Member  Wulff.  The 
Environment Committee approved the proposed actions at its meeting on June 27, 2023.  
 

  



1 

 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

Business Item 
Community Development Committee 

Committee Meeting Date: June 20, 2023 For the Metropolitan Council: July 12, 2023 

Environment Committee Date: June 27, 2023 

Business Item: 2023-139 

City of Independence 2040 Comprehensive Plan and Comprehensive Sewer Plan, Review File 22711 -1 

District(s), Member(s):  District 1, Judy Johnson 

Policy/Legal Reference: Metropolitan Land Planning Act (Minn. Stat. § 473.175), Minn. Stat. § 
473.513  

Staff Prepared/Presented: Freya Thamman, Planning Analyst (651-602-1750) 

    Angela R. Torres, Local Planning Assistance Manager (651-602-1566) 

Kyle Colvin, Wastewater Planning and Community Programs Manager (651-
602-1151)  

Division/Department:  Community Development / Regional Planning 

Environmental Services / Technical Services  

Proposed Action 
That the Metropolitan Council adopt the attached Review Record and attached Advisory 
Comments and take the following actions: 

Recommendations of the Community Development Committee 

1. Authorize the City of Independence to place its 2040 Comprehensive Plan into effect.  
2. Revise the City’s sewered household forecasts as shown in Table 2 of the Review Record. 
3. Revise the City’s affordable housing need allocation for 2021 -2030 to 54 units. 
4. Revise the Community Designation mapping to show Emerging Suburban Edge residential land 

uses near Maple Plain as shown in Figure 3 of the attached Review Record. 
5. The City needs to provide the date that the Pioneer Sarah Creek Watershed Management 

Commission approved the Local Water Management Plan. 
6. Advise the City: 

a. To implement the advisory comments in the Review Record for forecasts, land use, 
housing, and water supply. 

b. That all supplemental information provided during the review process for completeness 
needs to be included in the City’s Final Plan submittal. The Final Plan must be submitted 
and determined consistent with the information provided during the review process prior 
to Council’s review of any comprehensive plan amendments.  
 

Recommendations of the Environment Committee 

1. Approve the City of Independence Comprehensive Sewer Plan. 
2. Advise the City to implement the advisory comments in the Review Record for wastewater : 

a. The Plan identif ies the need for a future improvement to serve new development areas 
south of Maple Plain via L63. This improvement would be a regional interceptor 



2 

 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

connecting to L63 and extending to a yet to be determined location. Some of the areas 
to be served through this future improvement are timed within the 2020-2030 staging 
plan. For this interceptor to be built to accommodate the projected development needs, 
coordination between the Council and the City for the interceptor will need to occur so 
that it can be planned, designed, and constructed. This may require the need for the City 
and Council to enter into a cooperative construction agreement whereby the Council 
reimburses it for the associated regional costs. 

b. The Plan offers a “Preferred Population, Household and Employment Forecasts” that 
reflects greater household forecasts than those in Table 26 which reflects those which 
are the basis of the Council’s approval. The City should be aware, however, that prior to 
the Council providing service beyond those forecasts listed in Table 26, the City would 
first need to amend their Plan revising the sewered forecast and submit that amendment 
to the Council for authorization. Requests for increased forecasted growth may or may 
not be granted, consistent with the Council’s policies.  

c. Advise the City to implement the remaining advisory comments in the Review Record for 
wastewater.  

  



3 

 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

Advisory Comments 
The following Advisory Comments are part of the Council action authorizing the City to implement 
its 2040 Comprehensive Plan (Plan). 

Community Development Committee 

1. As stated in the Local Planning Handbook, the City must take the following steps:  
a. Adopt the Plan in final form after considering the Council’s review recommendations as 

contained in the body of this report. 
b. Submit one hard copy and one electronic copy of the Plan to the Council. The electronic 

copy must be submitted as one unified file. 
c. Submit to the Council a copy of the City Council resolution evidencing final adoption of 

the Plan. 
2. The Local Planning Handbook also states that local governments must formally adopt their 

comprehensive plans within nine months after the Council’s final action. If the Council has 
recommended changes to the Plan, local governments should incorporate those recommended 
changes into the Plan or respond to the Council before “final adoption” of the comprehensive 
plan by the governing body of the local governmental unit. (Minn. Stat. § 473.864, subd . 1) 

3. Local governments must adopt official controls as identif ied in their 2040 comprehensive plans 
and must submit copies of the official controls to the Council within 30 days after the official 
controls are adopted. (Minn. Stat. § 473.865, subd. 1)  

4. Local governmental units cannot adopt any official controls or fiscal devices that conflict with 
their comprehensive plans or which permit activities in conflict with the Council’s metropolitan 
system plans (Minn. Stat. §§ 473.864, subd. 2; 473.865, subd. 2). If official controls conflict with 
comprehensive plans, the official controls must be amended within 9 months following 
amendments to comprehensive plans (Minn. Stat. § 473.865, subd. 3).  
 

Environment Committee  

1. The Council-approved Comprehensive Sewer Plan becomes effective only after the Plan 
receives final approval from the local governmental unit’s governing body. After the Plan 
receives final approval from the City and the Comprehensive Sewer Plan becomes effective, the 
City may implement its Plan to alter, expand, or improve its sewage disposal system consistent 
with the Council-approved Comprehensive Sewer Plan.  

2. A copy of the City Council resolution adopting its 2040 comprehensive plan, including its 
Comprehensive Sewer Plan, must be submitted to the Council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



4 

 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

Background 
The City of Independence is in the western part of Hennepin County. Minnetrista is to the south of 
Independence, Orono and Medina to the east, and Greenfield to the north.  Delano and Franklin 
Township are west of Independence, in Wright County. The City of Maple Plain is surrounded on 
three sides by Independence (Figure 1).  

The City of Independence submitted its 2040 Comprehensive Plan (Plan) to the Council for review 
to meet the Metropolitan Land Planning Act requirements (Minn. Stat. §§ 473.851 to 473.871) and 
the Council’s 2015 System Statement requirements. 

Review Authority & Rationale 
Minn. Stat. § 473.175 directs the Metropolitan Council to review a local government’s 
comprehensive plan and provide a written statement to the local government regarding the Plan’s:  

• Conformance with metropolitan system plans 

• Consistency with the adopted plans and policies of the Council 

• Compatibility with the plans of adjacent governmental units and plans of affected special 
districts and school districts 
 

By resolution, the Council may require a local government to modify its comprehensive plan if the 
Council determines that “the plan is more likely than not to have a substantial impact on or contain 
a substantial departure from metropolitan system plans” (Minn. Stat. § 473.175, subd. 1).  

Each local government unit shall adopt a policy plan for the collection, treatment, and disposal of 
sewage for which the local government unit is responsible, coordinated with the Metropolitan 
Council's plan, and may revise the same as often as it deems necessary (Minn. Stat. § 473.513).  

The attached Review Record details the Council’s assessment of the Plan’s conformance, 
consistency, and compatibility, and is summarized below. 

Review Standard Review Area Plan Status 

Conformance Regional system plan for Parks  Conforms 

Conformance Regional system plan for 
Transportation, including Aviation 

Conforms 

Conformance Water Resources (Wastewater Services 
and Surface Water Management) 

Conforms 

Consistency with Council 
Policy 

Thrive MSP 2040 and Land Use Consistent 

Consistency with Council 
Policy 

Forecasts, with proposed change Consistent 

Consistency with Council 
Policy 

2040 Housing Policy Plan Consistent 

Consistency with Council 
Policy 

Water Supply  Consistent 

Consistency with Council 
Policy 

Community and Subsurface Sewage 
Treatment Systems (SSTS) 

Consistent 

Compatibility Compatible with the plans of adjacent 
and affected governmental districts 

Compatible 

Thrive Lens Analysis 
The proposed 2040 comprehensive plan is reviewed against the land use policies in Thrive MSP 
2040. To achieve the outcomes identif ied in Thrive, the metropolitan development guide defines 
the Land Use Policy for the region and includes strategies for local governments and the Council to 
implement. These policies and strategies are interrelated and, taken together, serve to achieve the 
outcomes identif ied in Thrive.  



5 

 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

Funding 
None. 

Known Support / Opposition 
There is no known opposition.   

  

  



6 

 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

REVIEW RECORD 
City of Independence 2040 Comprehensive Plan 

Review File No. 22711-1, Business Item No. 2023-139 JT 

The following Review Record documents how the proposed Plan meets the requirements of the 
Metropolitan Land Planning Act and conforms to regional system plans, is consistent with regional 
policies, and is compatible with the plans of adjacent and affected jurisdictions.  

Conformance with Regional Systems 
The Council reviews Plans to determine conformance with metropolitan system plans. The Council 
has reviewed the City’s Plan and finds that it conforms to the Council’s regional system plans for 
Regional Parks, Transportation (including Aviation,) and Water Resources.  

Regional Parks and Trails  
Reviewer: Colin Kelly, Community Development (CD) - Regional Parks (651-602-1361) 
The Plan conforms to the 2040 Regional Parks Policy Plan (RPPP) for the Regional Parks System 
element. Three Rivers Park District is the Park implementing agency for the Regional Parks 
System components in Independence, for which the Plan accurately describes the Regional Parks 
System components.  

Regional Parks, Park Reserves, or Special Recreation Features located within the City include 
Lake Sarah Regional Park and Lake Rebecca Park Reserve (Figure 1). Regional Trails located 
within the City include the Baker-Carver Regional Trail (previously known as the Minnetrista 
Regional Trail and Minnetrista Extension Regional Trail Search Corridor) and the Lake Sarah 
Regional Trail Search Corridor. The City also appropriately acknowledges State lands within the 
community, including the Luce Line State Trail and Robina Lake Wildlife Management Area 
(Minnesota Department of Natural Resources). 

Regional Transportation, Transit, and Aviation 
Reviewer: Joseph Widing, Metropolitan Transportation Services (MTS) (651-602-1822) 
The Plan conforms to the 2040 Transportation Policy Plan (TPP) adopted in 2015 and amended in 
2021. It accurately reflects transportation system components of the TPP. It is also consistent with 
Council policies regarding community roles, the needs of non-automobile transportation, access to 
job concentrations, and the needs of freight.  

Roadways 
The Plan conforms to the Roadways system element of the TPP. The Plan accurately reflects that 
there is one principal arterial (US-12) within the City’s boundaries. The Plan also accurately 
reflects the regional functional classification map of A-minor arterials. 

The Plan identif ies all the required characteristics of the City’s roadways, including existing and 
future functional class, right-of-way preservation needs, and existing and forecasted traffic volumes 
for Principal and A-minor arterials. Forecasting was done consistent with regional methodology. 
The Plan also includes guidelines on how access will be managed for Principal and A-minor 
arterials.   

Transit 
The Plan conforms to the Transit element of the TPP. The Plan acknowledges the City is within 
Transit Market Area V. The Plan is consistent with the policies of the Transit system element of the 
TPP. The Plan addresses community roles related to its Community Designations.  

Aviation 
The Plan conforms to the Aviation system element of the TPP. There is no airport in the regional 
aviation system located near Independence. The Plan notes bodies of water which are permitted 



7 

 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

for seaplane operations and a private grass runway airport is located within City limits. The Plan 
includes policies that protect regional airspace from obstructions.       

Bicycling and Walking 
The Plan is consistent with the Bicycling and Pedestrian chapter of the TPP. The Plan identif ies 
existing or planned regional trails and acknowledges the Regional Bicycle Transportation Network 
(RBTN). There are no RBTN corridors/alignments within the City boundaries.   

Freight 
The Plan is consistent with Freight policies of the TPP. The Plan identif ies the two railroads (CP 
and BNSF) and US-12 as the primary freight movement routes. No regional freight issues were 
identif ied in Independence.  

Transportation Analysis Zones (TAZs) 
The Plan conforms to the TPP regarding TAZ allocations. The City’s TAZ allocations for 
employment, households, and population appropriately sum to the Metropolitan Council’s citywide 
forecast totals for all forecast years. 

The City’s planned land uses and areas identif ied for development can accommodate the TAZ 
forecasted allocations in the Plan, and at densities consistent with the City’s Community 
Designations and applicable TPP policies. 

Water Resources 
Wastewater Services 
Reviewer: Kyle Colvin, Environmental Services (ES) – Wastewater Planning and Community 
Programs (651-602-1151) 
The Plan conforms to the 2040 Water Resources Policy Plan (WRPP). It represents the City’s 
guide for future growth and development through the year 2040. It includes growth forecasts that 
are consistent with the Council’s accepted forecasts for population, households, and employment.  

Current wastewater treatment services are provided to the City by the Metropolitan Council 
Environmental Services (MCES). Wastewater generated within the city is conveyed to and treated 
at the Metropolitan Council’s Blue Lake Wastewater Treatment Plant located in Shakopee. The 
City is provided direct wastewater conveyance service through an inter -community agreement with 
the City of Medina. Ultimately, the City is served through MCES lift station L63 and interceptor 
8352. The Plan reflects that the City will have 567 sewered households and 200 sewered 
employees by 2040. The Metropolitan Disposal System with its scheduled improvements has or 
will have adequate capacity to serve the City’s growth forecasts.  

The Plan provides sanitary flow projections in 10-year increments. The rationale for the average 
day flow projections was provided in the Plan and appears to be appropriate for planning local 
service needs. The Metropolitan Council is committing to providing the level of wastewater service 
based on the sewered forecasts as stated in Table 26 “Population, Household and Employment 
Forecasts” of the Plan. The Plan also offers a “Preferred Population, Household and Employment 
Forecasts” in Table 26-A that reflects greater household forecasts than those in Table 26. 
However, prior to the Council providing service beyond those forecasts listed in Table 26, the City 
would first need to amend their Plan revising the sewered forecast and receive Council 
authorization for any forecast changes. 

The Land Use Plan reflects an overall minimum residential sewered density that is consistent with 
Council policy for future sewered residential growth for Emerging Suburban Edge communities. 

The Plan defines the community’s policies, and strategies for preventing and reducing excessive 
inflow and infiltration (I/I) in the local municipal (City), and private property sanitary sewer collection 
systems. The Plan states that the City performed internal home inspections for cross connections 
of floor drains and sump pump connections to the sanitary sewer system at the time the sewer 
system was built in 1985 and 1995. The Plan also states that the City continues to correct many 
system sources of I/I through maintenance structure adjustments, and system repair. The City has 
recently purchased a pipeline televising camera to perform system inspections to identify and 



8 

 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

mitigate I/I sources. The Plan also states that the City invests about $9,000 annually for sanitary 
sewer inspections and I/I monitoring. The Plan states that the City is currently developing a more 
formal Capital Improvement Plan. 

The Plan describes the requirements and standards for minimizing I/I and references Section 
710.15, Subd 2, of the City’s Code that prohibits the discharge either directly or indirectly of any 
stormwater, groundwater, roof runoff, subsurface drainage, waste from on-site disposal systems, 
unpolluted cooling or processing water to any sanitary sewer except as permitted by the City. 
Neither the Plan nor the Ordinance stated that the City would require the disconnection of 
prohibited discharges upon discovery. 

The Plan describes the sources, extent, and significance of existing I/I within the entire wastewater 
collection system. The Plan states that the City’s entire sanitary sewer system was built after 1985 
and that at the time of its construction all private services were replaced. The City’s collection 
system includes a network of 33 individual lift stations comprised of individual property lifts and 
municipal facilities serving larger areas of the city. Using runtime data, an analysis was performed 
and determined that I/I within the city can range anywhere between 8% and 90%. Due to the 
nature of how the municipal wastewater collection system is configured, there are no flow metering 
facilities where I/I can be better quantif ied. 

Comprehensive Sewer Element Comments 
The Sewer Element of the Plan has been reviewed against the requirements for Comprehensive 
Sewer Plans for Emerging Suburban Edge, Diversified Rural, and Agricultural communities. It was 
found to be complete and consistent with Council polices. Upon adoption of the Plan by the City, 
the action of the Council to approve the Sewer Plan becomes effective. At that time, the City may 
implement its Plan to alter, expand, or improve its sewage disposal system consistent with the 
approved Sewer Plan. A copy of the City Council Resolution adopting its Plan needs to be 
submitted to the Metropolitan Council for its records. 

Advisory Comments 

• The Plan identif ies the need for a future improvement to serve new development areas south of 
Maple Plain via L63. This improvement would be a regional interceptor connecting to L63 and 
extending to a yet to be determined location near the City boundary limits at Willow Street and 
County Road 19 North. Some of the areas to be served through this future improvement are timed 
within the 2020-2030 staging plan (Figure 6). For this interceptor to be built to accommodate the 
projected development needs, coordination between the Council and the City will need to occur so 
that it can be planned, designed, and constructed. This may require the need for the City and 
Council to enter into a cooperative construction agreement whereby the City builds the facility, and 
the Council reimburses it for the associated regional costs. 

• The Plan offers a “Preferred Population, Household and Employment Forecasts” in Table 26 -A that 
reflects greater household forecasts than those in Table 26 which reflects those which are the basis 
of the Council’s approval. However, prior to the Council providing service beyond those forecasts 
listed in Table 26, the City would first need to amend their Plan revising the sewered forecast.  

• The Plan identifies an “Urban Commercial” area located adjacent to the City of Delano, and states 
that the preferred alternative for wastewater service would be to enter into a joint powers service 
agreement whereby services would be provided by Delano. If an agreement is entered into with 
Delano, the City of Independence will need to submit that agreement as an amendment to their 
comprehensive sewer plan. 

• Local ordinance 71515 prohibits connections of sump pumps and foundation drains to the sanitary 
sewer system; however, it doesn’t appear to require their disconnection if discovered. The Council 
recommends that the City revise its ordinance to require the disconnection of these prohibited 
discharges upon discovery. 
 

Surface Water Management 
Reviewer: Maureen Hoffman, ES – Water Resources (651-602-8026) 
The Plan is consistent with Council policy requirements and in conformance with the WRPP for 
local surface water management. The City lies within the oversight boundaries of the Pioneer 



9 

 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

Sarah Creek Watershed Management Commission and the Minnehaha Creek Watershed 
District. The City submitted a draft Local Water Management Plan (LWMP) update in 
2019. Metropolitan Council Water Resources staff reviewed and commented on the draft LWMP to 
the City and Watershed Management Organizations on March 20, 2019. The LWMP was approved 
by the Minnehaha Creek Watershed District on October 10, 2019. The Plan includes the LWMP in 
Appendix A.   

Advisory Comments 
The City needs to provide the date that the Pioneer Sarah Creek Watershed Management 
Commission approved the LWMP.  

Consistency with Council Policies 
The Council reviews Plans to evaluate their apparent consistency with the adopted plans of the 
Council. Council staff have reviewed the City’s Plan and find that it is consistent with the Council’s 
policies, as detailed below. 

Forecasts 
Reviewer: Todd Graham, CD – Research (651-602-1322) 

The Plan, with supplemental information received May 2023, includes Metropolitan Council’s 
system statement forecast (Plan Tables 3 and 9). For reference, the forecast remains:  

Table 1. Metropolitan Council City of Independence Forecasts 

 Census 
2020 

System Statement Forecasts  

2020 2030 2040 
Population 3,755 3,830 4,040 4,290 

Households 1,288 1,400 1,560 1,700 
Employment 697 680 740 770 

The City comments that “the projected forecast for 2040… reduced the approved 2030 
Comprehensive Plan forecast from 593 to 300 [sic] households [growth] which represents an 
approximate 50% decrease in projected growth.” (page 3.19)  Council staff f ind that development of 
Independence has lagged previous expectations. Council staff have recommended that 2020 
forecast (only the 2020 numbers) be aligned with 2020 Census counts.  

The City has included a sewer-serviced forecast (Plan Table 26) with minor adjustments to 
Metropolitan Council’s System Statement forecast. The City-requested revisions are highlighted 
below: 

Table 2. City of Independence Sewer-Serviced Forecasts (Blue Lake WWTP) 

  
System Statement Forecasts 

 
City Requested Forecasts 

 

2020 2020 2030 2020 2030 2040 
Population 570 1,020 1,080 693 1,083 1,356 

Households 210 390 430 238 358 488 

Employment 180 190 200 180 190 200 

With the revision of the sewer-serviced forecast, the 2021-2030 Affordable Housing Need for 
Independence is reduced to: 28 units at <=30% AMI, 21 units at 31-50% AMI; 5 units at 51-80% 
AMI; 54 affordable units total. Metropolitan Council will require that the City’s Final Plan reflect this 
recalculated Affordable Housing Need in Table 12.  

Metropolitan Council will revise the sewer-serviced forecast and Affordable Housing Need 
calculation with authorization of the Plan.  



10 

 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

Metropolitan Council requires 2020, 2030, and 2040 forecasts assigned to transportation analysis 
zones (TAZs), or portions of TAZs within the City boundaries. In supplemental information received 
May 22, 2023, the City Planner has provided an Excel worksheet. Metropolitan Council will requir e 
that the Final Plan’s transportation chapter include this as a table.  

Advisory Comments 
The re-calculated Affordable Housing Need, TAZ table, as well as all other items of supplemental 
information from the review process, must be included in the City’s Final Plan.  

Thrive MSP 2040 and Land Use 
Reviewer: Freya Thamman, CD – Local Planning Assistance (651-602-1750) 

The Plan is consistent with Thrive MSP 2040 (Thrive) and its land use policies. The Plan 
acknowledges the three Thrive community designations in the City. The western two-thirds of the 
City is designated as Agricultural, the eastern third as Diversified Rural, and areas near Maple 
Plain are designated as Emerging Suburban Edge (Figure 2).  

Most of the city is currently agricultural or undeveloped (approximately 71%) with some single-
family/low density residential (11%) areas, see Figure 4. The City has an abundance of natural 
resources including parks (7%) and lakes/water bodies (7%). Independence surrounds the City of 
Maple Plain on three sides, and Maple Plain acts as a local downtown for residents. The City’s 
vision includes retaining its rural character and preserving its agricultural lands and natural 
environment. The City’s Plan indicates that newly sewered areas, which are primarily adjacent to 
Maple Plain, are strategically guided to maintain a compact footprint.  

In general, the western two-thirds of Independence is guided agricultural at one unit per 40 acres 
on the future land use map and the eastern third rural residential at one unit per five acres, which 
is reflective of the City’s past comprehensive plans. The City’s 2040 Plan is similar to previously 
authorized plans for the agricultural and rural residential areas, as well as having small areas of 
regionally sewered residential development planned near Maple Plain. The City’s 2030 Plan 
planned for regionally sewered residential north of Maple Plan.  The 2040 Plan differs in that it has 
sewered residential land uses both north and south of Maple Plain, and includes a new area 
guided Lakeshore Estates, south of Lake Independence.  These updates would change the City’s 
community designation to Emerging Suburban Edge, as they are planned for regional wastewater 
services. The changes in the community designation are reflected in Figure 3. 

Agricultural  

The Plan is consistent with Thrive for land use policies for the Agricultural area. Agricultural areas 
have prime agricultural soils that are planned for long-term agricultural use. Agricultural areas are 
expected to limit residential development and maintain residential densities at no greater than one 
housing unit per 40 acres.  

The Plan guides the western two-thirds of the city as Agricultural at one unit per 40 acres (Figure 
5).  The Plan states one rural view lot, in addition to an original homestead, may be created for 
each 40 acres. Rural view lots have been included in the City’s previous comprehensive plans. 
Rural view lots must be between 2.5 and ten acres; able to accommodate two on-site waste 
disposal systems; and buildable land must be contiguous and not separated by streams, wetlands, 
or slopes in excess of 10%. As the Council updates its system plans, the Long-term Sewer Service 
Area (LTSSA) will be examined. If portions of the Agricultural area are included in the future 
LTSSA, the rural view lots in the agricultural area would not preclude future regional wastewater 
service. This part of the city includes an area guided urban commercial near the City ’s border with 
Delano.  As discussed in the wastewater section, a future amendment to the City’s Tier II would be 
required if wastewater service were to be provided through an agreement with the City of Delano.  

Agricultural Preserves 
The City’s Plan indicates that local farming is an extremely valuable asset to the community. Most 
of the City is guided agricultural and planned for long-term agricultural use. The Plan identif ies 
areas that are currently enrolled in the Metropolitan Agricultural Preserves Program on the future 



11 

 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

land use map and limits density of rural development for parcels enrolled in the Program (Figure 
4). Parcels enrolled in the Program must reflect an agricultural designation in the future land use 
with a maximum density of 1 unit per 40 acres, as required by state law (Minn. Stat. § 473H), until 
they expire out of the program. The Plan is consistent with statutory requirements for properties 
enrolled in the Program.  

Diversified Rural  

The City’s Plan is generally consistent with Thrive policies for the areas within the Diversified Rural 
community designation. Diversified Rural areas are home to a variety of farm and non-farmland 
uses including large-lot residential, clustered housing, hobby farms and agricultural uses. 
Diversified Rural areas are expected to plan for growth not to exceed forecasts and in patterns that 
do not exceed 4 units per 40 acres. Diversified Rural communities are expected to manage land 
uses to prevent the premature demand for extension of urban services, and so that existing service 
levels will meet service needs. 

The City’s past comprehensive plans have guided the eastern part of the City as rural residential, 
at density of one unit per five acres. The City’s 2040 Plan did not expand the area that is guided 
rural residential area. It remains the same as the City’s 2030 Plan. The Plan indicates that the 
City’s agricultural and rural residential areas together would have an overall density of one unit per 
10 acres through 2040. The Plan states the rural residential area preserves its open, scenic, and 
natural ecological characteristics. The Plan discusses clustering of homes on no less than 2 -1/2 
acre lots, but with open space and scenic viewshed components. It also discusses the Council’s 
f lexible residential development tools to preserve land for post-2040 growth and in locations with 
natural resource areas. The Plan indicates that the City has sought funding to reduce on -site 
sanitary sewers near its lakes, developed cluster development subdivision standards to promote 
the preservation of open space, established large infiltration areas, and worked to reduce nutrient 
run-off into local water resources. The Plan indicates that lots with individual septic treatment 
systems that are not in compliance with current state and local requirements will be encouraged to 
connect to an approved community sewage treatment system and would be required to follow the 
Metropolitan Council’s revised Metropolitan Urban Service Area (MUSA) Guidelines.  

Emerging Suburban Edge 

The City’s Plan is consistent with Thrive policies for areas within the Emerging Suburban Edge 
community designation. Emerging Suburban Edge areas are in the early stages of transitioning 
into urbanized levels of development. These areas are expected to plan for overall net residential 
densities at least 3-5 units per acre for new development.   

Residential land uses within the planning period include approximately 37 net acres of Lakeshore 
Estates, 124 net acres of Low Density Residential, 40 net acres of Medium Density Residential 
and 5 net acres of High Density Residential. These areas are generally adjacent to the City of 
Maple Plain. In addition, there are eleven existing rural residential lots that anticipate connecting to 
the regional wastewater system, which have been included in the City’s density calculation. The 
Plan includes a development staging map (Figure 6) and indicates that development shall be in 
accordance with the location, phasing, and densities prescribed within this Plan for each land use 
type designated. The City has narrow ranges for minimum and maximum allowed densities and 
gaps between residential density ranges and is aware that this could result in the need for 
additional future comprehensive amendments. The Plan indicates that City will limit growth to the 
Metropolitan Council growth forecasts (as shown in the forecast section). If forecasts are 
exceeded, as reviewed through potential future land use changes and/or annual estimates, a 
comprehensive plan amendment would be required.  

The Plan is consistent with Thrive for land use and residential density policies for areas within the 
revised Emerging Suburban Edge community designation. As shown in Table 3 below, the overall 
density of development during the planning period is 3.0 – 3.5 units per acre.   

 



12 

 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

 

Table 3. Planned Residential Density, City of Independence  

 2023-2040 Change 

 Density   

Category Min Max 
Net 

Acres Min Units Max Units 

Lakeshore Estates 0.75 0.75 37 28 28 
Low Density Residential  2.7 2.7 124 335 335 
Medium Density Residential  3.5 3.8 40 140 152 
High Density Residential  30 50 5 150 250 
Existing Rural Residential*   18.4 11 11 

 TOTALS 224.4 664 755 
  Overall Density 3.0 3.5 

* Supplemental information May 19, 2023.  
 

Advisory Comments 

• When parcels in the Agricultural Preserve Program expire, a comprehensive plan amendment 
will be required.  

• The City’s overall net residential density is at three units per acres, which is consistent with 
Council policy. However, any change that would reduce the overall net residential density would 
require land to be guided at a higher density to remain in conformance with regional system 
plans and Council policies, and a comprehensive plan amendment will be required.  
 

Housing 
Reviewer: Hilary Lovelace, CD – Housing (651-602-1555) 
The Plan is consistent with the Housing Policy Plan (HPP). As of 2016, the City has more than 
1,350 homes all of which are single family homes. Approximately 50 homes are rented. More than 
110 housing units are currently affordable to households earning under 80% of Area Median 
Income (AMI); however, nearly 400 households earning 80% of AMI or below are paying more 
than 30% of their income toward housing costs. There are about 220 units affordable to 
households with income at or below 30% AMI and more than 110 cost burdened households with 
incomes at or below 30% AMI.  

The Plan identif ies existing housing needs including maintenance and reinvestment in existing 
housing stock, affordable housing, and ensuring the availability of lif ecycle housing. The City does 
not currently have any publicly subsidized housing.  

The City’s 2021-2030 affordable housing need allocation is 54 units; 28 of which are needed at 
prices affordable to households earning 30% of AMI or less, 21 of which are needed at prices 
affordable to households earning between 31 and 50% of AMI, and 5 of which are needed at 
prices affordable to households earning between 51 and 80% of AMI. As shown in Figure 7, the 
Plan guides sufficient land expected to develop in the 2021-2030 time period at a minimum of 30 
units per acre with one land use to allow for development of at least 153 new housing units.  

The housing implementation plan component of the Plan describes that the City will consider tax 
abatement, landlord education through partnerships, using HOME funds in partnership with 
Hennepin County, and planned unit developments (PUD) to support development and 
rehabilitation of affordable housing below 80% AMI. The Plan also indicates that the City is unlikely 
to consider tax increment financing, housing bonds, or Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) funds. The City states that they will keep their accessory dwelling unit ordinance in place 
and consider working with stakeholders to create a policy to incorporate the needs of aging 
households into development decisions. 



13 

 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

Advisory Comments 
As indicated in the forecast section of the staff report, the City’s Final Plan needs to include the 
revised affordable housing need number.   

Water Supply 
Reviewer: John Clark, ES – Water Supply Planning (651-602-1803) 
The Plan is consistent with 2040 WRPP policies related to water supply, including the policy on 
sustainable water supplies, the policy on assessing and protecting regional water resources, and 
the policy on water conservation and reuse. The City relies primarily on private wells and does not 
own/operate a municipal community public water supply system. Therefore, no local water supply 
plan is required. However, the updated local comprehensive plan should, and does, include 
information about water sources, including plans to protect private water supplies, in appropriate 
sections of the Plan. 

Advisory Comments 
The City could consider additional policies or strategies that help to conserve and protect drinking 
water resources. The City’s manure reduction policy is one such policy. Other polic ies and/or 
strategies to consider that help to protect and sustain water resources could involve installing 
smart irrigation controllers for any public properties, working with watershed districts and the 
Minnesota Department of Agriculture to encourage fertilizer reduction strategies and best 
management practices, and helping to educate residents and businesses around efficient water 
use, water contamination, and the Minnesota Department of Health wellhead protection 
recommendations for private wells. 

Community and Subsurface Sewage Treatment Systems (SSTS) 
Reviewer: Kyle Colvin, ES – Engineering Programs (651-602-1151) 
The Plan is consistent with 2040 WRPP for Community and Subsurface Sewage Treatment 
Systems. The Plan indicates that there are approximately 1,162 residential SSTS within the city. 
There is also one Communal Subsurface Sewer Treatment system that provides service to a 
restaurant, an apartment, and one single family home. The Plan states that the City is responsible 
for the SSTS management program within the City and tracks all on-going maintenance, system 
information and notif ication activities. The Plan states that through these activities a compliance 
with Minnesota Pollution Control Agency Chapter 7080-7083 Rules can be determined.  

Special Resource Protection 

Solar Access Protection 
Reviewer: Freya Thamman, CD – Local Planning Assistance (651-602-1750) 
The Plan is consistent with statutory requirements (Minn. Stat. 473.859) and Council policy 
regarding planning for the protection and development of access to direct sunlight for solar energy 
systems as required by the Metropolitan Land Planning Act (MLPA). The Plan includes the 
required solar planning elements. The City identif ies minimum lot sizes, open space, yard 
setbacks, and maximum building heights to protect access to direct sunlight.  
 

Aggregate Resource Protection 
Reviewer: Freya Thamman, CD – Local Planning Assistance (651-602-1750) 
The Plan is consistent with the Minnesota Geological Survey Information Circular  for aggregate 
resources. There are no viable aggregate resources or ongoing mining operations within the city.  

Historic Preservation 
Reviewer: Freya Thamman, CD – Local Planning Assistance (651-602-1750) 
The Plan addresses historic and cultural resources as required by the MLPA. The Plan includes an 
historic preservation section and considers establishing a local heritage preservation commission 
to advance preservation efforts for locally historically significant buildings or sites.   

Plan Implementation 
Reviewer: Freya Thamman, CD – Local Planning Assistance (651-602-1750) 
The Plan includes a description of the zoning, subdivision, SSTS codes, and the housing 



14 

 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

implementation program. The Plan describes official controls and fiscal devices the City will 
employ to implement the Plan and includes a capital improvement plan. Specific implementation 
strategies are contained in individual chapters of the Plan. 

Compatibility with Plans of Adjacent Governmental Units and Plans of 
Affected Special Districts and School Districts 
The Plan is compatible with the plans of adjacent jurisdictions. No compatibility issues with plans of 
adjacent governmental units and plans of affected special districts and school districts were 
identif ied.  

As part of the City’s 2040 Plan resubmittal on January 19, 2023, the City included a new residential 
land use category, Lakeshore Estates. The Lakeshore Estates area is located immediately 
adjacent to the City of Medina and wastewater to this area would be served through a Quad -City 
Agreement with Medina. Medina was notif ied of adjacent community review on January 27, 2023. 
The associated Quad City Agreement was approved for amendment by Medina on April 4, 2023.  

Documents Submitted for Review 
In response to the 2015 System Statement, the City submitted the following documents for review: 

• December 14, 2021: Independence 2040 Comprehensive Plan 

• January 19, 2022: Resubmittal of Independence 2040 Comprehensive Plan  
• January 31, 2023: Resolution of Bridgevine Subdivision 

• February 21, 2023: Land use maps, SSTS ordinance, updated wastewater tables  

• March 14, 2023: Land use chapter 
• April 3, 2023:  GIS mapping updates  

• April 7, 2023:  Land use maps and I/I information 

• April 24, 2023: Revised water resources chapter 

• May 11, 2023: Updated submittal chapters and amended Quad-City agreement 
• May 19, 2023: Wastewater section revisions and Figure 10 update 

• May 24, 2023: Revised land use maps and TAZ information 
 

Attachments 
Figure 1: Location Map with Regional Systems 
Figure 2:  Thrive MSP 2040 Community Designations 
Figure 3: Revised Thrive MSP 2040 Community Designations 
Figure 4: Existing Land Use  
Figure 5:  2040 Planned Land Use  
Figure 6: Development Staging Map  
Figure 7: Land Guided for Affordable Housing  

  



15 

 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

Figure 1. Location Map with Regional Systems 
 

  



16 

 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

Figure 2. Thrive MSP 2040 Community Designations 

 

  



17 

 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

Figure 3. Revised Thrive MSP 2040 Community Designations 

 
  



18 

 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

Figure 4. Existing Land Use  
 

 



19 

 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

Figure 5. 2040 Planned Land Use  
 

 



20 

 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

Figure 6. Development Staging Map  
 

 



21 

 

M
e

t
r
o

p
o

lit
a

n
 

C
o

u
n

c
il  

Figure 7. Land Guided for Affordable Housing  

 

 

 



	

__________________________________________________________________________ 
763-479-0527 (Phone)                               1920 County Road 90                                   763-479-0528 (Fax) 

Independence, MN 55359 
www.ci.independence.mn.us 

	

 
September 19, 2023 
 
 
Phil Kern, City Administrator  
City of Delano 
234 2nd Street North 
PO Box 108 
Delano, MN   55328 
 

RE: City of Independence Intent to Not Renew Fire Services Contract 
 
Dear Phil, 
 
The City of Independence has been served by the City of Delano Fire Department since 1995 
under the current Contract for Fire Protection.  The City of Independence has greatly valued the 
services provided by the City of Delano Fire Department during the term of the contract.  
Independence has recently been exploring making modifications to its fire services to continue 
providing the highest level of fire services to its residents for the most efficient value.  The City 
has an ownership interest in a portion of the Maple Plain Fire Department which provides 
services to the majority of Independence.  In addition, the recent establishment of the West 
Suburban Fire District has caused for additional considerations relating to fire services. 
 
In accordance with paragraph 3f of the Contract for Fire Services, the City of Independence is 
writing to inform the City of Delano that it will not renew the contract effective January 1, 2024.   
 
Should you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at 763.479.0044. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 
City of Independence 
 
 

 
CC:  Marvin Johnson, Mayor – City of Independence 

Robert Vose, City Attorney 
 



 

763.479.0527                                                  1920 County Road 90                                          Fax: 763.479.0528 
                                                                       Independence, MN 55359 
                                                                    www.ci.independence.mn.us 

RESOLUTION OF THE  
CITY OF INDEPENDENCE 

HENNEPIN COUNTY, MINNESOTA 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 23-0919-04 

 
 

A RESOLUTION NOMINATING SHERRY WHITE TO BE REAPPOINTED TO 
ANOTHER TERM OF SERVICE ON THE BOARD OF MANAGERS OF THE 

MINNEHAHA CREEK WATERSHED DISTRICT 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Sherry White has served on the Minnehaha Creek Watershed District Board 
of Managers for many years, including in the role of Board President, and has promoted a strong 
working relationship with the City of Independence and other community partners while bring 
clarity and focus to the watershed district’s mission driven work; and 
 

WHEREAS, Minnesota Statutes Section 103D.311, Subdivision 3 provides that 
watershed managers in the metropolitan area may be nominated jointly or severally by towns and 
municipalities in the watershed district; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Independence City Council believes that it is in the best interests of the 

city and the watershed for Sherry White to be reappointed to another term of service; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of Independence hereby 
nominates Sherry White for reappointment to the Board of Managers of the Minnehaha Creek 
Watershed District.  
 

This resolution was adopted by the City Council of the City of Independence on 
this 19th day of September 2023, by a vote of  ayes and  nays. 

 
 
 

Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 

      
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 


	August 2023 - Monthly Activity Report.pdf
	Lett to coun
	Monthly Report August
	Part 1&2
	Three year
	DIRECTORS NEWS AND NOTES - AUG 2023

	1. Windsong Set 6-29.pdf
	A-1
	A-2
	A-3
	A-4
	A-4.1
	A-5
	A-8
	A-9
	A-10
	A-11
	A-12
	A-16
	A-17
	A-18
	A-22
	A-24
	A-25
	A-28




